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Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
 
This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” section, contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the “safe
harbor” provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 with respect to our business, financial condition, liquidity and results of operations. Words such as “anticipates,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,”
“predicts,” “believes,” “seeks,” “estimates,” “could,” “would,” “will,” “may,” “can,” “continue,” “potential,” “should,” and the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology often identify forward-looking
statements. Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K that are not historical facts are hereby identified as “forward-looking statements” for the purpose of the safe harbor provided by Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. These forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks and uncertainties that
could cause actual results to differ materially from the results contemplated by the forward-looking statements, including the risks discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K in Item 1A under “Risk Factors” as well as
in Item 7A “Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures About Market Risk”.  These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements about:

the progress and results of our research and development programs;
our estimates regarding sufficiency of our cash resources, anticipated capital requirements and our need for additional financing;
the results and timing of our clinical trials and the commencement of future clinical trials; and
submission and timing of applications for regulatory approval.

Many of the important factors that will determine these results are beyond our ability to control or predict. You are cautioned not to put undue reliance on any forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, which speak only as of the date of this report.  Except as otherwise required by law, we do not assume any obligation to publicly update or release any revisions to these forward-looking statements to reflect
events or circumstances after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.

Delcath® is a registered trademark of Delcath Systems, Inc. and The Delcath PHP System™ is a trademark of Delcath Systems, Inc. All rights reserved.

Item 1.    Business

Unless the context otherwise requires, all references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to the “Company”, “Delcath”, “Delcath Systems”,”we”, “our”, and “us” refers to Delcath Systems, Inc., a Delaware corporation,
incorporated in August 1988. Our corporate offices are located at 600 Fifth Avenue, 23rd Floor, New York, New York 10020. Our telephone number is (212) 489-2100.

Our common stock is listed on The NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol “DCTH.”

General Development of Business
 
Overview
We are a development stage company that has developed an innovative system designed to administer high dose chemotherapy and other therapeutic agents to diseased organs or regions of the body. Since our inception we
have focused our efforts on the development of a single product, the Delcath Percutaneous Hepatic Perfusion System, or (the Delcath PHP System), which provides regional therapy by isolating the circulatory system of the
liver in order to directly deliver high doses of therapeutic agents, while controlling the systemic exposure of those agents.  The Delcath PHP System is minimally invasive and repeatable. We believe that the Delcath PHP
System is a platform technology that may have broader applicability to other organs and body regions.  In our initial application, the Delcath PHP System isolates the liver from the patient’s general circulatory system in
order to deliver high doses of melphalan hydrochloride, an approved chemotherapeutic drug, directly to the liver. We are currently conducting a Phase III trial and a multi-arm Phase II trial of the Delcath PHP System with
melphalan in patients with liver cancers. The Phase III and Phase II clinical trials are subject to the terms and conditions of a Cooperative Research and Development Agreement, the CRADA, between us and the National
Cancer Institute, or NCI. The Delcath PHP System is not currently approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA), and it cannot be marketed in the United States without prior FDA approval.

Our most advanced trial is a randomized Phase III multi-center study led by the NCI for patients with metastatic ocular and cutaneous melanoma in the liver. The FDA has granted the Delcath PHP System with melphalan
Fast Track designation for the treatment of hepatic tumors secondary to melanoma. We have also been granted four orphan drug designations, including for the drug melphalan for the treatment of patients with ocular and
cutaneous melanoma.
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We began enrollment of our Phase III clinical trial in 2006 to support the FDA approval process for the Delcath PHP System. As of October 20, 2009, we enrolled all of the 92 patients called for under a Special Protocol
Assessment, or SPA, granted by the FDA.  We expect to submit our application to the FDA by mid-2010 for the treatment of hepatic tumors secondary to melanoma with the Delcath PHP System. The FDA regulates the
Delcath PHP System as a combination product: the combination of a medical device and a drug.  Before we can market the Delcath PHP System, we must obtain FDA approval of the drug and device under a
Section 505(b)(2) new drug application, or NDA.

We are also conducting a separate Phase II clinical trial of the Delcath PHP System with melphalan in patients with primary and metastatic hepatic malignancies (liver cancer), stratified into four arms: neuroendocrine
tumors (carcinoid and islet cell tumors), hepatocellular carcinoma (primary liver cancer), ocular or cutaneous melanoma (eye or skin cancer who have been previously treated with regional therapy using melphalan), and
metastatic adenocarcinoma (glandular cancer). In the future, we plan to conduct preclinical and clinical trials to treat liver cancer using the Delcath PHP System with chemotherapy agents other than melphalan.

Since our inception, we have raised approximately $88.1 million in aggregate funds (net of expenses).We have used approximately $39.0 million of those funds for research and development costs associated with
development and testing of the Delcath PHP System, and have cumulative net losses of approximately $67.9 million. Since 2006 we have accelerated our investment in and expanded the scope of our clinical trials.

In 2009, we re-focused our management team and appointed a new Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Medical Officer. For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, we invested $9.6
million, $5.4 million, and $4.2 million respectively on research and development activities.

Strategy
We are seeking to establish the Delcath PHP System as the standard regional therapy technique for treating liver cancers and to further develop the Delcath technology for use in the treatment of other liver diseases as well
as in other organs or regions of the body. Our strategy includes the following elements:

Complete our Phase III clinical trial and obtain FDA approval for use of the Delcath PHP System in combination with melphalan to treat metastatic melanoma in the liver.  As of October 2009, we enrolled all 92
patients called for under the SPA granted by the FDA. Our highest priority is completing the related data preparation, statistical analysis and filing of necessary regulatory documents associated with obtaining FDA
approval for the commercial sale of the Delcath PHP System in the United States for the treatment of melanoma that has spread to the liver.
Establish strategic alliances to introduce the Delcath PHP System into non-U.S. markets. Our strategy addresses non-U.S. markets, including Asia and Europe, that have both a high incidence of liver disease and the
public or private means to provide and pay for treatment with our technology. We have begun the process of seeking the CE mark approval to market the Delcath PHP System in the European Economic Area, or
EEA, and hope to receive approval in the second half of 2010. We also are establishing strategic relationships with domestic and foreign firms that have an established presence or experience in certain foreign
markets.
Obtain approval to market the Delcath PHP System in the United States for the treatment of other cancers in addition to metastatic melanoma in the liver. We are currently conducting a multi-arm Phase II trial to
evaluate the Delcath PHP System for the treatment of other cancers of the liver, such as primary liver cancer, tumors of neuroendocrine and adenocarcinoma origin that have spread to the liver, as well as melanomas
in the liver that received certain prior regional treatment with melphalan.
Develop United States sales force and marketing team. We intend to market the Delcath PHP System in the United States directly by focusing our initial marketing efforts on the over fifty NCI-designated cancer
centers in the United States, beginning with the hospitals participating in our Phase III clinical trial. We plan to focus our efforts on (i) surgeons who administer the Delcath PHP System; (ii) oncologists who have
primary responsibility for cancer patients; and (iii) interventional radiologists who are physicians specialized in working with catheter-based systems.
Test the Delcath PHP System with drugs other than melphalan for the treatment of cancers of the liver. In addition to testing melphalan, we have tested the drugs doxorubicin and 5-FU with the Delcath PHP System
in humans and we intend to evaluate other drug candidates for use with the Delcath PHP System to treat other tumors in the liver. We are currently developing filters with affinity to agents used in treatments for
these areas.
Investigate using anti-viral drugs with the Delcath PHP System. We believe that our technology may be compatible with other compounds, including anti-virals, to treat other diseases of the liver such as hepatitis.
Explore other regional therapy applications for the Delcath PHP System. We are evaluating the treatment of other organs and regions of the body that may be well suited for the use of our technology. Other organs
or body regions that may be evaluated for compatibility with our technology include kidneys, pancreas and lungs.
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The Cancer Treatment Market

Industry Background
According to the American Cancer Society, cancer remains the second leading cause of death in the United States, exceeded only by heart disease, with an estimated 562,000 deaths and 1.5 million new cases diagnosed in
2009. Cancer is also the second leading cause of death worldwide, accounting for approximately 7.6 million deaths and 12.0 million new cases diagnosed in 2007. The financial burden of cancer is great for patients, their
families and society. “Cancer Facts & Figures 2009” estimates the overall costs of cancer to be $228.1 billion during 2008 including $93.2 billion for direct medical costs, $18.8 billion for indirect
morbidity costs attributable to lost productivity due to illness and $116.1 billion for indirect mortality costs attributable to lost productivity due to premature death.

The Liver Cancer Market
There are two forms of liver cancer: primary and metastatic. Primary liver cancer, or hepatocellular carcinoma, originates in the liver and is particularly prevalent in populations where the primary risk factors for the disease
are present. These risk factors include: hepatitis-B, hepatitis-C, high levels of alcohol consumption, aflatoxin, cigarette smoking and exposure to industrial pollutants. Liver cancer is one of the most prevalent and lethal
forms of cancer. According to “Global Cancer Facts & Figures 2007” liver cancer is the third leading cause of cancer death in men and the sixth leading cause among women. In 2007, there were estimated to be 711,000
new liver cancer cases worldwide and 680,000 people worldwide were projected to die from liver cancer.

According to “Cancer Facts & Figures 2009,” the five-year survival rate for liver cancer patients is approximately 12%, compared to 66% for all forms of cancer combined. Metastatic, or secondary, liver cancer is
characterized by microscopic cancer cell clusters that detach from the primary site of disease and travel via the blood stream and lymphatic system into the liver, where they grow into new tumors. This growth often
continues even after removal of the primary cancer in another part of the body has occurred. Given the primary biological function of the liver, including filtering toxins from the blood, it is not uncommon for metastases to
settle in the liver and in many cases, patients die not as a result of their primary cancer, but from the tumors that metastasize in their liver. We believe that in the United States, metastatic liver cancer may be more prevalent
than primary liver cancer. Our most advanced trial is a study for patients with metastatic ocular and cutaneous melanoma in the liver. The incidence of cutaneous melanoma is approximately 55,100 cases per year, with 15%
to 20% of cases metastasizing in the liver.

The incidence of ocular melanoma is approximately 4,000 cases per year, with up to 90% of cases metastasizing to the liver. The preferred method to treat liver cancer, once detected, is surgical removal of the diseased
portion of the liver.  Frequently, symptoms of liver cancer do not appear until the liver tumors have spread broadly within the liver, making surgical resection impractical. As a consequence, less than 10% of primary and
metastatic liver tumors can be surgically removed. A significant number of patients who are surgically resected for primary or metastatic liver cancer will also experience a recurrence of their disease.

Current Liver Cancer Treatments

Limited effective treatment options are currently available for liver cancer, and they are generally associated with significant side effects and even death. Traditional treatment options include surgery, chemotherapy,
radiation therapy, thermal therapy and chemoembolization as well as cryosurgery, percutaneous ethanol injection, implanted infusion pumps, surgically isolated perfusion and liver transplant.

Resection
Surgical resection is considered the “gold standard” treatment option for liver tumors. However, approximately 90% of liver tumors are unresectable, which means they do not qualify for surgical removal. For the patients
who qualify for surgery, the procedure is highly invasive and can result in significant complications. Additionally, recurrence of tumors is common, and in that event, surgery typically cannot be repeated because the patient
cannot survive removal of additional liver tissue or the new tumor sites are too widespread. Resection is a limited solution for patients with liver cancer because it is not an option for many patients and it is not a repeatable
procedure.

Chemoembolization
Chemoembolization is a commonly used focal therapy that involves the injection of a chemotherapeutic drug in combination with an embolic material to block normal blood flow into tumors in the liver. Blocking blood
flow deprives the tumor of essential oxygen and nutrients and ultimately can kill the tumor. Although chemoembolization allows for focal delivery of chemotherapeutic drugs, the drugs cannot be delivered at an escalated
dosage level comparable to the levels at which they are delivered with the Delcath PHP System. Furthermore, the treatment is for specific tumors, not the entire region of the liver.

Chemotherapy
Systemic chemotherapy uses anti-cancer drugs that are injected into a vein or given by mouth to destroy cancer cells. The effectiveness of this treatment option often depends upon the dose of chemotherapeutic drug
administered. Generally, the higher the dosage of chemotherapy administered, the greater its ability to kill cancer cells. Due to the toxic side effects of chemotherapy agents, the higher the dosage administered, the greater
the damage caused to healthy tissues. The high doses of chemotherapy often required to kill cancer cells are highly toxic and may even be lethal to patients.
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Radiation Therapy
Radiation therapy uses high dose x-rays or the delivery of localized radiation to kill cancer cells. A number of localized radiation delivery mechanisms are currently being used and tested, and may demonstrate some
effectiveness against certain types of liver cancers. For example, in selective internal radiation therapy, also known as SIRT, tiny beads or microspheres that contain a radioactive isotope are administered through a catheter
in the liver where they lodge in small vessels in order to deliver radiation to the tumor. Radiation therapy using x-rays is rarely used for treating liver cancer due to toxicities that impact healthy tissue.

Thermal Therapies
Radio frequency ablation uses electric current to destroy cancerous cells. The procedure utilizes an ultrasound or CT scan to guide several needles into the abdomen through small incisions. The needles are heated with an
electric current that burns the tumor and destroys the cancerous cells. Microwave ablation is an experimental therapy similar to radio frequency ablation that uses microwaves instead of electrical current to destroy
cancerous cells. These procedures are focal treatments and only treat the tumor, not the tumorous region; therefore, they are generally available only to patients with a limited number of smaller unresectable tumors. 

Treatment with the Delcath PHP System

The Delcath PHP System is designed to address the critical shortcomings of traditional liver cancer treatments. The Delcath PHP System employs a minimally invasive, repeatable procedure that allows for a higher dose of
chemotherapeutic drugs by controlling the systemic exposure of such drugs.

The most advanced application for which the Delcath PHP System is being evaluated is treatment of metastatic melanoma in the liver. The Delcath PHP System isolates the liver from the patient’s general circulatory
system, allowing for the administration of high and concentrated doses of chemotherapeutic drugs directly to the isolated liver. The Delcath PHP System then captures and diverts the flow of blood exiting the liver, which
contains high doses of chemotherapeutic agents. The blood passes through filters located outside of the body that remove the majority of these high doses of chemotherapy from the blood before it is reintroduced to the
patient’s general circulatory system. The chemotherapeutic agent remaining in the bloodstream after filtration is a fraction of the infused drug, resulting in manageable toxicities.

Based on our clinical trial data, we believe that the Delcath PHP System allows for higher doses of the chemotherapy agent to be delivered to the liver than what would otherwise be possible through conventional
intravenous chemotherapy or chemoembolization. As a result, we believe the treatment kills a greater number of cancer cells and may lead to better clinical outcomes. In some cases, delivery of drugs with the Delcath PHP
System could potentially allow for the use of previously unavailable therapies.  Chemotherapy could also be administered through the Delcath PHP System after resection with the objective of destroying micro metastases
in the liver that may remain undetected, thus preventing or delaying any recurrence of tumor growth.

The side effects caused by the drug we use in our current clinical trials, melphalan, are similar to the side effects associated with delivery of the drug by traditional methods. However, because the Delcath PHP System
filters out the high doses of the drug, it controls the exposure of healthy tissue and organs to the effects of chemotherapeutic agents.

The Delcath PHP System kit includes the following disposable components manufactured for Delcath by third parties:

Infusion catheter—an arterial infusion catheter used to deliver chemotherapy to the liver.
Double balloon catheter—a multi-passageway catheter containing two low-pressure occlusion balloons which are positioned to isolate and capture the blood flow from the liver. The space between the balloons
contains holes that collect the drug-laden blood exiting the liver and divert it outside of the body through the catheter to the filtration circuit.
Filtration circuit outside the body—a blood tubing circuit containing disposable components used with a non-disposable blood pump which push the isolated blood through the Delcath PHP System’s filters and
deliver the filtered blood back to the patient.
Filters—two hemofiltration filters used to remove most of the chemotherapy agent from the isolated blood coming out of the liver before the blood is returned to the patient’s general circulatory system.
Return catheter—a thin-walled blood sheath used to deliver the filtered blood from the filtration circuit outside the body back into the patient’s general circulatory system.
Series of introducers and related accessories to properly place the catheters – The Delcath PHP System involves a series of three catheter insertions, each of which is made through standard interventional techniques.
In most cases to date, general anesthesia has been used. An infusion catheter is positioned in the artery that supplies blood to the liver. A second catheter—the Delcath double balloon catheter—is positioned in the
inferior vena cava, a major vessel leading back to the heart. A third catheter is placed in the patient’s jugular vein to return the filtered blood to the patient. The balloons on the double balloon catheter are then
inflated. This procedure prevents the normal flow of blood from the liver to the heart through the inferior vena cava because the inferior vena cava has been blocked. After isolation of the liver is confirmed, a
chemotherapy agent is infused into the liver through the infusion catheter. The drug-laden blood is prevented from flowing to the heart and instead is collected as it exits the liver through the double balloon catheter.
Blood flows through the double balloon catheter out of the body where it is pumped through two filters to remove most of the chemotherapy agent. The filtered blood is returned via the return catheter to the patient’s
general circulatory system through the jugular vein.
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In our clinical trials, chemotherapy infusion takes place over a period of thirty minutes. Filtration occurs during infusion and for an additional thirty minutes after the infusion is completed. After the sixty-minute filtration
period is complete, the catheters are removed and manual pressure is maintained on the catheter puncture sites. The entire procedure takes approximately two to three hours to administer. During our clinical trials, patients
typically remain in the hospital overnight for observation after undergoing treatment with the Delcath PHP System. An advantage of the Delcath PHP System is that the procedure is repeatable and in the current clinical
trials, a patient may undergo six treatments at approximately four to six week intervals. A new disposable Delcath PHP System kit is used for each treatment.

Our Clinical Trials

Our Phase III trial and our multi-arm Phase II trial of the Delcath PHP System with melphalan in patients with liver cancer are summarized in the chart below.  The Phase III and Phase II clinical trials are subject to the
terms and conditions of the Cooperative Research and Development Agreement, the CRADA, between us and the NCI. The Phase III trial is being conducted at centers throughout the United States, with separately
negotiated and agreed to grant agreements with each center. We have also received FDA approval to conduct a Phase III clinical trial of the Delcath PHP System with doxorubicin for patients suffering from primary liver
cancer. This trial will be randomized between the Delcath PHP System and sorafenib. We plan to seek one or more corporate partners to fund our efforts prior to commencing this trial.
 
 

 

 
* This Phase III trial has not commenced.
** Patients who previously received surgical isolated hepatic perfusion are ineligible for the Phase III melanoma trial.

Phase III—Melanoma Metastases Trial
Our most advanced trial is a randomized Phase III multi-center study for patients with unresectable metastatic ocular or cutaneous melanoma exclusively or predominantly in the liver. The primary endpoint of the study is
to determine hepatic progression free survival, which is the length of time a patient is both alive and free from any significant increase in the size of the tumor within the liver.

In the trial, patients are randomly assigned to receive treatments with melphalan using the Delcath PHP System, or to a control group providing best alternative care. Patients assigned to the Delcath PHP System may
receive up to six cycles of treatment at approximately four to six week intervals. Patients randomized to the non-Delcath PHP System arm are permitted to cross-over into the Delcath arm at documentation of hepatic
disease progression. To date, a majority of the control patients have been crossed over to the treatment arm. Secondary objectives of the study are to determine the response rate, safety and tolerability of treatments using the
Delcath PHP System in patients with cutaneous and ocular melanoma metastatic to the liver and the patterns of recurrence of patients treated with the Delcath PHP System for metastatic melanoma, and to determine the
overall survival in patients with hepatic metastases following treatment with standard treatments and after treatment with the Delcath PHP System.
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The FDA has granted the Delcath PHP System with melphalan Fast Track designation for the treatment of hepatic tumors secondary to melanoma. We have submitted our protocol for the Delcath PHP System with
melphalan to the FDA pursuant to a Special Protocol Assessment, or SPA. An SPA is an evaluation by the FDA of our protocol with the goal of reaching an agreement that the Phase III trial protocol design, clinical
endpoints, and statistical analyses are acceptable to support regulatory approval. We have received a letter from the FDA stating that the SPA we submitted to the FDA was acceptable. We began enrollment of our Phase III
clinical trial in 2006 to support the FDA approval process for the Delcath PHP System. As of October 20, 2009, we had enrolled all of the 92 patients called for under the SPA. We expect to submit our application to the
FDA by mid-2010 for the treatment of hepatic tumors secondary to melanoma with the Delcath PHP System.
 
Phase II Trial
We are also conducting a separate Phase II clinical trial of the Delcath PHP System with melphalan in patients with primary and metastatic hepatic malignancies (liver cancer), stratified into four arms: neuroendocrine
tumors (carcinoid and pancreatic islet cell), hepatocellular carcinoma (primary liver cancer), ocular or cutaneous melanoma (eye or skin cancer), and metastatic adenocarcinoma (glandular cancer). The primary objective of
this trial is to determine the response rate and duration of response to the administration of melphalan with the Delcath PHP System. Secondary objectives of this trial are to determine patterns of reoccurrence and the
disease free and survival rates following treatment using the Delcath PHP System, evaluate the safety and tolerability of treatment using the Delcath PHP System and assess filter
characteristics.

Phase I Trials
Melphalan Proof-of-Concept Studies. In 2004, we completed a multi-arm Phase I feasibility and dose escalation trial evaluating the safety and tolerability of melphalan delivered to the liver using the Delcath PHP System
in patients with primary and metastatic hepatic tumors. The primary objective of this study was to determine the maximum tolerated dose and potential dose-limiting toxicities of melphalan infusion to the liver using the
Delcath PHP System. In this trial, we determined that the delivery of melphalan using the Delcath PHP System was feasible, with limited and manageable toxicity. Specifically we observed a maximum tolerated dose and
dose-limiting toxicity of 3.0 mg/kg and 3.5 mg/kg, respectively. This dosing compares favorably to a 0.25 mg/kg standard label dose of melphalan delivered intravenously to the liver.

Delcath PHP System Safety Studies. Our early studies also included Phase I studies designed to demonstrate the safety of the Delcath PHP System and its ability to administer to and extract from the liver three different
approved and marketed chemotherapy agents, including melphalan.

Results. Our Phase I clinical trials demonstrated that the Delcath PHP System is capable of delivering ten times more of the chemotherapy agent to the treated region, and the effective concentration at the tumor site is
nearly 100 times greater than the traditional delivery methods. The Delcath PHP System also controls systemic toxicities by isolating the circulation of the organ or region from the patient’s circulatory system. This allows a
higher dose of chemotherapeutic agent to be used than the dose that would be safe to deliver intravenously. Our Phase I clinical trials, demonstrated that the Delcath PHP System is capable of extracting approximately 85%
of the chemotherapy agent administered to the liver, which reduces the exposure of healthy tissue and organs to the effects of these chemotherapeutic agents.
 
Strategic Alliances

We continue to actively pursue strategic partners to develop markets in China, Korea, Japan and Europe and from time to time are engaged in negotiations with potential partners. We are also pursuing United States
pharmaceutical partners to co-develop and fund additional indications for the Delcath PHP System.

Sales and Marketing

We plan to seek one or more corporate partners to market products outside the United States. We believe distribution or corporate partnering arrangements internationally will be cost effective, can be implemented more
quickly than a direct sales force and will enable us to capitalize on local marketing expertise in the countries we target.  We intend to market the Delcath PHP System in the United States ourselves focusing our initial
marketing efforts on the over fifty NCI-designated cancer centers in the United States, beginning with the hospitals participating in the Phase III clinical trial. We plan to focus our efforts on three distinct groups of medical
specialists in these comprehensive cancer centers:

surgeons who administer the Delcath PHP System;
oncologists who have primary responsibility for cancer patients; and
interventional radiologists who are physicians specialized in working with catheter-based systems.
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Subsequent to December 31, 2009, we entered into a research and distribution agreement with Chi-Fu Trading Co., Ltd., a Taiwanese company, to conduct clinical studies of the Delcath PHP System and, upon obtaining
approval of the Taiwan Food and Drug Administration (TFDA), to market, sell and distribute the Delcath PHP System in Taiwan and possibly Singapore for TFDA indications of use.

Third-Party Reimbursement

Because the Delcath PHP System is characterized by the FDA as an experimental drug/device combination product, it is not currently reimbursable in the United States. After it is approved by the FDA, we will seek to have
third-party payers, such as Medicare, Medicaid and private health insurance plans, reimburse the cost of the Delcath PHP System and the associated procedures. In the United States, third-party payors consist of
government programs, such as Medicare, private health insurance plans, managed care organizations and other similar programs. Three factors are key to the reimbursement of any product:

Coding, which ensures uniform descriptions of the procedures, diagnoses and medical products involved;
Coverage, which is the payor’s policy describing the clinical circumstances under which it will pay for a given treatment; and
Payment processes and amounts.

Outside of the United States, government managed health care systems and private insurance control reimbursement for procedures. Attractive reimbursement levels for hospitals and physicians can speed the rate at which
our technology is adopted as a standard of care for treating tumors in the liver. Currently there is no unique code for the Delcath PHP System. However, many of the component parts of the procedure, such as arterial
catheterization and vascular imaging, are currently reimbursable.

We have retained an expert in medical coding and reimbursement to assist us in developing a strategy to maximize reimbursement for the Delcath PHP System. We are compiling data comparing the Delcath PHP System
with alternative cancer treatments to prepare an analysis of the relative procedure costs and the expected therapeutic advantages of the Delcath PHP System to support our efforts to secure coding, coverage and
reimbursement.

Manufacturing

We plan to assemble, sterilize and package the Delcath PHP System kit at our facility in Queensbury, New York. We currently utilize contract manufacturers to manufacture the components of the Delcath PHP System. The
Delcath PHP System kit components must be manufactured and sterilized in accordance with approved manufacturing and pre-determined performance specifications. The catheters and catheter accessories contained
within the Delcath PHP System kit are being manufactured by AngioDynamics, Inc. and the OEM division of B. Braun Medical, Inc. Medtronic USA, Inc. manufactures the components of the blood filtration circuit,
including the medical tubing through which a patient’s blood flows and various connectors, as well as the blood filtration pump accessories. Bipore Medical Devices, Inc. manufactures the filters used with the Delcath PHP
System. Delcath is working with Bipore and other filter manufacturers to develop other specialized filters for use within the Delcath PHP System. Our suppliers’ manufacturing facilities are ISO 13485 certified and operate
under the auspices of FDA. Subsequent to December 31, 2009, we entered into a written supply agreement with B.Braun Medical, Inc. to supply us with double balloon catheters and double balloon catheter accessory
packs. We intend to pursue written agreements with other suppliers to manufacture the components of the Delcath PHP System for commercial sale.

Competition

The healthcare industry is characterized by extensive research, rapid technological progress and significant competition from numerous healthcare companies and academic institutions. Competition in the cancer treatment
industry is intense. We believe that the primary competitive factors for products addressing cancer include safety, efficacy, ease of use, reliability and price. We also believe that physician relationships, especially
relationships with leaders in the medical and surgical oncology communities, are important competitive factors.

The Delcath PHP System competes with all forms of liver cancer treatments. Many of our competitors have substantially greater financial, technological, research and development, marketing and personnel resources. In
addition, some of our competitors have considerable experience in conducting clinical trials and in regulatory approval procedures. Our competitors may develop more effective or more affordable products or treatment
methods, or achieve earlier product development, in which case the likelihood of our achieving meaningful revenues or profitability will be substantially reduced.

Government Regulation

The Delcath PHP System is regulated by the FDA as a combination product consisting of a device and a drug. The manufacture and sale of medical devices and drugs are subject to extensive governmental regulation in the
United States and in other countries. The Delcath PHP System is regulated in the United States by the FDA under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act. As such, FDA approval of the Delcath PHP System is required
before any commercial distribution may commence.
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Melphalan, the drug that we are initially seeking to have approved for use with the Delcath PHP System, is a widely used chemotherapy agent that has already been approved by the FDA for use at a lower dose than we
propose. The approved labeling for melphalan includes indications for use, method of action, dosing, side effects and contraindications. Because the Delcath PHP System delivers the drug through a different mode of
administration and at a dose strength that is substantially higher than that which is currently approved, we will be seeking a revised label of melphalan for use with the Delcath PHP System through a §505(b)(2) NDA. The
clinical trials are designed to provide the necessary clinical data to support this required labeling change.

Our contract manufacturers are also subject to numerous federal, state and local laws relating to matters such as safe working conditions, manufacturing practices, environmental protection, and disposal of hazardous or
potentially hazardous substances.

We believe that the FDA will review our submission dossier expeditiously. However, approval of the Delcath PHP System may take longer than anticipated if the FDA requests additional information or clarification, or if
any major amendments to our application are requested. In addition, the FDA may refer this application to an advisory committee of experts. This process is referred to as a “panel review,” and could delay the review of the
Delcath PHP System.

When FDA is prepared to issue a marketing application action letter upon completion of a review cycle, it will issue either an "approval letter" or a "complete response" letter to the applicant.  If the FDA's evaluation of the
application, clinical studies and study sites and manufacturing facilities are favorable, the FDA will issue the "approval letter".  FDA sends the "complete response" letter to applicants to indicate that the review cycle for an
application is complete and that the application is not ready for approval in its current form.  The "complete response" letter contains a list of information that must be submitted or conditions that must be met to obtain
approval of the application.

Marketed products that are regulated by the FDA remain subject to extensive ongoing regulation. Advertising and promotional activities are subject to regulation by the FDA and by the Federal Trade Commission. Other
ongoing FDA reporting regulations require that we provide information to the FDA on any deaths or serious adverse events that may have been caused or contributed to by the use of the marketed product and product
malfunctions that would likely cause or contribute to a death or serious injury if the malfunction were to recur.

Drugs
Delcath must obtain a change to the current approved label for the drug melphalan before the Delcath PHP System may be marketed in the United States. The current FDA-approved labeling for melphalan provides for
administration of the drug at lower doses than we are currently using and does not provide for its delivery with the Delcath PHP System. We have no assurance that the FDA will approve the application for a change to the
current label.

Orphan Drug Regulation
The Orphan Drug Act provides for a seven-year period of exclusive marketing to the sponsor who obtains marketing approval for that designated orphan drug or biological product. Exclusivity begins on the date that the
marketing application is approved by FDA for the designated orphan drug, and the exclusivity only applies to the indication for which the drug has been approved. An orphan designation does not limit the use of that drug
in other applications outside the approved designation in either a commercial or investigational setting. The FDA has granted Delcath four orphan drug designations. In November 2008, the FDA granted Delcath two
orphan-drug designations for the drug melphalan for the treatment of patients with cutaneous melanoma as well as patients with ocular melanoma. In May 2009, the FDA granted Delcath an additional orphan-drug
designation of the drug melphalan for the treatment of patients with neuroendocrine tumors. In August 2009, the FDA granted Delcath an orphan-drug designation of the drug doxorubicin for the treatment of patients with
primary liver cancer.

Foreign Regulation
In order for our products to be marketed and sold in Asia, Europe, or other foreign jurisdictions, we must obtain the required regulatory approvals or clearances and comply with the extensive regulations regarding safety,
manufacturing processes and quality requirements of the respective countries. These regulations, including the requirements for approvals to market, may differ from the FDA regulatory framework. In addition, there may
be foreign regulatory barriers other than approval or clearance.

The European Economic Area (EEA) has an agreement between member states of the European Free Trade Association (EFTA), the European Community (EC), and all member states of the European Union (EU)
regarding certain certifications for medical devices. The CE marking (also known as CE mark) is a mandatory conformity mark on many products placed on the single market in the EEA. The CE marking does not certify
that a product has met EU consumer safety, health or environmental requirements, but can permit the marketing of a medical device once obtained. We have begun the process of seeking the CE mark for the Delcath PHP
System and hope to receive approval in the second half of 2010.
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We have also begun the process of applying for an import license for the Delcath PHP System into China. Marketing our system in other parts of the world, including China, requires the obtaining of country specific
regulatory approvals and compliance with extensive local regulations.

Intellectual Property and Other Rights
Our success depends in part on our ability to obtain patents, maintain trade secret protection and operate without infringing on the proprietary rights of third parties. Because of the length of time and expense associated
with bringing new products through the development and regulatory approval process, the health care industry places considerable emphasis on obtaining patent and trade secret protection for new technologies, products
and processes. We hold seven U.S. patents, as well as nine corresponding foreign patents and seven pending patent applications in the U.S., Canada, Europe and Asia that we believe are or may be material to our business.
 

Patent Titles Patent No. Expiration Date
Cancer treatment and catheter for use in treatment      U.S. #5,411,479 May 2, 2012
Apparatus and method for isolated pelvic perfusion      U.S. #5,817,046 July 14, 2017
Balloon catheter with occluded segment bypass      U.S. #5,893,841 August 30, 2016
Catheter with slideable balloon      U.S. #5,919,163 July 14, 2017
Cancer treatment method      U.S. #6,186,146 January 13, 2017
Catheter flow and lateral movement controller      U.S. #5,897,533 September 2, 2017
Method for treating glandular diseases and malignancies      U.S. #7,022,097 May 9, 2023

We plan to enforce our intellectual property rights vigorously. In addition, we conduct searches and other activities relating to the protection of existing patents and the filing of new applications. We seek to patent
improvements that we identify through manufacturing and clinical use of the Delcath PHP System which allow us to expand the use of the Delcath PHP System beyond the treatment of cancers in the liver.

In certain circumstances, U.S. patent law allows for the extension of a patent’s duration for a period of up to five years after FDA approval. We intend to seek extension for one of our patents after FDA approval. We also
rely on trade secrets and proprietary technological experience. We rely, in part, on confidentiality agreements with our marketing partners, employees, advisors, vendors and consultants to protect our trade secrets and
proprietary technological expertise. These agreements may not provide meaningful protection of our proprietary technologies or other intellectual property if unauthorized use or disclosure occurs or if they do not
adequately protect against disclosure of material proprietary information.

In addition to our proprietary protections, the FDA has granted Delcath four orphan drug designations which provides us a seven-year period of exclusive marketing beginning on the date that our marketing application is
approved by FDA for the designated orphan drug. While the exclusivity only applies to the indication for which the drug has been approved, we believe that this protection will provide us with added protection while we
commercialize the Delcath PHP System.

Employees and Facilities
In 2009, we re-focused our management team and appointed a new Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Medical Officer. As of December 31, 2009, we had 17 full-time employees. None of our
employees is represented by a union and we believe relationships with our employees are good.

Our corporate offices currently occupy 3,400 square feet of office space at 600 Fifth Avenue, New York, N.Y. under a sublease that expires in July 2010. We have outgrown this space due to the recent growth of the
Company’s management team. On February 5, 2010, we entered into a lease for approximately 8,629 square feet of office space at 810 Seventh Avenue, New York, NY. We expect to relocate our corporate offices to this
location.

On September 3, 2009, we announced that we signed a three-year lease with an option to buy a 10,320 square foot facility in Queensbury, New York, where we plan to locate assembling, sterilization and packaging of the
Delcath PHP System. We anticipate hiring approximately 20 people at this facility by the end of fiscal 2010 to establish manufacturing, distribution, and research and development capabilities. Since major medical device
companies have located their catheter operations in this area for decades, the local labor force is well acquainted with the manufacturing requirements that Delcath will face as it progresses toward full-scale production of
the Delcath PHP System.
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Available Information

We maintain a website at www.delcath.com. We make available, free of charge on our website, our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished
pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file those reports with, or furnish them to, the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or the SEC. We are not including the information contained at www.delcath.com , or at any other Internet address as part of, or incorporating by reference into, this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Item 1A.     Risk Factors
 
You should carefully consider the risks described below together with the other information included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our business, financial condition, liquidity and results of operations could be
adversely affected by any of these risks. If any of these risks occur, the value of our common stock could decline.
 
Risks Related to Our Business and Financial Condition

If we are not successful in developing and obtaining FDA approval of the drug/device combination product, or if we are unable to market and sell the product, we will not generate operating revenue or become
profitable.
The Delcath PHP System, a platform technology for the isolation of various organs or regions of the body to permit the regional delivery of high doses of drugs for the treatment of a variety of diseases, is our only product,
and our entire focus has been on developing, commercializing, and obtaining regulatory approvals of this product. If the Delcath PHP System fails as a commercial product, we have no other products to sell.

Continuing losses may exhaust our capital resources.
We have had no revenue to date, a substantial accumulated deficit, recurring operating losses and negative cash flow. We expect to incur significant and increasing losses while generating minimal revenues over the next
few years. From our inception on August 5, 1988 through December 31, 2009, we have incurred cumulative net losses of approximately $67.9 million. For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 we incurred
net losses of approximately $22.1 million, $6.9 million, and $3.7 million, respectively. To date, we have funded our operations through a combination of private placements of our securities and through the proceeds of our
public offerings in 2000, 2003, 2007, June 2009 and November 2009. If we continue to incur losses, we may exhaust our capital resources, and as a result may be unable to complete our clinical trials, product development
and commercialization of the Delcath PHP System.

If we cannot raise the additional capital that may be required to commercialize the Delcath PHP System, our potential to generate future revenues will be significantly limited even if we receive FDA approval, and if
we cannot raise additional capital generally, our business operations may be harmed.
The Delcath PHP System is regulated by the FDA as a combination product. Before we can obtain approval to sell our product commercially in the United States we will need approval from the FDA. We will also need
approval to market our products in foreign markets. We do not know if additional financings will be available when needed, or if they are available, that they will be available on acceptable terms. If we are unable to obtain
additional financing as needed, we may not be able to complete our trials, obtain regulatory approvals or sell the Delcath PHP System commercially.

Our liquidity and capital requirements will depend on numerous factors, including: our research and product development programs, including clinical studies; the timing and costs of our various United States and foreign
regulatory filings, obtaining approvals and complying with regulations; the timing of product commercialization activities, including marketing arrangements overseas; the timing and costs involved in preparing, filing,
prosecuting, defending and enforcing intellectual property rights; and the impact of competing technological and market developments. We do not know if additional financing will be available if needed, or if it is available,
if it will be available on acceptable terms. Insufficient funds may require us to curtail or stop our research and development activities.

Risks Related to FDA and Foreign Regulatory Approval

Even if the FDA grants approval of the Delcath PHP System for the treatment of melanoma that has metastasized to the liver with melphalan, our ability to market the Delcath PHP System would be limited to that
use.
If the FDA grants approval for use of the Delcath PHP System in the treatment of melanoma that has metastasized to the liver with the drug melphalan, our ability to market the Delcath PHP System would be limited to its
use with that drug in treating that disease. If we are unable to obtain FDA approval or successfully market the Delcath PHP System for treatment of other diseases, organs and regions and with other drugs, our ability to
generate revenue and grow will be limited.
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If we do not obtain required approvals, we may not be able to export the Delcath PHP System to foreign markets, which will limit our sales opportunities.
If we do not receive CE mark approval for the Delcath PHP System, we will not be able to export the Delcath PHP System from the United States for marketing in the European Economic Area, or EEA, unless approval
has been obtained from each nation in the EEA. In addition, regulatory approval is required before we can market the Delcath PHP System in other parts of the world. If the FDA does not approve our applications or we are
not able to obtain approval from one or more other countries where we would like to sell the Delcath PHP System, we will be unable to market the Delcath PHP System as we intend. If we are unable to market the Delcath
PHP System internationally because we are unable to obtain required approvals, our international market opportunity will be materially limited.

Obtaining FDA approvals could be delayed.
We have experienced, and may continue to experience, delays in conducting and completing required clinical trials, caused by many factors. The pace of completing these clinical trials will be dependent on a number of
factors, some of which are out of our control. We have received a letter from the FDA stating that the Special Protocol Assessment, or SPA, we submitted to the FDA was acceptable. An SPA is generally binding upon the
FDA unless a substantial scientific issue essential to determining safety or efficacy is identified after the testing is begun. Any requirement by the FDA that we amend our SPA by requiring us to conduct additional trials or
otherwise would delay the FDA’s review of our application. Any significant delay in completing clinical trials or in the FDA’s response to our submission would delay the commercialization of the Delcath PHP System and
our ability to generate revenues.

The FDA could temporarily or permanently halt the conduct of our clinical trials.
If the FDA decides for any reason that the Delcath PHP System is not sufficiently safe or efficacious, it may require us to halt the trials. We may not be able to resume our trials if the FDA were to halt them.

We may experience a number of events that could further delay or prevent development of the Delcath PHP System, including:

the FDA may put our clinical trials on hold;
the results of those trials could be negative;
additional serious adverse events in the clinical trials could occur;
we could experience difficulty in obtaining a supplier of melphalan in a timely manner;
we could experience manufacturing difficulties; and
other regulators or institutional review boards may not authorize, or may delay, suspend or terminate the clinical trial program due to safety concerns.

Third-party reimbursement may not be available to purchasers of the Delcath PHP System or may be inadequate, resulting in lower sales even if FDA approval is granted.
Physicians, hospitals and other health care providers may be reluctant to purchase the Delcath PHP System if they do not receive substantial reimbursement for the cost of using our product from third-party payors,
including Medicare, Medicaid and private health insurance plans.

The Delcath PHP System is currently characterized by the FDA as an investigational device, and melphalan is an investigational drug at the dosage we are using. As such, Medicare, Medicaid and private health insurance
plans will not reimburse its use in the United States. We will seek reimbursement by third-party payors of the cost of the Delcath PHP System after its use is approved by the FDA. There are no assurances that third-party
payors in the United States or abroad will agree to cover the cost of procedures using the Delcath PHP System. Further, third-party payors may deny reimbursement if they determine that the Delcath PHP System is not
used in accordance with established payor protocols regarding cost effective treatment methods or is used for forms of cancer or with drugs not specifically approved by the FDA.

Risks Related to Manufacturing, Commercialization and Market Acceptance of the Delcath PHP System

We purchase components for the Delcath PHP System from sole-source suppliers.
These manufacturers must comply with a number of FDA requirements and regulations. If we or one of our suppliers fails to meet such requirements, we may need to change suppliers.  If we are unable to successfully
change suppliers, the successful completion of some of our clinical trials and/or commercialization of the Delcath PHP System could be jeopardized.

The components of the Delcath PHP System, including catheters, filters, introducers and chemotherapy agents, must be manufactured and assembled in accordance with approved manufacturing and predetermined
performance specifications of the Delcath PHP System on file with the FDA and meet good manufacturing practice and quality systems requirements. Some states also have similar regulations. We intend to assemble,
sterilize and package the Delcath PHP System at our Queensbury, NY facility.  Many of the components of the Delcath PHP System are manufactured by sole-source suppliers that may have proprietary manufacturing
processes. If we or any of our suppliers fail to meet those regulatory obligations, we may be forced to suspend or terminate our clinical trials, and once a product is approved for marketing, the manufacture, assembly or
distribution thereof. Further, if we need to find a new source of supply, we may face long interruptions in obtaining necessary components for the Delcath PHP System, in obtaining FDA approval of these components and
establishing the manufacturing process, which could jeopardize our ability to supply the Delcath PHP System to the market. Further, if the Queensbury, NY facility fails to obtain or maintain approvals under ISO 13485 and
FDA cGMP, or current good manufacturing practice, facility inspection or audits, our ability to manufacture at the facility could be limited.
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We do not have written contracts with all of our suppliers for the manufacture of components for the Delcath PHP System.
If we are unable to obtain an adequate supply of the necessary components, the commercialization of the Delcath PHP System could be delayed.  Certain components, however, are available from only a limited number of
sources. Components of the Delcath PHP System are currently manufactured for us in small quantities for use in our preclinical and clinical studies. We will require significantly greater quantities to commercialize the
product. We may not be able to find alternate sources of comparable components. If we are unable to obtain adequate supplies of components from our existing suppliers or need to switch to an alternate supplier and obtain
FDA approval of that supplier, commercialization of the Delcath PHP System could be delayed.

We have limited experience in marketing products, and as a result, we may not be successful in marketing and selling the Delcath PHP System even if we receive FDA approval.
Delcath has not previously sold, marketed or distributed any products. In order to commercialize the Delcath PHP System or any other product successfully, we must acquire or internally develop a sales, marketing and
distribution infrastructure and/or enter into strategic alliances to perform these services. We intend to develop our own sales force to market our products in the United States, but we have limited experience in building a
sales and marketing organization. The development of sales, marketing and distribution infrastructure is difficult, time consuming and requires substantial financial and other resources. If we cannot successfully develop the
infrastructure to market and commercialize the Delcath PHP System, our ability to generate revenues may be harmed, and we may be required to enter into strategic alliances to have such activities carried out on our behalf,
which may not be on favorable terms. Competition for sales and marketing personnel is intense, and we may not be successful in attracting or retaining such personnel. Our inability to attract and retain skilled sales and
marketing personnel or to reach an agreement with a third party could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. If we are not able to collaborate with an alliance partner to market our
products outside of the United States, our efforts to commercialize the Delcath PHP System or any other product may be less successful.

Our plan to use collaborative arrangements with third parties to help finance and to market and sell our product candidates may not be successful.
We intend to enter into one or more strategic alliances to further address markets outside the United States and to fund the development of additional indications or for use with additional chemotherapy agents within the
United States. We may not be able to enter into any additional alliances on acceptable terms, if at all, and may face competition in our search for alliances. Our collaborative relationships may never result in the successful
development or commercialization of the Delcath PHP System or any other product or the generation of revenue.

The success of any collaboration will be dependent upon the commitment of our collaborators and the timely performance of their obligations, both of which are beyond our control. The terms of any such collaborations
may permit our collaborators to abandon the alliance at any time for any reason or prevent us from terminating arrangements with collaborators who do not perform in accordance with our expectations. In addition, any
third parties with which we collaborate may have significant control over important aspects of the development and commercialization of our products, including research and development, market identification, marketing
methods, pricing, composition of sales force and promotional activities. We cannot assure you that we will be able to control or influence the amount and timing of resources that any collaborator may devote to our research
and development programs or the commercialization, marketing or distribution of our products. We may not be able to prevent any collaborators from pursuing alternative technologies or products that could result in the
development of products that compete with our product candidates or the withdrawal of their support for our products. The failure of any such collaborations could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Market acceptance of the Delcath PHP System will depend on substantial efforts within the healthcare arena.
Market acceptance of the Delcath PHP System will depend upon a variety of factors including:

Whether our clinical trials demonstrate significantly improved, cost effective patient outcomes;
Our ability to educate physicians and drive acceptance of the use of the Delcath PHP System;
Our ability to convince healthcare payors that use of the Delcath PHP System results in reduced treatment costs and improved outcomes for patients;
Whether the Delcath PHP System replaces and/or complements treatment methods in which many hospitals have made a significant investment. Hospitals may be unwilling to replace their existing technology in
light of their investment and experience with competing technologies; and
Whether doctors and hospitals are reluctant to use a new medical technology until its value has been demonstrated. As a result, the Delcath PHP System may not gain significant market acceptance among
physicians, hospitals, patients and healthcare payors.

Rapid technological developments in treatment methods for liver cancer and competition with other forms of liver cancer treatments could affect our ability to achieve meaningful revenues or profit.
Competition in the cancer treatment industry is intense. The Delcath PHP System competes with all forms of liver cancer treatments that are alternatives to the “gold standard” treatment of surgical resection. Many of our
competitors have substantially greater resources and considerable experience in conducting clinical trials and obtaining regulatory approvals. If these competitors develop more effective or more affordable products or
treatment methods, or achieve earlier product development, our revenues or profitability will be substantially reduced.
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The loss of key personnel could adversely affect our business.
The loss of a member of our senior executive staff could delay our completion of the clinical trials, our obtaining FDA approval, our introducing the Delcath PHP System commercially and our generating revenues and
profits. Competition for experienced personnel is intense. If we cannot retain our current personnel or attract additional experienced personnel, our ability to compete could be adversely affected.

Risk Related to Patents, Trade Secrets and Proprietary Rights

Our success depends in part on our ability to obtain patents, maintain trade secret protection, operate without infringing on the proprietary rights of third parties and commercialize the Delcath PHP System prior to
the expiration of our patent protection.
Due to the uncertainty of the patent prosecution process, there are no guarantees that any of our pending patent applications will result in the issuance of a patent. Even if we are successful in obtaining a patent, there is no
assurance that it will be upheld if later challenged or will provide significant protection or commercial   advantage. Because of the length of time and expense associated with bringing new medical combination products to
the market, the healthcare industry has traditionally placed considerable emphasis on patent and trade secret protection for significant new technologies. Other parties may challenge patents, patent claims or patent
applications licensed or issued to us or may design around technologies we have patented, licensed or developed.

Companies in the medical drug/device industry may use intellectual property infringement litigation to gain a competitive advantage. If this type of litigation is successful, a third party may be able to obtain an injunction
prohibiting us from offering our product. Litigation may be necessary to enforce any patents issued or assigned to us or to determine the scope and validity of third-party proprietary rights. Litigation could be costly and
could divert our attention from our business. There are no guarantees that we will receive a favorable outcome in any such litigation. If others file patent applications with respect to inventions for which we already have
patents issued to us or have patent applications pending, we may be forced to participate in interference proceedings declared by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office to determine priority of invention, which could also be
costly and could divert our attention from our business. If a third party violates our intellectual property rights, we may be unable to enforce our rights because of our limited resources. Use of our limited funds to enforce or
to defend our intellectual property rights or to defend against legal proceedings alleging infringement of third party proprietary rights may also affect our financial condition adversely.

Because of the extensive time required for development, testing and regulatory review of a potential product, it is possible that, before the Delcath PHP System or any other product can be commercialized, any related
patent may expire or remain in force for only a short period following commercialization, thereby reducing any advantages of the patent. Certain of our U.S. and foreign patents have already expired and other U.S. patents
relating to the Delcath PHP System will expire beginning in 2012 through 2023.

Similar considerations apply in any other country where we are prosecuting patent applications, have been issued patents, or have decided not to pursue patent protection relating to our technology. The laws of foreign
countries may not protect our intellectual property rights to the same extent as do laws of the United States.

Risk Related to Products Liability

We may not carry sufficient products liability insurance and we may not be able to acquire sufficient coverage in the future to cover large claims.
Clinical trials, manufacturing and product sales may expose us to liability claims from the use of the Delcath PHP System. Were such a claim asserted we would likely incur substantial legal and related expenses even if we
prevail on the merits. Claims for damages, whether or not successful, could cause delays in the clinical trials and result in the loss of physician endorsement. A successful products liability claim or recall would have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. We currently carry clinical trial insurance coverage, but it may be insufficient to cover one or more large claims.

Risks Related to an Investment in Our Securities

Our stock price and trading volume may be volatile, which could result in losses for our stockholders.
The equity markets may experience periods of volatility, which could result in highly variable and unpredictable pricing of equity securities. The market price of our common stock could change in ways that may or may
not be related to our business, our industry or our operating performance and financial condition. Some of the factors that could negatively affect our share price or result in fluctuations in the price or trading volume of our
common stock include:

results of our clinical trials;
FDA delay or disapproval of our product;
manufacturing difficulties;
unexpected adverse events caused by the Delcath PHP System;
actual or anticipated quarterly variations in our operating results;
changes in expectations as to our future financial performance or changes in financial estimates, if any, of public market analysts;
announcements relating to our business or the business of our competitors;
a challenge to one of our patents, either in court or via administrative proceedings in the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office; and
conditions generally affecting the healthcare and cancer treatment industries; and the success of our operating strategy.
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Many of these factors are beyond our control, and we cannot predict their potential impact on the price of our common stock. We cannot assure you that the market price of our common stock will not fluctuate or decline
significantly in the future.

The market price of our common stock has historically been volatile. During the three years ended December 31, 2009, the range of the high and low last reported sales prices of our common stock on The NASDAQ
Capital Market have ranged from a high of $6.19 (during the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2009) to a low of $0.87 (during the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2008). During the twelve months ended December 31,
2009, the range of the high and low last reported sales prices of our common stock have ranged from a high of $6.19 (during the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2009) to a low of $1.18 (during the fiscal quarter ended
March 31, 2009). Sales of substantial amounts of common stock, or the perception that such sales could occur, could have an adverse effect on prevailing market prices for our common stock.

Our insiders beneficially own a significant portion of our stock.
Our insiders beneficially own a significant portion of our stock. As of December 31, 2009, our executive officers, directors and affiliated persons beneficially owned approximately 12.3% of our common stock. As a result,
our executive officers, directors and affiliated persons will have significant influence to:

elect or defeat the election of our directors;
amend or prevent amendment of our articles of incorporation or bylaws;
effect or prevent a merger, sale of assets or other corporate transaction; and
affect the outcome of any other matter submitted to the stockholders for vote.

Sales of significant amounts of shares held by our directors and executive officers, or the prospect of these sales, could adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

Our warrants contain anti-dilution provisions that, if triggered, could cause dilution to our existing stockholders.
The warrants issued in our September 2007 and June 2009 private placements contain anti-dilution provisions. The September 2007 Warrants are subject to “full ratchet” protection upon certain equity issuances below
$3.44 per share (as may be further adjusted). The June 2009 Warrants are subject to an exercise price adjustment upon certain equity issuances below $3.60 per share (as may be further adjusted).  In addition to the potential
dilutive effect of these provisions, there is the potential that a large number of the shares may be sold in the public market at any given time, which could place additional downward pressure on the trading price of our
common stock.

Anti-takeover provisions in our Certificate of Incorporation and By-laws and under our stockholder rights agreement may reduce the likelihood of a potential change of control, or make it more difficult for our
stockholders to replace management.
Certain provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation and By-laws and of our stockholders rights agreement could have the effect of making it more difficult for our stockholders to replace management at a time when a
substantial number of our stockholders might favor a change in management. These provisions include:

providing for a staggered board; and
authorizing the board of directors to fill vacant directorships or increase the size of our board of directors.

Furthermore, our board of directors has the authority to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more series and to determine the rights and preferences of the shares of any such series without stockholder
approval. Any series of preferred stock is likely to be senior to the common stock with respect to dividends, liquidation rights and, possibly, voting rights. Our board’s ability to issue preferred stock may have the effect of
discouraging unsolicited acquisition proposals, thus adversely affecting the market price of our common stock.

We also have a stockholder rights agreement that could have the effect of substantially increasing the cost of acquiring us unless our board of directors supports the transaction even if the holders of a majority of our
common stock are in favor of the transaction.

Our common stock is listed on The NASDAQ Capital Market.
If we fail to meet the requirements of The NASDAQ Capital Market for continued listing, our common stock could be delisted. To keep such listing, we are required to maintain: (i) a minimum bid price of $1.00 per share,
(ii) a certain public float, (iii) a certain number of round lot shareholders, and (iv) one of the following: a net income from continuing operations (in the latest fiscal year or two of the three last fiscal years) of at least
$500,000, a market value of listed securities of at least $35 million or a stockholders’ equity of at least $2.5 million. We are presently in compliance with these requirements.

We are also required to maintain certain corporate governance requirements. In the event that in the future we are notified that we no longer comply with NASDAQ’s corporate governance requirements, and we fail to
regain compliance within the applicable cure period, our common stock could be delisted from The NASDAQ Capital Market.

If our common stock is delisted from The NASDAQ Capital Market, we may be subject to the risks relating to penny stocks.
If our common stock were to be delisted from trading on The NASDAQ Capital Market and the trading price of the common stock were below $5.00 per share on the date the common stock were delisted, trading in our
common stock would also be subject to the requirements of certain rules promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”).  These rules require additional disclosure by broker-
dealers in connection with any trades involving a stock defined as a “penny stock” and impose various sales practice requirements on broker-dealers who sell penny stocks to persons other than established customers and
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accredited investors, generally institutions. These additional requirements may discourage broker-dealers from effecting transactions in securities that are classified as penny stocks, which could severely limit the market
price and liquidity of such securities and the ability of purchasers to sell such securities in the secondary market. A penny stock is defined generally as any non-exchange listed equity security that has a market price of less
than $5.00 per share, subject to certain exceptions.  We do not expect to pay dividends in the foreseeable future. As a result, holders of our common stock must rely on stock appreciation for any return on their investment.

We have never declared or paid any dividends to the holders of our common stock and we do not expect to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
We currently intend to retain all earnings for use in connection with the expansion of our business and for general corporate purposes. Our board of directors will have the sole discretion in determining whether to declare
and pay dividends in the future. The declaration of dividends will depend on our profitability, financial condition, cash requirements, future prospects and other factors deemed relevant by our board of directors. Our ability
to pay cash dividends in the future could be limited or prohibited by the terms of financing agreements that we may enter into or by the terms of any preferred stock that we may authorize and issue.

 
Item 1B.   Unresolved Staff Comments
 
Not applicable.
 
Item 2.   Properties
 
Our corporate offices currently occupy 3,400 square feet of office space at 600 Fifth Avenue, New York, N.Y. under a sublease that expires in July 2010. We have outgrown this space due to the recent growth of the
Company’s management team. On February 5, 2010, we entered into a lease for approximately 8,629 square feet of office space at 810 Seventh Avenue, New York, NY, with an option to expand an additional 8,629 square
feet. We expect to relocate our corporate offices to this location.
 
In addition, we lease a building containing approximately 10,320 square feet of manufacturing, research and development, and office space in Queensbury, New York under a lease agreement that expires on August 31,
2012. We have an option to purchase the building prior to the expiration of the lease term.
 
We believe substantially all of our property and equipment is in good condition and that we have sufficient capacity to meet our current operational needs.

Item 3.   Legal Proceedings
 
None.

Item 4.   Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.
 
None.
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Part II
 
Item 5.  Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Our common stock is traded on The NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol “DCTH.”
 
The following table sets forth the high and low last closing prices of our common stock for the fiscal quarters indicated as reported on The NASDAQ Capital Market:
 
Common Stock Price Range

  Sale Price  
Year ended December 31, 2009  High   Low  
First Quarter  $ 1.95  $ 1.18 
Second Quarter   3.98   1.78 
Third Quarter   5.05   2.81 
Fourth Quarter   6.19   4.02 
 
  Sale Price  
Year ended December 31, 2008  High   Low  
First Quarter  $ 2.22  $ 1.20 
Second Quarter   2.67   1.66 
Third Quarter   2.55   1.26 
Fourth Quarter   1.54   0.82 

On February 25, 2010 there were 81 stockholders of record of our common stock.
 
Dividend Policy
 
We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock and we have no intention to do so in the foreseeable future.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

We did not sell any equity securities that were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, in the fourth quarter of 2009.

Performance Graph
 
The following graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock over the five-year period ended December 31, 2009, the cumulative total return during such period of the NASDAQ Composite
Index and the Hemscott Industry Group 513-Drug Delivery. The comparison assumes $100 was invested on December 31, 2004, in our common stock and in each of the foregoing indices and assumes reinvestment of
dividends. The stock performance shown on the graph below represents historical stock performance and is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.
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 12/04 12/05 12/06 12/07 12/08 12/09
Delcath Systems Inc. 100.00 112.96 122.92 61.46 39.53 169.77
NASDAQ Composite 100.00 101.33 114.01 123.71 73.11 105.61
Hemscott Industry Group 513 - Drug Delivery 100.00 89.57 80.41 86.50 43.35 63.30

Item 6.   Selected Financial Data
 
The selected financial data set forth below should be read together with  “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our financial statements and related notes included
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The selected financial data set forth below as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 and for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 are derived from our audited financial statements included in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. All other selected financial data set forth below is derived from our audited financial statements not included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of our
results of operations to be expected in the future. 

  Year Ended December 31,
 (Dollars in thousands)  2009   2008   2007   2006   2005  
Statement of Operations Data                
Costs and expenses  $ 13,536  $ 8,066  $ 6,913  $ 11,699  $ 3,112 
Operating loss   13,536   8,066   6,913   11,699   3,112 
Net loss   22,057   6,865   3,664   10,952   2,865 
Loss per share   (0.82)   (0.27)   (0.16)   (0.55)   (0.18)
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  Year Ended December 31,  
 (Dollars in thousands)  2009   2008   2007   2006   2005  
Balance Sheet Data                
Current assets  $ 36,286  $ 11,341  $ 18,091  $ 8,760  $ 12,920 
Total assets   36,807   11,359   18,106   8,764   12,928 
Current liabilities   13,049   1,152   1,677   670   330 
Stockholder’s equity   23,758   10,207   16,429   8,093   12,598 

Item 7.   Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
 
Overview
 
The following section should be read in conjunction with Part I, Item 1: Business; and Part II, Item 8: Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of the Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
We are developing the Delcath Percutaneous Hepatic Perfusion System, or the Delcath PHP System, an innovative drug delivery system designed to treat cancers of the liver. The Delcath PHP System provides regional
therapy by isolating the circulatory system of the liver in order to directly deliver high doses of therapeutic agents, while controlling the systemic exposure of those agents.  The Delcath PHP System is minimally invasive
and repeatable. We believe that the Delcath PHP System is a platform technology that may have broader applicability to other organs and body regions. The most advanced application being tested with our System is for the
treatment of primary and secondary cancers of the liver.  In our initial application, the Delcath PHP System isolates the liver from the patient’s general circulatory system in order to deliver high doses of melphalan
hydrochloride, an approved chemotherapeutic drug, directly to the liver. We are currently conducting a Phase III trial and a multi-arm Phase II trial of the Delcath PHP System with melphalan in patients with liver cancers.

We began enrollment of our Phase III clinical trial in 2006 to support the FDA approval process for the Delcath PHP System. As of October 20, 2009, we enrolled all of the 92 patients called for under the Special Protocol
Assessment, or SPA, granted by the FDA. Until April 2008, the National Cancer Institute, or NCI was the sole participating center in the trial. Since then, we have negotiated and entered into research relationships with
eleven centers as part of this trial, bringing the total number of centers to twelve:

2008, 2nd Quarter
University of Maryland Medical Center
St. Luke’s Cancer Center
Albany Medical Center
Atlantic Melanoma Center of Atlantic Health
University of Texas Medical Branch
2008, 3rd Quarter
Swedish Medical Center
John Wayne Cancer Institute
Providence Health Systems
Moffitt Cancer Center
2008, 4th Quarter
University of Pittsburgh Medical Center
2009, 1st Quarter
Ohio State University Comprehensive Cancer Center

 
Either a participating center’s Institutional Review Board (“IRB”) or the Western Institutional Review Board (“WIRB”) has approved our treatment protocol. The WIRB, which provides review services for more than 100
institutions (academic centers, hospitals, networks and in-house biotech research) in all 50 states and internationally, will help accelerate the internal review process at a number of the hospitals currently participating in the
study.  As of December 31, 2009, we completed enrollment in the Phase III clinical trial. In 2004, we began a multi-arm Phase II clinical trial for the use of the Delcath PHP System with melphalan in the treatment of
hepatocellular carcinomas as well as neuroendocrine and adenocarcinoma cancers that have spread to the liver.  In 2007, an additional arm was added to the Phase II clinical trial to treat patients with metastatic melanoma
that has spread to the liver who have received prior regional treatment with melphalan.  Based on promising initial clinical results, we focused our efforts on enrolling patients for the treatment of metastatic neuroendocrine
tumors. That arm of the clinical trial has 25 patients enrolled.
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The successful development of the Delcath PHP System is highly uncertain, and development costs and timelines can vary significantly and are difficult to accurately predict.  Various statutes and regulations also impact
the manufacturing, safety, labeling, storage, record keeping and marketing of our system.  The lengthy process of completing clinical trials, seeking FDA approval and subsequent compliance with applicable statutes and
regulations require the expenditure of substantial resources.  Any failure by us to obtain, or any delay in obtaining, regulatory approvals could materially, adversely affect our business.  To date, we have not received
approval for the sale of our system in any market and, therefore, have not generated any revenues. The Delcath PHP System has not yet been approved by the FDA and may not be marketed in the United States without
FDA approval.
 
Our expenses generally include costs for clinical studies, securing patents, regulatory activities, manufacturing, personnel, rent for our facilities, and general corporate and working capital, including general and
administrative expenses.  Because we have no FDA-approved product and no commercial sales, we will continue to be dependent upon existing cash, the sale of equity or debt securities, or establishing strategic alliances
with appropriate partners to fund future activities. We cannot be assured that we will obtain FDA approval for our Delcath PHP System, that we will have, or could raise, sufficient financial resources to sustain our
operations pending FDA approval, or that, if and when the required approvals are obtained, there will be a market for our product.
 
We expect that the amount of capital required to complete our Phase III clinical trial, prepare the Company’s submission to the FDA, and establish a fully operational manufacturing facility in upstate New York will
continue to increase over the coming months.  We believe that we have sufficient capital for operations through 2010.
 
We are a development stage company, and since our inception we have raised approximately $88.1 million (net of expenses).  We have financed our operations primarily through public and private placements of equity
securities.  We have incurred net losses since we were founded and we anticipate that losses will continue over the coming years.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
 
Our future results are subject to substantial risks and uncertainties.  We have operated at a loss for our entire history and we anticipate that losses will continue over the coming year.  There can be no assurance that we will
ever generate significant revenues or achieve profitability.  We expect to use cash, cash equivalents and investment proceeds to fund our operating activities.  Our future liquidity and capital requirements will depend on
numerous factors, including the progress of our research and product development programs, including our ongoing Phase II and Phase III clinical trials; the timing and costs of making various United States and foreign
regulatory filings, obtaining approvals and complying with regulations; the timing and effectiveness of product commercialization activities, including marketing arrangements overseas; the timing and costs involved in
preparing, filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing intellectual property rights; and the effect of competing technological and market developments. We continue to move forward aggressively, most notably by reaching
full enrollment in our Phase III clinical trial, opening a manufacturing facility, and expanding our management team in anticipation of various regulatory, manufacturing and commercialization efforts. As we seek FDA
approval of the Delcath PHP System and get our product to market we expect that both our expenses and capital expenditures will increase significantly.
 
At December 31, 2009, cash and cash equivalents totaled $35,486,319, as compared to $6,939,233 at December 31, 2008.  Approximately $35.1 million and $6.9 million of our funds are currently invested in money
markets at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
 
During the twelve months ended December 31, 2009, we used $10,462,242 of cash in our operating activities. This amount compares to $6,723,277 used in our operating activities during the comparable twelve month
period ended December 31, 2008.  The increase of $3,738,965, or 55.6%, is primarily due to the recent additions to our management team as well as the acceleration of clinical development costs relating to all facets of the
Delcath PHP System.  We expect that our cash allocated to operating activities will continue to increase significantly as we outfit and fully staff our new facility in upstate New York, and continue to navigate the extensive
FDA approval process. We believe we have sufficient capital to fund our operating activities through 2010.
 
At December 31, 2009, the Company’s accumulated deficit was approximately $69.4 million, as compared to $47.3 million at December 31, 2008.  Because our business does not generate positive cash flow from operating
activities, we will likely need to continue raising additional capital in order to develop our product beyond the current clinical trials or to fund development efforts relating to new products.  We anticipate that we could raise
additional capital in the event that we find it in our best interest to do so. We anticipate raising such additional capital by either borrowing money, selling shares of our capital stock, or entering into strategic alliances with
appropriate partners.  To the extent additional capital is not available when we need it, we may be forced to abandon some or all of our development and commercialization efforts, which would have a material adverse
effect on the prospects of our business.  Further, our assumptions relating to our cash requirements may differ materially from those planned because of a number of factors, including significant unforeseen delays in the
regulatory approval process, changes in the focus and direction of our clinical trials and costs related to commercializing our product.

In June 2009, the Company filed a registration statement on Form S-3 with the SEC, which allows the Company to offer and sell, from time to time in one or more offerings up to $60,000,000 of common stock, preferred
stock, stock purchase contracts, warrants and debt securities as it deems prudent or necessary to raise capital at a later date. The registration statement became effective on June 23, 2009 (333-159913). The Company used
this registration statement for its November 2009 public offering detailed in Note 3 in the footnotes to the 2009 financial statements. Because the maximum aggregate offering price of all securities registered is
$60,000,000, the
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Company’s issuance of any securities will reduce the amount of other securities that it can issue pursuant to the registration statement on Form S-3.

We have funded our operations through a combination of private placements of our securities and through the proceeds of our public offerings in 2000 and 2003 along with our registered direct offerings in 2007 and 2009,
and our recent public offering in November, 2009.  As of December 31, 2009, we had approximately $25,000,000 aggregate amount of common stock, preferred stock, stock purchase contracts, warrants and debt securities
(or a combination of these securities) available to be issued under our effective registration statement of Form S-3 filed in June 2009 (333-159913). The Company intends to use the net proceeds from any future offerings
for general corporate purposes, including, but not limited to, obtaining regulatory approvals, commercialization of our products, funding of our clinical trials, capital expenditures and working capital. For a detailed
discussion of our various sales of securities see Note 3 in the footnotes to the 2009 financial statements. 
 
Contractual Obligations, Commercial Commitments and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We are obligated to make future payments under various contracts such as long-term research and development agreement obligations and lease agreements. The following table provides a summary of our significant
contractual obligations at December 31, 2009 (in millions):

  Payments Due by Period  

  Total   Less than 1 year   1-3 years   3-5 years   
More than 5

years  
Operating Activities:                

Research Activities  $ 2.0  $ 1.0  $ 1.0  $ -  $ - 
Operating Leases   0.3   0.2   .1   -   - 

Our five year CRADA for the development of the Delcath PHP System with the NCI expired on December 14, 2006 and was extended for an additional five years to December 14, 2011. The principal goal of the CRADA
is to continue the development of a novel form of regional cancer therapy by designing clinical protocols utilizing the Delcath PHP System to regionally deliver chemotherapeutics to patients with unresectable malignancies
confined to an organ or region of the body. Under the five year extension, we will pay $1,000,000 per year to the NCI for clinical support. These funds are payable in quarterly amounts of $250,000, and will be used for
material support of the CRADA (including equipment, supplies, travel, and other related CRADA support), as well as for support of existing or new scientific or clinical staff to be hired by NCI who are to perform work
under the CRADA. 

Our operating lease obligations at December 31, 2009 include: the annual rent under the sublease for our office space at 600 Fifth Avenue, New York, NY ($221,000 per annum), which sublease will expire on July 30, 2010
and the annual rent under the lease for our manufacturing facility in Queensbury, New York ($51,600 per annum), which lease expires on August 31, 2012.  See Part I, Item 2, “Properties”.

Future Capital Needs; Additional Future Funding
 
Our future results are subject to substantial risks and uncertainties. We have operated at a loss for our entire history and there can be no assurance that we will ever achieve consistent profitability. We believe that our capital
resources are adequate to fund operations through 2010, but anticipate that prior to commercialization we may require additional working capital to continue our operations. There can be no assurance that such working
capital will be available on acceptable terms, if at all.
 
Results of Operations for the Year Ended December 31, 2009; Comparisons of Results of the Years Ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
 
We have operated at a loss for our entire history. We had a net loss for the twelve months ended December 31, 2009, of $22,056,592, which is $15,191,707, or 221.3%, more than the net loss from continuing operations for
the same period in 2008.  This increase is primarily due to a $5.47 million increase in operating costs and a $9.67 million increase in derivative instrument expense, which is a non-cash expense. The increase in operating
costs is related to an acceleration of clinical trial expenses and the recent additions to the management team. The warrants issued in 2007 and 2009 as part of our sale of common stock are considered to be derivatives and
are subject to valuation and adjustment on a quarterly basis (see item 7A, below for a complete description). This mark-to-market adjustment of the warrant valuation resulted in the recording of $8,567,917 in derivative
instrument expense for the year ended December 31, 2009; a $9,671,599 increase from the $1,103,682 of derivative instrument income recorded in the year ended December 31, 2008.

We had a net loss for the twelve months ended December 31, 2008, of $6,864,885, which is $3,201,379, or 87.4%, more than the net loss from continuing operations for the same period in 2007.  This increase is primarily
due to increased research and development costs due to an acceleration of patient enrollment as discussed below. Additionally, the warrants issued in 2007 as part of our sale of common stock are considered to be
derivatives and are subject to valuation and adjustment on a quarterly basis (see item 7A, below for a complete description). This mark-to-market adjustment of the warrant valuation resulted in the recording of $1,103,682
in derivative instrument income for the year ended December 31, 2008; a $1,613,318 decrease from the $2,717,000 of derivative instrument income recorded in the year ended December 31, 2007. This fluctuation accounts
for approximately fifty percent of the difference in net loss between 2008 and 2007.
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General and Administrative Expenses
For the twelve months ended December 31, 2009, we incurred $3,898,705 in expenses related to our general and administrative operations. This is a 45.1% increase from the same period in 2008, when we incurred
$2,687,688 in general and administrative expenses. A significant portion of this increase is related to satisfaction of the Company’s obligations under a separation agreement with its former President and CEO and the
retention of a new President and Chief Executive Officer, as well as the related recruitment and payroll expenses for the expansion of the management team throughout the second half of 2009.
 
General and administrative expenses increased by less than 1% from $2,671,782 during the twelve months ended December 31, 2007, to $2,687,688 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2008.  An increase in fees
paid to board of director members as well as an increase in insurance related costs during 2008 was offset primarily by a reduction of payroll related expenses charged to general and administrative which accounted for
slight increase in the expense during fiscal year 2008. 

Research and Development Expenses
For the twelve months ended December 31, 2009, research and development costs increased by 79.2%, from $5,378,335 for the twelve months of 2008 to $9,637,050 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2009, a
$4,258,715 increase. The addition of several centers and the increased rate of enrollment in connection with our Phase III clinical trial has led to a significant increase in treatments performed and all related expenses in
2009 as compared to 2008. With full enrollment in the Phase III clinical trial, the Company anticipates spending directed towards the Phase III clinical trial will begin to steady, while expenses related to the Company’s
preparation for FDA submission and the development of our newly-leased manufacturing facility in upstate New York will begin accelerating.

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2008, we incurred $5,378,335 in research and development costs, which is a 26.8% increase as compared to $4,241,517 of research and development costs we incurred during
2007. This increase is primarily due to the acceleration of enrollment in our Phase III trial. With the addition of several trial sites throughout 2008, we experienced a marked increase in the rate of patient enrollment and
treatment which has had a noticeable impact on our research and development expenses.

Interest Income
Interest income shown is from our money market account, treasury bills and investment in various certificates of deposit. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2009, the Company had interest income of $73,833, as
compared to interest income of $299,956 for the same period in 2008. This decrease is due to our reduced cash position throughout much of 2009 as we continued to direct our funds towards the completion of our Phase III
trial, as well as the overall market conditions which continue to yield a lower percentage of return on our investments. Given our increased cash position at the end of 2009, we anticipate an increase in interest income
during 2010, but will continue to invest conservatively with a focus on preservation of capital and daily liquidity.

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2008, we had interest income of $299,956, as compared to interest income of $532,793 for the same period in 2007, a 43.7% change. This decrease is primarily due to a
reduced cash position in 2008 from that in 2007, as well as the overall market conditions which yielded a lower percentage return on our investments.

Application of Critical Accounting Policies

Our financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). Certain accounting policies have a significant impact on amounts
reported in the financial statements. The notes to financial statements included in Item 8 contain a summary of the significant accounting policies and methods used in the preparation of our financial statements.  We are still
in the development stage and have no revenues, trade receivables, inventories, or significant fixed or intangible assets, and therefore have very limited opportunities to choose among accounting policies or methods.  In
many cases, we must use an accounting policy or method because it is the only policy or method permitted under GAAP.
 
Additionally, we devote substantial resources to clinical trials and other research and development activities relating to obtaining FDA and other approvals for the Delcath PHP System, the cost of which is required to be
charged to expense as incurred.  This further limits our choice of accounting policies and methods.  Similarly, management believes there are very limited circumstances in which our financial statement estimates are
significant or critical.
 
We consider the valuation allowance for the deferred tax assets to be a significant accounting estimate.  In applying The Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification (“FASB ASC”) 740,
management estimates future taxable income from operations and tax planning strategies in determining if it is more likely than not that we will realize the benefits of our deferred tax assets.  Management believes the
Company does not have any uncertain tax positions.

The Company has adopted the provisions of FASB ASC 718, which establishes accounting for equity instruments exchanged for employee services. Under the provisions of FASB ASC 718, share-based compensation is
measured at the grant date, based upon the fair value of the award, and is recognized as an expense over the option holders’ requisite service period (generally the vesting period of the equity grant). The Company expenses
its share-based compensation under the ratable method, which treats each vesting tranche as if it were an individual grant.
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On January 1, 2008, the Company adopted FASB ASC 820, which defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements.  FASB ASC 820 applies to
reported balances that are required or permitted to be measured at fair value under existing accounting pronouncements; accordingly, the standard does not require any new fair value measurements of reported
balances.  The adoption of FASB ASC 820 did not have a material effect on the carrying values of the Company’s assets.
 
FASB ASC 820 emphasizes that fair value is a market-based measurement, not an entity-specific measurement.  Therefore, a fair value measurement should be determined based on the assumptions that market participants
would use in pricing the asset or liability.  As a basis for considering market participant assumptions in fair value measurements, FASB ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy that distinguishes between market
participant assumptions based on market data obtained from sources independent of the reporting entity (observable inputs that are classified within Levels 1 and 2 of the hierarchy) and the reporting entity’s own
assumptions about market participant assumptions (unobservable inputs classified within Level 3 of the hierarchy).
 
Level 1 inputs utilize quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to access. Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. Level 2 inputs may include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, as well as inputs that are observable for the asset or liability (other
than quoted prices), such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, and yield curves that are observable at commonly quoted intervals. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability which are typically based
on an entity’s own assumptions, as there is little, if any, related market activity. In instances where the determination of the fair value measurement is based on inputs from different levels of the fair value hierarchy, the level
in the fair value hierarchy within which the entire fair value measurement falls is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. The Company’s assessment of the significance
of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment, and considers factors specific to the asset or liability.

 Item 7A.   Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk
 
We may be exposed to market risk through changes in market interest rates that could affect the value of our investments.  However, the Company’s marketable securities consist of short-term and/or variable rate
instruments and, therefore, a change in interest rates would not have a material impact on the fair value of our investment portfolio or related income.

In January 2008, the Company entered into a research and development agreement with Aethlon Medical, Inc., (“AEMD”) a publicly traded company whose securities are quoted on the Over the Counter Bulletin
Board.  As part of this agreement, the Company purchased 100,000 shares of restricted common stock of AEMD. The Company allocated $46,200 of the cost of the agreement to the fair value of the common stock
acquired, using the closing stock price at the date of the agreement and then discounting that value due to certain sale restrictions on the stock being held.  In September 2008 the sale restriction on the stock being held
lapsed and as a result the fair value of the stock is no longer being discounted.  The investment is classified as an available for sale security and had a fair value on December 31, 2009 of $30,000 which included a gross
unrealized loss of $16,200, which is included as a component of comprehensive loss.
 
The Company measures all derivatives, including certain derivatives embedded in contracts, at fair value and recognizes them on the balance sheet as an asset or a liability, depending on the Company’s rights and
obligations under the applicable derivative contract.
 
In June 2009, the Company completed the sale of 869,565 shares of its common stock and the issuance of warrants to purchase 1,043,478 common shares (the 2009 Warrants) in a subscription agreement with a single
investor. The Company received gross proceeds of $2,999,999, with net cash proceeds after related expenses from this transaction of approximately $2.67 million. Of those proceeds, the Company allocated an estimated
fair value of $2,190,979 to the 2009 Warrants, resulting in net proceeds of $467,559. The fair value of the 2009 Warrants on June 15, 2009 was determined by using the Black-Scholes model assuming a risk free interest
rate of 2.75%, volatility of 72.93% and an expected life equal to the contractual life of the 2009 Warrants (June 2014).  The 2009 Warrants are exercisable at $3.60 per share and have a five-year term.
 
In September 2007, the Company completed the sale of 3,833,108 shares of its common stock and the issuance of warrants to purchase 1,916,554 common shares (the 2007 Warrants) in a private placement to institutional
and accredited investors. The Company received net proceeds of $13,303,267 in this transaction. The Company allocated $4,269,000 of the total proceeds to the 2007 Warrants. The 2007 Warrants were initially exercisable
at $4.53 per share beginning six months after the issuance thereof and on or prior to the fifth anniversary of the issuance thereof. As required by the 2007 Warrant agreement, both the exercise price and number of warrants
were adjusted following the Company’s June 9, 2009 sale of common stock. The 2007 Warrants are currently exercisable at $3.44 per share with 2,420,324 warrants outstanding.
 
The $2,190,979 in proceeds allocated to the 2009 Warrants and the $4,269,000 in proceeds allocated to the 2007 Warrants are classified as derivative instrument liabilities. The terms of the 2007 Warrants and the 2009
Warrants provide for potential adjustment
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in the exercise price and are therefore considered to be derivative instrument liabilities that are subject to mark-to-market adjustment each period. As a result, for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2009, the
Company recorded pre-tax derivative instrument expense of $8,567,917. The resulting derivative instrument liabilities totaled $11,207,214 at December 31,2009. Management expects that the warrants will either be
exercised or expire worthless, at which point the then existing derivative liability will be credited to stockholders’ equity. The fair value of the Warrants at December 31, 2009 was determined by using the Black-Scholes
model assuming a risk free interest rate of 2.42% for the 2009 Warrants and 1.55% for the 2007 Warrants, volatility of 72.47% for the 2009 Warrants and 85.58% for the 2007 Warrants and an expected life equal to the
contractual life of the Warrants (June 2014 and September 2012, respectively).
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Item 8.   Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
 
Financial Statements:  
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-1
Balance Sheets at December 31, 2009 and 2008 F-2
Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007 and cumulative from inception (August 5, 1988) to December 31, 2009 F-3
Statements of Other Comprehensive Loss for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, 2007 and cumulative from inception (August 5, 1988) to December 31, 2009 F-4
Statements of Stockholders’ Equity, cumulative from inception (August 5, 1988) to December 31, 2009 F-5-F-7
Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007 and cumulative from inception (August 5, 1988) to December 31, 2009 F-8
Notes to Financial Statements F-9-F-21
Supplementary Data: Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited), Note (7), “Notes to Financial Statements” in this Part II, Item 8.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 
To the Board of Directors and
Stockholders of Delcath Systems, Inc.
 
We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Delcath Systems, Inc. (“Company”) as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the related statements of operations, other comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and
cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2009 and cumulative from inception (August 5, 1988) to December 31, 2009. We also have audited the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2009, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Delcath
Systems Inc.’s management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and an opinion
on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audits.
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinions.
 
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and (3)
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
 
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Delcath Systems, Inc. as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2009 and cumulative from inception (August 5, 1988) to December 31, 2009 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. Also, in our opinion, Delcath Systems Inc. maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009, based on criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).
 
/s/ CCR LLP
 
Glastonbury, CT
February 24, 2010
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 DELCATH SYSTEMS, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)

Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2009 and 2008

  December 31,   December 31,  
  2009   2008  

 Assets       
Current assets       

 Cash and cash equivalents  $ 35,486,319  $ 6,939,233 
 Investments – certificates of deposit   —   3,847,904 
 Investments - treasury bills   —   200,710 
 Prepaid expenses and other assets   799,416   353,346 

 Total current assets   36,285,735   11,341,193 
             Property, plant and equipment         

  Furniture and fixtures   36,800   23,170 
  Computers and equipment   78,063   21,030 
  Leasehold improvements   431,425   — 

   546,288   44,200 
  Less: accumulated depreciation   (24,982)   (26,711)
  Property, plant and equipment, net   521,306   17,489 

                     Total assets  $ 36,807,041  $ 11,358,682 
 Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity         

Current liabilities         
 Accounts payable and accrued expenses  $ 1,841,480  $ 703,489 
 Derivative instrument liabilities   11,207,214   448,318 

 Total current liabilities   13,048,694   1,151,807 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 5)   —   — 
Stockholders' equity         

     Preferred stock, $.01 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding   —   — 
     Common stock, $.01 par value; 70,000,000 shares authorized; 36,223,097 and 25,383,354 shares issued and 36,194,997 and 25,355,254 outstanding at December

31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively   362,231   253,834 
 Additional paid-in capital   92,835,174   57,343,507 
 Deficit accumulated during development stage   (69,371,755)   (47,315,163)
 Treasury stock, at cost: 28,100 shares at December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008   (51,103)   (51,103)

             Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (16,200)   (24,200)
 Total stockholders' equity   23,758,347   10,206,875 
 Total liabilities and stockholders' equity  $ 36,807,041  $ 11,358,682 

See Accompanying Notes to these Financial Statements.
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 DELCATH SYSTEMS, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)

Statements of Operations
for the Years Ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007, and

Cumulative from Inception (August 5, 1988) to December 31, 2009
 

  Year ended December 31,   

Cumulative
from inception

 (August 5, 1988)
To  

  2009   2008   2007   December 31, 2009  
Costs and expenses             
             

 General and administrative expenses  $ 3,898,705  $ 2,687,688  $ 2,671,782  $ 26,677,804 
 Research and development costs   9,637,050   5,378,335   4,241,517   39,034,466 

                 
Total costs and expenses   13,535,755   8,066,023   6,913,299   65,712,270 

                 
 Operating loss   (13,535,755)   (8,066,023)   (6,913,299)   (65,712,270)

                 
 Derivative instrument (expense) income   (8,567,917)   1,103,682   2,717,000   (4,747,235)
 Interest income   73,833   299,956   532,793   2,860,581 
 Other expense   (26,753)   (202,500)   —   (102,753)
 Interest expense   —   —   —   (171,473)

                 
 Net loss  $ (22,056,592)  $ (6,864,885)  $ (3,663,506)  $ (67,873,150)

Common share data:                 
 Basic and diluted loss per share  $ (0.82)  $ (0.27)  $ (0.16)     

                 
 Weighted average number of basic and diluted common shares outstanding   27,072,556   25,300,703   22,321,488     

See Accompanying Notes to these Financial Statements.
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DELCATH SYSTEMS, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)

Statements of Other Comprehensive Loss
for the Years Ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007 and Cumulative from Inception (August 5, 1988) to December 31, 2009

  Years Ended December 31,     
  2009   2008   2007   Cumulative  
Other comprehensive loss:             
Net loss  $ (22,056,592)  $ (6,864,885)  $ (3,663,506)  $ (67,873,150)
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on investments   8,000   (24,200)   —   (16,200)
Other comprehensive loss  $ (22,048,592)  $ (6,889,085)  $ (3,663,506)  $ (67,889,350)
                 

See Accompanying Notes to these Financial Statements.

 
 

F-4



 
DELCATH SYSTEMS, INC.

(A Development Stage Company)
Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

Cumulative from Inception (August 5, 1988) to December 31, 2009
 

  Common stock $.01 par value                 
  Issued   In Treasury   Outstanding   Preferred Stock $0.01 Par Value        

  # of Shares  Amount  # of Shares  Amount  # of Shares  Amount  # of Shares   Amount   
Additional Paid-

in capital   

Deficit 
Accumulated

During Development Stage  Total  
Shares issued in connection with the formation of the
Company as of August 22, 1988   621,089  $ 6,211   -  $ -   621,089  $ 6,211  $ -  $ -  $ (5,211) $ -  $ 1,000 
Sale of Class A preferred stock, August 22, 1988   -   -   -   -   -   -   2,000,000   20,000   480,000   -   500,000 
Shares returned due to relevant technology
milestones not being fully achieved, March 8, 1990   -   -   (414,059)  (4,141)  (414,059)  (4,141)  -   -   4,141   -   - 
Sale of stock, October 2, 1990   -   -   17,252   173   17,252   173   -   -   24,827   -   25,000 
Sale of stock (common stock at $7.39 per share and
Class B preferred stock at $2.55 per share), January
23, 1991   -   -   46,522   465   46,522   465   416,675   4,167   1,401,690   -   1,406,322 
Sale of stock, August 30, 1991   -   -   1,353   14   1,353   14   -   -   9,987   -   10,001 
Sale of stock, December 31, 1992   -   -   103,515   1,035   103,515   1,035   -   -   1,013,969   -   1,015,004 
Sale of stock (including 10,318 warrants, each to
purchase one share of common stock at $10.87), July
15, 1994   -   -   103,239   1,032   103,239   1,032   -   -   1,120,968   -   1,122,000 
Sale of stock, December 19, 1996   -   -   39,512   395   39,512   395   -   -   999,605   -   1,000,000 
Shares issued (including 78,438 warrants each to
purchase one share of common stock at $10.87) in
connection with conversion of short-term borrowings
as of December 22, 1996   58,491   585   98,388   984   156,879   1,569   -   -   1,703,395   -   1,704,964 
Sale of stock, December 31, 1997   53,483   535   -   -   53,483   535   -   -   774,465   -   775,000 
Exercise of stock options   13,802   138   3,450   35   17,252   173   -   -   30,827   -   31,000 
Shares issued as compensation for consulting
services valued at $10.87 per share based on a 1996
agreement   2,345   23   828   8   3,173   31   -   -   34,454   -   34,485 
Shares issued in connection with exercise of
warrants   21,568   216   -   -   21,568   216   -   -   234,182   -   234,398 
Sale of stock, January 16, 1998   34,505   345   -   -   34,505   345   -   -   499,655   -   500,000 
Sale of stock, September 24, 1998   3,450   35   -   -   3,450   35   -   -   56,965   -   57,000 
Shares returned as a settlement of a dispute with a
former director at $1.45 per share, the price
originally paid, April 17, 1998   (3,450)  (35)  -   -   (3,450)  (35)  -   -   (4,965)  -   (5,000 
Exercise of stock options   8,626   86   -   -   8,626   86   -   -   67,414   -   67,500 
Sale of stock (including 5,218 warrants each to
purchase one share of common stock at $14.87),
June 30, 1999   46,987   470   -   -   46,987   470   -   -   775,722   -   776,192 
Shares issued in connection with exercise of
warrants   2,300   23   -   -   2,300   23   -   -   24,975   -   24,998 
Sale of stock, April 14, 2000   230,873   2,309   -   -   230,873   2,309   -   -   499,516   -   501,825 
Dividends paid on preferred stock   690,910   6,909   -   -   690,910   6,909   -   -   992,161   (1,498,605)  (499,535 
Conversion of preferred stock   833,873   8,339   -   -   833,873   8,339   (2,416,675)   (24,167)   15,828   -   - 
Sale of stock (including 1,200,000 warrants each to
purchase one share of common stock at $6.60),
October 19, 2000   1,200,000   12,000   -   -   1,200,000   12,000   -   -   5,359,468   -   5,371,468 

 
See Accompanying Notes to these Financial Statements.
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DELCATH SYSTEMS, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)

Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
Cumulative from Inception (August 5, 1988) to December 31, 2009

 
 

 Common stock $.01 par value       
 Issued  In Treasury  Outstanding     Deficit Accumulated  

 # of Shares  Amount  
# of

Shares  Amount  # of Shares Amount  
Additional Paid-

in capital  
During 

Development Stage  Total
Shares issued as compensation for stock sale 85,000   850  -   -  85,000  850   (850)   -   -
1,720 stock options (including 1,720 warrants each to
purchase one share of common stock at $6.00), issued
as compensation -   -  -   -  -  -   3,800   -   3,800
Sum of fractional common shares cancelled after year
2000 stock splits (36)   (1)  -   -  (36)  (1)   1   -   -
Stock warrants (150,000 at $7.00 and 150,000 at
$6.60) issued as compensation -   -  -   -  -  -   198,000   -   198,000
Sale of stock on April 3, 2002 243,181   2,432  -   -  243,181  2,432   265,068   -   267,500
Repurchases of stock, November and December 2002      (28,100)   (51,103)  (28,100)  (51,103)   -   -   (51,103
Amortization since inception of compensatory stock
options -   -  -   -  -  -   3,760,951   -   3,760,951
Forfeiture since inception of stock options -   -  -   -  -  -   (1,240,780)   -   (1,240,780
Sale of stock (including 3,895,155 warrants to
purchase one share of common stock at $0.775) on
May 20, 2003 including underwriter's exercise of over
allotment option 3,895,155   38,952  -   -  3,895,155  38,952   1,453,696   -   1,492,648
Proceeds from sale of unit option, 2003 -   -  -   -  -  -   68   -   68
Exercise of warrants, 2003 1,730,580   17,305  -   -  1,730,580  17,305   1,273,895   -   1,291,200
Sale of stock, 2004 2,793,975   27,940  -   -  2,793,975  27,940   5,622,690   -   5,650,630
Exercise of Warrants, 2004 20,265   203  -   -  20,265  203   26,547   -   26,750
Stock options issued as compensation, 2004 -   -  -   -  -  -   5,222   -   5,222
Exercise of warrants, 2005 4,841,843   48,419  -   -  4,841,843  48,419   7,637,183   -   7,878,484
Exercise of stock options, 2005 659,000   6,590  -   -  659,000  6,590   569,180   -   575,770
Stock options issued as compensation, 2005 -   -  -   -  -  -   8,270   -   8,270
Sale of stock, November, 2005 753,013   7,530  -   -  753,013  7,530   2,302,471   -   2,310,001
Shares issued as compensation, 2005 36,925   369  -   -  36,925  369   103,056   -   103,425
Deficit accumulated from inception to December 31,
2005 -   -  -   -  -  -   -   (24,336,562)   (24,336,562)
Balance at December 31, 2005 18,877,753  $ 188,778  (28,100)  $ (51,103)  18,849,653 $ 137,675  $ 38,295,388  $ (25,835,167)  $ 12,597,896
Vesting of stock options, 2006 -   -  -   -  -  -   446,000   -   446,000
Stock options issued as compensation, 2006 -   -  -   -  -  -   505,282   -   505,282
Exercise of warrants, 2006 1,606,928  $ 16,069  -   -  1,606,928 $ 16,069   4,877,586   -   4,893,655
Exercise of stock options, 2006 104,182   1,042  -   -  104,182  1,042   295,024   -   296,066
Shares issued in connection with settlement of
Consent Solicitation lawsuit, 2006 100,000   1,000  -   -  100,000  1,000   305,000   -   306,000
Net loss, 2006 -   -  -   -  -  -      (10,951,605)   (10,951,605)
Balance at December 31, 2006 20,688,863  $ 206,889  (28,100)  $  (51,103)  20,660,763 $ 155,786  $ 44,724,280  $ (36,786,772)  $ 8,093,294

See Accompanying Notes to these Financial Statements.
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DELCATH SYSTEMS, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)

Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
Cumulative from Inception (August 5, 1988) to December 31, 2009

  

Common Stock
$0.01 Par Value

Issued and Outstanding   In Treasury             

  # of Shares  Amount   # of Shares   Amount   

Additional
Paid-in
Capital   

Deficit
Accumulated

During
Development

Stage   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss   Total

Exercise of stock options, 2007   715,413   7,154   -   -   1,793,029   -   -   1,800,183 
Shares issued as compensation, 2007   50,000   500   -   -   210,500   -   -   211,000 
Sale of stock (including 1,916,554 warrants each to purchase one share
of common stock at $4.53), 2007   3,833,108   38,331   -   -   8,995,936   -   -   9,034,267 
Compensation expense for issuance of stock options, 2007   -   -   -   -   953,610   -   -   953,610 
Net loss, 2007   -   -   -   -   -   (3,663,506)   -   (3,663,506)
Balance at December 31, 2007   25,287,384  $ 252,874   (28,100)  $ (51,103)  $ 56,677,355  $ (40,450,278)  $ -  $ 16,428,848 
Cashless exercise of stock options, 2008   970   10   -   -   1,940   -   -   1,950 
Shares issued as compensation, 2008   95,000   950   -   -   205,950   -   -   206,900 
Compensation expense for restricted stock, 2008   -   -   -   -   80,666   -   -   80,666 
Compensation expense for issuance of stock options, 2008   -   -   -   -   377,596   -   -   377,596 
Change in unrealized loss on investments, 2008   -   -   -   -   -   -   (24,200)   (24,200)
Net loss, 2008   -   -   -   -   -   (6,864,885)   -   (6,864,885)
Balance at December 31, 2008   25,383,354  $ 253,834   (28,100)  $ (51,103)  $ 57,343,507  $ (47,315,163)  $ (24,200)  $ 10,206,875 
Compensation expense for restricted stock, 2009   91,666   916   -   -   735,500   -   -   736,416 
Compensation expense for issuance of stock options, 2009   -   -   -   -   1,578,673   -   -   1,578,673 

Sale of stock (including 1,043,478 warrants to purchase one share of
common stock at $3.99), 2009   869,565   8,696   -   -   467,559   -   -   476,255 
Exercise of warrants   103,512   1,035   -   -   355,049   -   -   356,084 
Sale of stock, net of expenses, November 2009   9,775,000   97,750   -   -   32,354,886   -   -   32,452,636 
Change in unrealized loss on investments   -   -   -   -   -   -   8,000   8,000 
Net loss   -   -   -   -   -   (22,056,592)   -   (22,056,592)
Balance at December 31, 2009   36,223,097  $ 362,231   (28,100)  $ (51,103)  $ 92,835,174  $ (69,371,755)  $ (16,200)  $ 23,758,347 
                                 

See Accompanying Notes to these Financial Statements.
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DELCATH SYSTEMS, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)

 Statements of Cash Flows
for the Years Ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007 and

Cumulative from Inception (August 5, 1988) to December 31, 2009

           Cumulative  
           from inception  
           (August 5, 1988)  
  Year ended December 31,   to  
  2009   2008   2007   December 31, 2009  
Cash flows from operating activities:             

 Net loss  $ (22,056,592)  $ (6,864,885)  $ (3,663,506)  $ (67,873,150)
 Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:                 

Stock option compensation expense   1,578,673   379,546   1,404,610   6,938,939 
Stock and warrant compensation expense   736,416   287,566   211,000   1,880,694 
Depreciation expense   7,981   5,861   4,323   59,743 
Amortization of organization costs   —   —   —   42,165 
Loss on disposal of equipment   3,442   —   —   3,442 
Derivative liability fair value adjustment   8,567,917   (1,103,682)   (2,717,000)   4,747,235 
Non-cash interest income   —   —   —   (7,904)

 Changes in assets and liabilities:                 
Increase in prepaid expenses and other assets   (438,070)   (5,894)   (263,535)   (769,416)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued expenses   1,137,991   578,211   (545,089)   1,841,480 

Net cash used in operating activities   (10,462,242)   (6,723,277)   (5,569,197)   (53,136,772)
Cash flows from investing activities:                 

Purchase of equipment, furniture and fixtures   (515,440)   (8,313)   (15,641)   (584,692)
Proceeds from sale of equipment   200   —   —   200 
Purchase of short-term investments   —   (200,710)   (9,878,700)   (41,411,452)
Purchase of marketable equity securities   —   (46,200)   —   (46,200)
Proceeds from maturities of short-term   investments   4,048,614   9,878,700   2,408,302   41,419,356 
Organization costs   —   —   —   (42,165)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities   3,533,374   9,623,477   (7,486,039)   (664,953)
Cash flows from financing activities:                 

Net proceeds from sale of stock and exercise of stock options and warrants   35,475,954   —   14,652,450   88,133,718 
Repurchases of common stock   —   —   —   (51,103)
Dividends paid on preferred stock   —   —   —   (499,535)
Proceeds from short-term borrowings   —   —   —   1,704,964 

Net cash provided by financing activities   35,475,954   —   14,652,450   89,288,044 
Increase in cash and cash equivalents   28,547,086   2,900,200   1,597,214   35,486,319 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   6,939,233   7,886,937   6,289,723   — 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 35,486,319  $ 10,787,137  $ 7,886,937  $ 35,486,319 
Supplemental cash flow information:                 

 Cash paid for interest  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 171,473 
Supplemental non-cash activities:                 

 Cashless exercise of stock options  $ —  $ 1,950  $ 451,000  $ 544,116 
 Conversion of debt to common stock  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 1,704,964 
 Common stock issued for preferred stock dividends  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 999,070 
 Conversion of preferred stock to common stock  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 24,167 
 Common stock issued as compensation for stock sale  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 510,000 
 Fair value of warrants issued  $ 2,190,979  $ —  $ 4,269,000  $ 6,459,979 

See Accompanying Notes to these Financial Statements.
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DELCATH SYSTEMS, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)

Notes to Financial Statements
for the Years Ending December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007

 
(1) Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 

(a)           Description of Business
Delcath Systems, Inc. (the “Company”) is developing the Delcath Percutaneous Hepatic Perfusion System, or the Delcath PHP System, an innovative drug delivery system designed to treat cancers of the
liver.  The System provides regional therapy by isolating the circulatory system of the liver in order to directly deliver high doses of therapeutic agents, while controlling the systemic exposure of those
agents.  The Delcath PHP System is minimally invasive and repeatable. We believe that the Delcath PHP System is a platform technology that may have broader applicability to other organs and body
regions. The most advanced application being tested with the Delcath PHP System is for the treatment of primary and secondary cancers of the liver.  In our initial application, the Delcath PHP System
isolates the liver from the patient’s general circulatory system in order to deliver high doses of melphalan hydrochloride, an approved chemotherapeutic drug, directly to the liver. We are currently
conducting a Phase III trial and a multi-arm Phase II trial of the Delcath PHP System with melphalan in patients with liver cancers.

(b)           Basis of Financial Statement Presentation
The accounting and financial reporting policies of the Company conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with GAAP requires management to make assumptions and estimates that impact the amounts reported in those statements. Such assumptions and estimates are subject to change in the future
as additional information becomes available or as circumstances are modified. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

 
(c)           Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost and are being depreciated on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets which range from three to five years. Leasehold
improvements of $431,425 at December 31, 2009 will be amortized over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful life of the related assets when they are placed into service, which is anticipated
to be fiscal year 2010. Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was $7,981, $5,861, and $4,323, respectively. Maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as
incurred. Expenditures which substantially increase the useful lives of the related assets are capitalized.

 
(d)           Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes following the asset and liability method in accordance with the FASB ASC 740 “Income Taxes.” Under such method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. The Company’s
income tax returns were prepared on the cash basis of accounting through December 31, 2008. The Company has filed Form 3115, Application for Change in Method of Accounting, to change its tax
accounting method from the cash basis to accrual basis for years beginning after December 31, 2008. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable
income in the years that the asset is expected to be recovered or the liability settled. See Note 4 for additional information.
 

(e)           Stock Option Plan
The Company accounts for its share-based compensation in accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC 718, which establishes accounting for equity instruments exchanged for employee
services.  Under the provisions of FASB ASC 718, share-based compensation is measured at the grant date, based upon the fair value of the award, and is recognized as an expense over the option holders’
requisite service period (generally the vesting period of the equity grant). The Company is required to record compensation cost for all share-based payments granted based upon the grant date fair value,
estimated in accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC 718. The Company has expensed its share-based compensation for share-based payments granted under the ratable method, which treats each
vesting tranche as if it were an individual grant.

The Company periodically grants stock options for a fixed number of shares of common stock to its employees, directors and non-employee contractors, with an exercise price greater than or equal to the
fair market value of our common stock at the date of the grant.  The Company estimates the fair value of stock options using a Black-Scholes valuation model.  Key inputs used to estimate the fair value of
stock options include the exercise price of the award,
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the expected post-vesting option life, the expected volatility of our stock over the option’s expected term, the risk-free interest rate over the option’s expected term, and our expected annual dividend
yield.  Estimates of fair value are not intended to predict actual future events or the value ultimately realized by persons who receive equity awards.  See Note 3 for additional information.    

 
(f)           Derivative Instrument Liability

The Company accounts for derivative instruments in accordance with FASB ASC 815, which establishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative instruments and hedging activities, including
certain derivative instruments embedded in other financial instruments or contracts and requires recognition of all derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value, regardless of the hedging relationship
designation. Accounting for changes in the fair value of the derivative instruments depends on whether the derivatives qualify as hedge relationships and the types of relationships designated are based on
the exposures hedged. At December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company did not have any derivative instruments that were designated as hedges.

Derivative instrument expense of $8,567,917, derivative instrument income of $1,103,682, and derivative instrument income of $2,717,000 for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007
respectively, reflect a non-cash mark-to-market adjustment for the derivative instrument liability resulting from warrants issued in connection with the private placements completed by the Company in
September 2007 and June 2009.  See Note 6 for additional information.

(g)           Fair Value Measurements
On January 1, 2008, the Company adopted FASB ASC 820, which defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements.  FASB
ASC 820 applies to reported balances that are required or permitted to be measured at fair value under existing accounting pronouncements; accordingly, the standard does not require any new fair value
measurements of reported balances. The FASB has partially delayed the effective date for one year for certain fair value measurements when those measurements are used for financial statement items that
are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

FASB ASC 820 emphasizes that fair value is a market-based measurement, not an entity-specific measurement.  Therefore, a fair value measurement should be determined based on the assumptions that
market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.  As a basis for considering market participant assumptions in fair value measurements, FASB ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy that
distinguishes between market participant assumptions based on market data obtained from sources independent of the reporting entity (observable inputs that are classified within Levels 1 and 2 of the
hierarchy) and the reporting entity’s own assumptions about market participant assumptions (unobservable inputs classified within Level 3 of the hierarchy).

Level 1 inputs utilize quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to access. Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included in
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. Level 2 inputs may include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, as well as inputs that are
observable for the asset or liability (other than quoted prices), such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, and yield curves that are observable at commonly quoted intervals. Level 3 inputs are
unobservable inputs for the asset or liability, which is typically based on an entity’s own assumptions, as there is little, if any, related market activity. In instances where the determination of the fair value
measurement is based on inputs from different levels of the fair value hierarchy, the level in the fair value hierarchy within which the entire fair value measurement falls is based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment, and
considers factors specific to the asset or liability.

(h)           Net Loss per Common Share
For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 potential common shares from the exercise of options and warrants and the vesting of restricted stock were excluded from the computation of
diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) because their effects would be antidilutive. In addition, common stock purchase rights issuable only in the event that a non-affiliated person or group acquires 20% of the
Company’s then outstanding common stock have been excluded from the EPS computation.

(i)           Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs include the costs of materials, personnel, outside services and applicable indirect costs incurred in development of the Company’s proprietary drug delivery system. All
such costs are charged to expense when incurred.
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(j)           Cash Equivalents and Concentrations of Credit Risk

The Company considers highly liquid debt instruments with original maturities of three months or less at date of acquisition to be cash equivalents. The Company has deposits that exceed amounts insured
by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), however, the Company does not consider this a significant concentration of credit risk based on the strength of the financial institution.

 
(k)           Investments

The Company accounts for its investments in debt and equity instruments under FASB ASC 320. The Company classified its investments as available-for-sale. Management determines the appropriate
classification of such securities at the time of purchase and reevaluates such classification as of each balance sheet date.

In 2009, marketable securities are stated at fair value with the related unrealized gains and losses included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), a component of stockholders’ equity. The
Company follows the guidance provided by FASB ASC 320 to assess whether our investments with unrealized loss positions are other than temporarily impaired. Realized gains and losses and declines in
value judged to be other than temporary are determined based on the specific identification method. To date, only temporary impairment charges have been recorded. See Note 6 for additional information.

 
(l)           Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.
 

(m)           Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In January 2009, the Company adopted FASB ASC 815-10-65, which requires enhanced disclosures about (a) how and why an entity uses derivative instruments, (b) how derivative instruments and
related hedged items are accounted for, and (c) how derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an entity's financial position, financial performance, and cash flows. The adoption of FASB ASC
815-10-65 did not have a material impact on the financial statements.

In July 2009, the Company adopted FASB ASC 855-10 which requires the Company to evaluate events occurring between the end of the year being reported and the date the financial statements are issued
or are available to be issued.  The Company evaluated subsequent events after the balance sheet date of December 31, 2009 through February 24, 2010.

In October 2009, the Company adopted FASB ASC 105-10, which establishes the FASB ASC as the source of authoritative principles and standards to be applied in the preparation of financial statements
in conformity with GAAP. As FASB ASC is not intended to change or alter existing GAAP, it will not impact our financial statements.

(2) Investments
The Company’s investments consist of common stock in Aethlon Medical, Inc., which is included in the prepaid expenses and other assets caption of the Company’s balance sheets.

In January 2008, the Company entered into a research and development agreement with Aethlon Medical, Inc., (“AEMD”) a publicly traded company whose securities are quoted on the Over the Counter
Bulletin Board.  As part of this agreement, the Company purchased 100,000 shares of restricted common stock of AEMD. The Company allocated $46,200 of the cost of the agreement to the fair value of
the common stock acquired, using the closing stock price at the date of the agreement and then discounting that value due to certain sale restrictions on the stock being held.  In September 2008, the sale
restriction on the stock being held lapsed and as a result the fair value of the stock is no longer being discounted.  The investment is classified as an available for sale security and had a fair value as of
December 31, 2009 and 2008 of $30,000 and $22,000, respectively, resulting in a gross unrealized loss of $16,200 and $24,200 as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively, and is included as a
component of comprehensive loss.

 
 (3) Stockholders’ Equity
 

(a)           Stock Issuances
On October 30, 2001, the Company entered into a Rights Agreement with American Stock Transfer & Trust Company (the “Rights Agreement”) in connection with the implementation of the Company’s
stockholder rights
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plan (the “Rights Plan”). The purposes of the Rights Plan are to deter, and protect the Company’s shareholders from, certain coercive and otherwise unfair takeover tactics and to enable the board of
directors to represent effectively the interests of shareholders in the event of a takeover attempt. The Rights Plan does not deter negotiated mergers or business combinations that the board of directors
determines to be in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. To implement the Rights Plan, the board of directors declared a dividend of one Common Stock purchase right (a “Right”) for
each share of Common Stock of the Company, par value $0.01 per share (the “Common Stock”) outstanding at the close of business on November 14, 2001 (the “Record Date”) or issued by the Company
on or after such date and prior to the earlier of the Distribution Date, the Redemption Date or the Final Expiration Date (as such terms are defined in the Rights Agreement). The rights expire October 30,
2011. Each Right entitles the registered holder, under specified circumstances, to purchase from the Company for $5.00, subject to adjustment (the “Purchase Price”), a number of shares determined by
dividing the then applicable Purchase Price by 50% of the then current market price per share in the event that a person or group announces that it has acquired, or intends to acquire, 15% or more of the
Company’s outstanding Common Stock. On April 9, 2007 the board of directors voted to increase the threshold level to 20%.

During 2006, the Company received net proceeds of $4,893,655 upon the exercise of 1,606,928 Common Stock Warrants that resulted in the issuance of 1,606,928 shares of common stock.
 
The Company received a net amount of $204,900 upon the exercise of 220,000 stock options during 2006. 70,000 options were exercised at a price of $2.78 per share; 10,000 were exercised at a price of
$1.03 per share; and a cashless exercise of 70,000 options with an exercise price of $2.78 per share and 70,000 options with an exercise price of $3.59 per share collectively resulting in the issuance of
24,182 shares of common stock.
 
During 2006, the Company issued 100,000 shares of common stock having a value of $3.06 per share on the date of issuance to Laddcap Value Partners LP as partial reimbursement for its expenses
associated with the settlement of a lawsuit relating to its solicitation of written consents from the Company’s stockholders.
 
The Company received a net amount of $1,349,184 upon the exercise of stock options for 617,850 shares of common stock, $0.01 par value per share during 2007. Of those options: (i) 100,000 were
exercised at a price of $0.71 per share, (ii) 126,000 were exercised at a price of $1.03 per share, (iii) 20,000 were exercised at a price of $1.32 per share, (iv) 200,000 were exercised at a price of $2.78 per
share, (v) 100,000 were exercised at a price of $3.28 per share, and (vi) 71,850 were exercised at a price of $3.31 per share.

During 2007, a cashless exercise of 70,000 options with an exercise price of $2.78 per share, 140,000 options with an exercise price of $3.59 per share, 80,000 options with an exercise price of $3.28 per
share, and 60,300 options with an exercise price of $3.31 per share collectively resulted in the issuance of 97,563 shares of common stock.
 
During 2007, the Company issued 50,000 shares of common stock to its former President and Chief Executive Officer that had an issuance value of $3.95 per share for the 25,000 issued on May 24, 2007
and $4.49 for the 25,000 shares issued on July 2, 2007. The Company recorded compensation expense of $211,000 relating to the stock issuance.

In September 2007, the Company completed the sale of 3,833,108 shares of its common stock and the issuance of warrants to purchase 1,916,554 common shares (the “2007 Warrants” and together with
the 2009 Warrants, the “Warrants”) in a private placement to institutional and accredited investors. The Company received net proceeds of $13,303,267 in this transaction. The Company allocated
$4,269,000 of the total proceeds to 2007 Warrants (see below). The 2007 Warrants were initially exercisable at $4.53 per share beginning six months after the issuance thereof and on or prior to the fifth
anniversary of the issuance thereof. As required by the 2007 Warrant agreement, both the exercise price and number of warrants were adjusted following the Company’s June 9, 2009 sale of common
stock. The 2007 Warrants are currently exercisable at $3.44 per share with 2,420,324 warrants outstanding. The shares were issued pursuant to an effective registration statement on Form S-3.

 
During 2008, the Company issued 95,000 shares of common stock to senior management and the board of directors at the fair market value of the stock at the date of issuance, resulting in the Company
recording compensation expense of $206,900.

 
In July 2008, the Company granted 200,000 restricted shares of common stock to a member of senior management that was scheduled to vest in equal increments over three years on the anniversary date
of the agreement.  The Company recorded $80,666 of compensation expense relating to the restricted stock agreement during 2008 and $80,667 of compensation expense during 2009.  The unvested
portion of this stock grant, 133,334 shares, was forfeited during the fourth quarter of 2009.
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In September 2008, a cashless exercise of 15,000 options with an exercise price of $1.88 per share resulted in the issuance of 970 shares of common stock and compensation expense of $1,950.
 

In June 2009, the Company completed the sale of 869,565 shares of its common stock and the issuance of warrants to purchase 1,043,478 common shares (the “2009 Warrants”) pursuant to a subscription
agreement with a single investor. The Company received gross proceeds of $2,999,999, with net cash proceeds after related expenses from this transaction of approximately $2.67 million. Of those
proceeds, the Company allocated an estimated fair value of $2,190,979 to the 2009 Warrants (see below), resulting in net proceeds of $476,255. The fair value of the 2009 Warrants on June 15, 2009 was
determined using the Black-Scholes model assuming a risk free interest rate of 2.75%, volatility of 72.93% and an expected life equal to the contractual life of the warrants (June 2014). The 2009 Warrants
are exercisable at $3.60 per share and have a five-year term. The shares and warrants were issued pursuant to an effective registration statement on Form S-3 (333-143280, as amended by 333-159857).

 
The $2,190,979 in proceeds allocated to the 2009 Warrants and the $4,269,000 in proceeds allocated to the 2007 Warrants are classified as derivative instrument liabilities. The terms of the Warrants
provide for potential adjustment in the exercise price and are therefore considered to be derivative instrument liabilities that are subject to mark-to-market adjustment each period. As a result, for the
twelve month period ended December 31, 2009, the Company recorded pre-tax derivative instrument expense of $8,567,917. The resulting derivative instrument liabilities totaled $11,207,214 at December
31,2009. Management expects that the Warrants will either be exercised or expire worthless, at which point the then existing derivative instrument liabilities will be credited to stockholders’ equity. The
fair value of the Warrants at December 31, 2009was determined by using the Black-Scholes model assuming a risk free interest rate of 2.42% for the 2009 Warrants and 1.55% for the 2007 Warrants,
volatility of 72.47% for the 2009 Warrants and 85.58% for the 2007 Warrants and an expected life equal to the contractual life of the Warrants (June 2014 and September 2012, respectively).

 
In November 2009, the Company completed the sale of 9,775,000 shares of its common stock in a public offering pursuant to an underwriting agreement. The Company received gross proceeds of
$35,190,000, with net cash proceeds after related expenses from this transaction of approximately $32.5 million. The shares were issued pursuant to an effective registration statement on Form S-3 (333-
159913).

 
During 2009, the Company granted 387,910 shares of common stock to management and the board of directors at the fair market value of the stock at the date of grant.  Of the total shares granted 25,000
shares vested immediately upon issuance, 50,000 shares vested upon the completion of the capital raise in November 2009 and were issued in January 2010, and the remaining 312,910 shares vest over
periods ranging from twelve to thirty-six months. The Company recorded compensation expense of $655,749 during 2009 and will expense the remaining $1,373,718 of compensation expense over the
vesting period.

 
During 2009, the Company issued 103,512 shares of common stock upon the exercise of warrants for total cash proceeds of $356,084.

 
(b)           Common Stock Repurchases

Pursuant to a stock repurchase plan approved in 2002 by the Company’s board of directors, the Company repurchased 28,100 shares of common stock for $51,103 during 2002. The Company had been
authorized by the board of directors to purchase up to seven percent of its then outstanding common stock (290,289).

 
(c)           Stock Option Plans

The Company established the 2000 Stock Option Plan, the 2001 Stock Option Plan, the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, and the 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (collectively, the “Plans”) under which 300,000,
750,000, 3,000,000, and 2,000,000 shares, respectively, were reserved for the issuance of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, stock grants and other equity awards. A stock option
grant allows the holder of the option to purchase a share of the Company’s common stock in the future at a stated price. The Plans are administered by the Compensation and Stock Option Committee of
the board of directors which determines the individuals to whom awards shall be granted as well as the type, terms and conditions of each award, the option price and the duration of each award.
 
During 2000, 2001, 2004 and 2009, respectively, the 2000 and 2001 Stock Option Plans and the 2004 and 2009 Stock Incentive Plans became effective. Options granted under the Plans vest as determined
by the Company’s Compensation and Stock Option Committee and expire over varying terms, but not more than ten years from the date of grant. Stock option activity for 2009, 2008, and 2007 is as
follows:
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  The Plans  

  Stock Options   
Exercise Price

per Share   
Weighted Average

Exercise Price   

Weighted 
Average

 Remaining 
Life

(Years)  
Outstanding at December 31, 2006   1,465,650  $ 0.71–3.59  $ 2.87   3.57 
Granted   845,000   1.88–7.14   4.98     
Expired   (202,500)   3.59   3.59     
Exercised   (968,150)   0.71–3.59   2.59     
Outstanding at December 31, 2007   1,140,000  $ 1.88–7.14  $ 4.54   3.96 
Granted   525,000   1.23–3.45   1.76     
Expired   (190,000)   1.88–7.14   5.54     
Exercised   (15,000)   1.88   1.88     
Outstanding at December 31, 2008   1,460,000  $ 1.23–6.18  $ 3.44   3.68 
Granted   1,885,000   1.24-6.09   3.94     
Expired   —             
Exercised   —             
Outstanding at December 31, 2009   3,345,000  $ 1.23–6.18  $ 3.72   6.58 

At December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, options for 1,828,084, 1,286,666, and 1,023,333, respectively, were exercisable at a weighted average exercise price of $3.42, $3.42, and $4.52, per share, and a
weighted average remaining term of 4.21, 2.98, and 2.45 years, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2009 is $3.4 million. The aggregate
intrinsic value represents the total pretax intrinsic value, based on options with an exercise price less than the Company’s closing stock price of $5.11 as of December 31, 2009, which would have been
received by the option holders had those option holders exercised their options as of that date.
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The estimated fair value of each option award granted was determined on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model with the following weighted-average assumptions for option grants during the
years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007:

 

  Years Ended December 31,
  2009  2008  2007

Risk-free interest rate  2.44%  1.97%  4.60%
Expected volatility of common stock  74.58%  70.72%  57.56%
Dividend yield  0.00%  0.00%  0.00%
Expected option term (in years)  5.32  2.60  2.58
Grant date fair value  2.61  0.68  1.33

No dividend yield was assumed because the Company has never paid a cash dividend on its common stock. Volatilities were developed using the Company’s historical volatility.  The risk-free interest rate
was developed using the U.S. Treasury yield for periods equal to the expected life of the stock options on the grant date. The expected holding period was developed based on the mid-point between the
vesting date and the expiration date of each respective grant as permitted under FASB ASC 718-10-S99. This method of determining the expected holding period was utilized because the Company does
not have sufficient historical experience from which to estimate the period.

A summary of the Company’s non-vested options to purchase shares as of December 31, 2009 and changes during the twelve months ended December 31, 2009 is presented below:
 
 Non-Vested Options  

 Number of Options  
Weighted Average

Fair Value  
     
Non-vested at January 1, 2009   173,334  $ 1.34 
Granted   1,725,000   4.05 
Vested   (381,418)   3.67 
Forfeited   –     
Non-vested at December 31, 2009   1,516,916  $ 4.09 

Total compensation expense recognized relating to stock option grants totaled $1,578,673, $377,596, and $953,610 in 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively. Additional compensation expense of $3,491,886,
relating to the unvested portion of stock options granted, is expected to be recognized over a remaining average period of 2.21 years.
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 (d) Warrants

A summary of warrant activity is as follows:
 

  The Plans  

  Warrants   
Exercise Price

per Share   
Weighted Average

Exercise Price   

Weighted Average
Remaining Life

(Years)  
Outstanding at December 31, 2006   564,033  $ 1.02–3.91  $ 3.41   3.04 
Issued   1,916,554   4.53   4.53     
Exercised   –             
Expired   –             
Outstanding at December 31, 2007   2,480,587  $ 1.02–4.53  $ 4.27   4.13 
Issued   –             
Exercised   –             
Expired   (16,500)   1.02–1.28   1.15     
Outstanding at December 31, 2008   2,464,087  $ 3.01–4.53  $ 4.30   3.15 
Issued   1,650,760   3.44–3.60   3.54     
Exercised   (103,512)   3.44   3.44     
Expired   (265,151)   3.01   3.01     
Outstanding at December 31, 2009   3,746,184  $ 3.44–3.91  $ 3.52   3.08 

(4) Income Taxes
 

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount computed by applying the statutory rate as follows: 
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2009   2008   2007  
Income taxes using U.S. federal statutory rate  $ (7,643,253)  $ (2,334,061)  $ (1,245,592)
State income taxes, net of federal benefit   (674,624)   (410,495)   (46,582)
Valuation allowance   5,671,082   3,226,441   1,813,480 
Derivative charge   2,913,092   (375,252)   (923,780)
Expiration of net operating losses   –   –   207,061 
Research and development credits   (345,404)   (211,208)   – 
Other   79,107   104,575   195,413 
  $ –  $ –  $ – 
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 Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets are as follows: 
  2009   2008  
Deferred tax assets:       
Employee compensation accruals  $ 1,507,000  $ 861,000 
Accrual to cash   –   145,000 
Research tax credits   557,000   211,000 
Net operating losses   17,417,000   12,369,000 
Total deferred tax assets   19,481,000   13,586,000 
         
Deferred tax liability:         
Valuation allowance   19,481,000   13,586,000 
Net deferred tax assets  $ –  $ – 
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As of December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes of approximately $54,693,000 and $42,885,000, respectively. A portion of the
federal amount, $11,879,000, is subject to an annual limitation of approximately $123,000 as a result of a change in the Company’s ownership through May 2003, as defined by federal Internal Revenue Code
Section 382 and the related income tax regulations.  As a result of the limitation, $45,222,000 is available to offset future federal taxable income which expires through 2029. As of December 31, 2009 and
December 31, 2008, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards for state income tax purposes of approximately $49,008,000 and $35,403,000, respectively, which expire through 2029.

Management has established a 100% valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets as management does not believe it is more likely than not that these assets will be realized. The Company’s valuation
allowance increased by approximately $5.9 million, $3.2 million and $1.8 million in 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively.

The Company has a tax benefit of approximately $373,000 related to the exercise of non qualified stock options. Pursuant to FASB ASC 718, the benefit will be recognized and recorded to APIC when the benefit
is realized through the reduction of taxes payable.

The Company complies with the provisions of FASB ASC 740-10 in accounting for its uncertain tax positions.  ASC 740-10 addresses the determination of whether tax benefits claimed or expected to be claimed
on a tax return should be recorded in the financial statements. Under ASC 740-10, the Company may recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely that not that the tax position
will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The Company has determined that the Company has no significant uncertain tax positions requiring
recognition under ASC 740-10.

The Company is subject to U.S. federal income tax as well as income tax of certain state jurisdictions. The Company has not been audited by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service or any states in connection with
income taxes. The periods from December 31, 2003 to December 31, 2009 remain open to examination by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service and state authorities.

We recognize interest accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits and penalties, if incurred, as a component of income tax expense.
 
(5) Commitments
 

(a)           Operating Leases
The Company currently occupies office space under a sublease that expires in July 2010. Annual fixed rent during the term of the lease is $221,000 per annum plus a pro-rata share of common area
maintenance, property taxes and insurance. Rent expense totaled approximately $221,000, $221,000, and $99,000 for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

On September 1, 2009, the Company entered into a three year lease with option to purchase (the “Lease”) with Fitzgerald Brothers Beverages, Inc. (the “Landlord”), for the real property and free standing
building thereon, containing approximately 10,320 square feet located at 566 Queensbury Avenue, Queensbury, NY (the “Facility”). The Facility will house the Company’s manufacturing operations. The
term of the Lease commenced on September
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1, 2009. Base rent on the Lease is $51,600 per year, payable in equal monthly installments of $4,300 on the first day of each month. The Company has an option to purchase the Facility upon delivery of
written notice to the Landlord at least 120 days prior to expiration of the Lease term. The purchase price for the Facility is $400,000 if the Company acquires the Facility by September 1, 2010, $425,000 if
the Company acquires the Facility by September 1, 2011, and $440,000 if the Company acquires the Facility by September 1, 2012.

(b)           Cooperative Research and Development Agreement
The Company’s five year Cooperative Research and Development Agreement (“CRADA”) for the development of the Delcath PHP System™ with the National Cancer Institute (“NCI”) expired on
December 14, 2006 and was extended for an additional five years to December 14, 2011. The principal goal of the CRADA is to continue the development of a novel form of regional cancer therapy by
designing clinical protocols utilizing the Delcath PHP System™ to regionally deliver chemotherapeutics to patients with unresectable malignancies confined to an organ or region of the body. Under the
five year extension, Delcath will pay $1,000,000 per year to the NCI for clinical support. These funds are payable in quarterly amounts of $250,000 and will be used for material support of the CRADA
(including equipment, supplies, travel, and other related CRADA support), as well as for support of existing or new scientific or clinical staff to be hired by NCI who are to perform work under the
CRADA. The Company incurred $1,000,000, in expenses related to this agreement for each of the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007. 

(c)           Letters of Credit
Under the terms of the sublease agreement for office space, the Company is required to maintain a letter of credit in the amount of $165,700. The letter of credit expires on August 9, 2010 if not renewed
by the Company.
 

(6) Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value
 

(a)           Derivative Financial Instruments
As disclosed in Note 3, the Company allocated proceeds to the warrants issued in connection with a private placement and recent public offering that were classified as liabilities and accounted for as a
derivative instrument in accordance with FASB ASC 815.  The valuation of the warrants is determined using the Black-Scholes model. This model uses inputs such as the underlying price of the shares
issued when the warrant is exercised, volatility, risk free interest rate and expected life of the instrument.   The Company has determined that the warrant derivative liability should be classified within
Level 3 of the fair-value hierarchy by evaluating each input for the Black Scholes model against the fair-value hierarchy criteria and using the lowest level of input as the basis for the fair-value
classification as called for in FASB ASC 820-10-35. There are six inputs: closing price of Delcath stock on the day of evaluation; the exercise price of the warrants; the remaining term of the warrants; the
volatility of Delcath’s stock over that term; annual rate of dividends; and the riskless rate of return. Of those inputs, the exercise price of the warrants and the remaining term are readily observable in the
warrant agreements. The annual rate of dividends is based on our historical practice of not granting dividends. The closing price of Delcath stock would fall under Level 1 of the fair-value hierarchy as it is
a quoted price in an active market (820-10-35-40). The riskless rate of return is a Level 2 input as defined in 820-10-35-48, while the historical volatility is a Level 3 input as defined in FASB ASC 820-
10-55-22. Since the lowest level input is a Level 3 , Delcath determined the warrant derivative liability is most appropriately classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
 

(b)           Marketable Equity Securities
The Company owns 100,000 shares of common stock of Aethlon Medical, Inc (“AEMD”) a publicly traded company whose securities are quoted on the Over the Counter Bulletin Board.  At December
31, 2009, the valuation of such stock is determined utilizing the current quoted market price of AEMD due to the selling restrictions as stated in the agreement to purchase these shares having lapsed
during the year.  The Company has determined that the inputs associated with the fair value determination are readily observable and as a result the instrument was classified within Level 1 of the fair-
value hierarchy.
 

(c)           Money Market Funds and Treasury Bills
Cash and cash equivalents includes a money market account valued at approximately $35.1 million.
 
The Company has determined that the inputs associated with the fair value determination are based on quoted prices (unadjusted) and as a result the investments are classified within Level 1 of the fair
value hierarchy.
 
The table below presents the Company’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2009, aggregated by the level in the fair value hierarchy within which those
measurements fall.
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Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis at December 31, 2009
 

  Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   
Balance at

December 31, 2009  
Assets             
Marketable equity securities  $ 30,000   $ —   $ —   $ 30,000 
Money market funds   35,115,245   —    —    35,115,245 
Liabilities                 
Derivative instrument liabilities  $ —    $ —   $ 11,207,214   $ 11,207,214 

Fair Value Measurements Using Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)  
  Derivative  
Beginning balance  $ 448,318 

Total losses included in earnings   8,567,917 
Issuance of warrants, June 2009   2,190,979 

Ending balance  $ 11,207,214 

(7) Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
 
Set forth below is selected quarterly financial data for each of the quarters in the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008.

 
  2009 Quarters Ended  
 (in thousands except per share amounts)  March 31   June 30   September 30   December 31  
Net sales  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ — 
Gross profit   —   —   —   — 
Operating loss   (1,936)   (2,442)   (3,733)   (5,425)
Derivative instrument expense   (562)   (3,904)   (3,831)   (271)
Net loss   (2,445)   (6,328)   (7,586)   (5,698)
Basic and diluted loss per share   (0.10)   (0.25)   (0.29)   (0.18)
 
  2008 Quarters Ended  
 (in thousands except per share amounts)  March 31   June 30   September 30   December 31  
Net sales  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ — 
Gross profit   —   —   —   — 
Operating loss   (1,430)   (1,799)   (2,214)   (2,623)
Derivative instrument income (expense)   198   (671)   1,281   296 
Net loss   (1,058)   (2,420)   (878)   (2,509)
Basic and diluted loss per share   (0.04)   (0.10)   (0.03)   (0.10)
 

(8) Subsequent Events

On February 4, 2010, the Company announced that sufficient events had been reached to allow data analysis to begin on its Phase III clinical trial for the treatment of metastatic melanoma in the liver using the Delcath PHP
System.

On February 9, 2010, the Company announced the signing of its first research, distribution, sales and marketing agreement. The agreement grants Chi-Fu Trading Co., Ltd., a Taiwanese company, the exclusive right to
conduct clinical studies of the Delcath PHP System and, upon obtaining approval of the Taiwan Food and Drug Administration (TFDA), to market, sell and distribute the Delcath PHP System in Taiwan and possibly
Singapore.
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On February 9, 2010, the Company  announced that it had entered into an agreement for the lease of approximately 8,629 square feet of office space at 810 Seventh Avenue, New York, NY, with the option to expand an
additional 8,629 square feet. Delcath’s executive offices will be relocated to this new office space.

On February 24, 2010, the Company announced that it had entered into a supply agreement with B. Braun Medical Inc., a Pennsylvania corporation, (the “Supply Agreement”), pursuant to which B. Braun Medical Inc. has
agreed to supply Delcath with double balloon catheters and double balloon catheter accessory packs, to sell Delcath certain tooling and related equipment for the manufacturing of such products, and to provide Delcath with
certain technical and design assistance.  B. Braun Medical Inc. is a current supplier of catheters and catheter accessories to Delcath.
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Item 9.   Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
 
None.
 
Item 9A.    Controls and Procedures
 
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-
15(e) or 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)). Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and
procedures as of December 31, 2009 (the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K), have been designed and are functioning effectively to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to
be disclosed by us in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms,
and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes to our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during our fourth fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2009 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.

 Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) promulgated under the
Exchange Act as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the Company’s principal executive and principal financial officers and effected by the Company’s board of directors, management and other personnel, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and includes those
policies and procedures that: 

Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company;
Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures
of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and
Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
 
Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009. In making this assessment, it used the criteria set forth in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on such assessment, management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2009, our internal control over financial reporting
was effective based on those criteria.
 
Our independent registered public accounting firm, CCR LLP (“CCR”), independently assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009 and issued an attestation report,
which appears in the “Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” which is included in “Part II, Item 8 –Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”
 
Item 9B.     Other Information
 
None.
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PART III

 
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance 
Except for the information about our Code of Ethics below, the information required by this Item 10 is incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement for our 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the
“Proxy Statement”).

We maintain a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (“Code”) that applies to all employees, including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer, controller and persons
performing similar functions, and including our independent directors, who are not employees of the Company, with regard to their Delcath-related activities. The Code incorporates guidelines designed to deter wrongdoing
and to promote honest and ethical conduct and compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations. The Code also incorporates our expectations of our employees that enable us to provide accurate and timely disclosure
in our filings with the SEC and other public communications. In addition, the Code incorporates guidelines pertaining to topics such as complying with applicable laws, rules, and regulations; insider trading; reporting Code
violations; and maintaining accountability for adherence to the Code.  The full text of our Code is published on our web site at www.delcath.com under “Investor - Corporate Governance.” We intend to disclose future
amendments to certain provisions of our Code, or waivers of such provisions granted to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller and persons performing similar
functions on our web site.

Item 11. Executive Compensation
 
The information required for this Item is incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
 
The information required for this Item is incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
 
The information required for this Item is incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement.
 
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
 
The information required for this Item is incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement.

 
26



 

PART IV
 
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
 
The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
 
1.  Financial Statements:  The following Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of Delcath and the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm included in Part II, Item 8:

Balance Sheets at December 31, 2009 and 2008

Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007 and cumulative from inception (August 5, 1988) to December 31, 2009

Statements of Other Comprehensive Loss for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, 2007 and cumulative from inception (August 5, 1988) to December 31, 2009

Statements of Stockholders’ Equity, cumulative from inception (August 5, 1988) to December 31, 2009

Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007 and cumulative from inception (August 5, 1988) to December 31, 2009

Notes to Financial Statements
1.  

 
2.   

2.  Financial Statement Schedule: See “Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts” in this section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
3.   

3. Exhibits:  The exhibits listed in the accompanying Exhibit Index are filed or incorporated by reference as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Delcath Systems, Inc.
Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007

(in millions)

     Additions     

  Balance at beginning   
Charged to costs and

expenses   Charged to revenue   
Balance at end of

period  
2009             
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance   13.6   5.9   —  $ 19.5 
2008                 
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance   10.4   3.2   —  $ 13.6 
2007                 
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance   8.5   1.9   —  $ 10.4 
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SIGNATURES

 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 
DELCATH SYSTEMS, INC.
 
/s/ Eamonn P. Hobbs
Eamonn P. Hobbs
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
Dated: February 26, 2010

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
 

Signature  Title  Date
     
/s/ Eamonn P. Hobbs  President and Chief Executive Officer, and Director (Principal Executive Officer)    February 26, 2010
Eamonn P. Hobbs     
     
/s/ David A. McDonald   Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)    February 26, 2010
David McDonald     
     
/s/Harold S. Koplewicz  Chairman of the Board    February 26, 2010
Harold S. Koplewicz, M.D.     
     
/s/ Laura Philips  Director    February 26, 2010
Laura Philips, Ph.D.     
     
/s/ Richard Taney  Director    February 26, 2010
Richard Taney     
     
/s/ Robert Ladd  Director    February 26, 2010
Robert Ladd     
      
/s/ Pamela Contag  Director    February 26, 2010
Pamela Contag, Ph.D.     
     
/s/ Roger Stoll  Director    February 26, 2010
Roger Stoll, Ph.D.     
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  Exhibit Index

 
Exhibit
No.  Description
   
3.1  Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, as amended to June 30, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed

June 5, 2006 (Commission File No. 001-16133).
   
3.2  Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Amendment No. 1 to Company’s Registration Statement on Form SB-2 (Registration No. 333-

39470)).
   
4.1  Rights Agreement, dated October 30, 2001, by and between the Company and American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as Rights Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to the

Company’s Form 8-A filed November 14, 2001 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).
   
4.2  Form of Underwriter’s Unit Option Agreement between the Company and Roan/Meyers Associates, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s

Registration Statement on Form SB-2 (Registration No. 333-101661)).
   
4.3  Form of Warrant to Purchase Shares of Common Stock issued pursuant to the Common Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of March 19, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 to the

Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 22, 2004 (Commission File No,. 001-16133)).
   
4.4  Form of 2005 Series A Warrant to Purchase Shares of Common Stock issued pursuant to the Common Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of November 27, 2005 (incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 30, 2005 (Commission File No. 011-16133)).
   
4.5  Form of 2005 Series C Warrant to Purchase Shares of Common Stock issued pursuant to the Common Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of November 27, 2005 (incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 30, 2005 (Commission File No. 011-16133)).
   
4.6  Form of Warrant to Purchase Shares of Common Stock dated June 15, 2009 issued pursuant to the Subscription Terms dated as of June 9, 2009 between the Company and Capital Ventures

International (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 10, 2009 (Commission File No,. 001-16133)).
   
10.1 * 2000 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form SB-2 (Registration No. 333-39470)).
   
10.2 * 2001 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the year ended December 31, 2001

(Commission File No. 001-16133)).
   
10.3 * 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix B to the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement dated April 29, 2004 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).
   
10.4 * 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix B to the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed April 30, 2009 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).
   
10.5  Common Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of March 19, 2004 by and among the Company and the Purchasers Listed on Exhibit A thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the

Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 22, 2004 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).
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10.6  Registration Rights Agreement dated as of March 19, 2004 by and among the Company and the Purchasers Listed on Schedule I thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 22, 2004 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).

   
10.7  Common Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of November 27, 2005 by and among the Company and the Purchasers Listed on the Exhibit A thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1

to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 30, 2005 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).
   
10.8  Registration Rights Agreement dated as of November 27, 2005 by and among the Company and the Purchasers Listed on the Schedule I thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the

Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 30, 2005 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).
   
10.9  Voting Agreement dated as of November 27, 2005 by and between the Company, the purchasers listed on Exhibit A to the Common Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of November 27, 2005

and Vertical Ventures LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 30, 2005 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).
   
10.10  * Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the Company’s 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB for

the quarter ended June 30, 2005 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).
   
10.11  * Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the Company’s 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-

QSB for the quarter ended June 30, 2005 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).
   
10.12  * Form of Stock Grant Agreement under the Company’s 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB for the

quarter ended June 30, 2005 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).
   
10.13  Settlement Agreement, dated as of October 8, 2006, by and between the Company, Laddcap Value Partners LP, Laddcap Value Advisors LLC, Laddcap Value Associates LLC, any affiliate of

the foregoing, and Robert B. Ladd (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 12, 2006 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).
   
10.14  Modification Agreement dated April 9, 2007 between the Company, Laddcap Value Partners, LP, Laddcap Associates, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s

Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 16, 2007 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).
   
10.15  Lease Agreement between Rockbay Capital Management, L.P. and the Company, dated as of July 9, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form

8-K filed August 30, 2007 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).
   
10.16  Consent of Master Landlord to the Sublease, dated August 21, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 30, 2007

(Commission File No. 001-16133)).
   
10.17  Placement Agency Agreement dated September 18, 2007 by and among the Company, Canaccord Adams Inc. and Think Equity Partners LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the

Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 24, 2007 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).
   
10.18  Form of Subscription Agreement in connection with the Company’s September 2007 registered direct offering (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on

Form 8-K filed September 24, 2007 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).
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10.19  Form of Warrant issued to investors in connection with the Company’s September 2007 registered direct offering (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed September 24, 2007 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).

   
10.20  Escrow Agreement dated September 18, 2007 between the Company, Canaccord Adams Inc., Think Equity Partners LLC and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 24, 2007 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).
   
10.21 †** Cooperative Research and Development Agreement effective as of December 14, 2006 between the Company and the National Cancer Institute.
   
 10.22  Form of Indemnification Agreement dated April 8, 2009 between the Company and members of the Company’s Board of Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s

Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 10, 2009 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).
   
10.23  Subscription Agreement (Subscription Terms) dated as of June 9, 2009 between the Company and Capital Ventures International (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s

Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 10, 2009 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).
   
10.24  Placement Agency Agreement dated June 9, 2009 between Piper Jaffray & Co. and the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed

June 10, 2009 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).
   
10.25 * Separation and General Release Agreement dated as of July 5, 2009 between the Company and Richard L. Taney (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report

on Form 8-K filed July 7, 2009 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).
   
10.26 * Employment Agreement dated as of July 6, 2009 between the Company and Eamonn P. Hobbs (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed

July 7, 2009 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).
   
10.27 * Employee Stock Option Grant Letter dated as of July 6, 2009 between the Company and Eamonn P. Hobbs (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current Report on Form

8-K filed September 17, 2009 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).
   
10.28 * Employee Stock Option Grant Letter dated as of July 6, 2009 between the Company and Eamonn P. Hobbs (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Current Report on Form

8-K filed September 17, 2009 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).
   
10.29  Lease with Option to Purchase between Fitzgerald Brothers Beverages, Inc. and the Company, dated as of September 1, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s

Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 3, 2009 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).
   
10.30 * Employment Agreement dated as of September 13, 2009 between the Company and David A. McDonald (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form

8-K filed September 17, 2009 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).
   
10.31 * Employee Stock Option Grant Letter dated as of September 14, 2009 between the Company and David A. McDonald (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current

Report on Form 8-K filed September 17, 2009 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).
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10.32 * Restricted Stock Agreement dated as of September 14, 2009 between the Company and David A. McDonald (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed September 17, 2009 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).

   
10.33 * Employment Agreement dated as of September 30, 2009 between the Company and Krishna Kandarpa, M.D., Ph.D. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Company’s Current

Report on Form 8-K filed October 5, 2009 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).
   
10.34 *

**
Employee Stock Option Grant Letter dated October 20, 2009 between the Company and Krishna Kandarpa, M.D., Ph.D.

   
10.35 *

**
Restricted Stock Agreement dated as of October 20, 2009 between the Company and Krishna Kandarpa, M.D., Ph.D.

   
10.36  Underwriting Agreement between Cowen and Company, LLC and the Company, dated as of November 12, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to the Company’s Current Report on

Form 8-K filed November 18, 2009 (Commission File No. 001-16133)).
   
23 ** Consent of CCR LLP
   
31.1 ** Certification by Principal executive officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).
   
31.2 ** Certification by Principal financial officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).
   
32.1 ** Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
   
32.2 ** Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

†    Portions of this exhibit have been redacted and are subject to a confidential treatment request filed with the Secretary of the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to
Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
 
*         Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

**         Filed herewith.
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EXHIBIT 10.21
 
 

AMENDMENT

Current CRADA Terms 

CRADA#: 01303
Effective Date: 12/14/01
Executed Date: 12/14/01
Orig. Term (mo): 60
Total Term (mo): 120
Expirations: 12/14/2006
 

Term extension(s) (mo):
60

NIH PI: Steven A. Rosenberg
IC DIV LAB: NCI CCR SB
 
Collaborating PI: Richard L. Taney
Collaborator: Delcath Systems, Inc.

Title: Amendment No. 3 to Extend the Cooperative Research and Development Agreement for the
Development of the "Delcath System" for the Delivery of Chemotherapeutics in the Treatment of Cancer
 

New CRADA Terms
The purpose of this amendment is to change certain terms of the above referenced Cooperative Research and Development
Agreement. These changes are reflected below and except for these changes and those of any previous amendments, all
other provisions remain in full force and effect. Two originals of this amendment are provided for execution--one is to remain
with NCI and the other with the collaborator.

 
PHS and the Delcath Systems, Inc. (the "Parties") hereby agree to amend CRADA no. 01303, identified above, as follows:

 
Amendment #3

 
1) The term of the CRADA is extended to an additional five (5) years (December 14, 2006 - December 14, 2011).
2) All previous CRADA amendments are incorporated into this revised CRADA.
3) Research will continue as set forth in the Research Plan, attached as Appendix A of the revised CRADA.
4) The financial and staffing contributions of the Parties are set forth in Appendix B of the revised CRADA.
5) Exceptions or modifications to this CRADA are set forth in Appendix C of the revised CRADA.
 
ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO:

 
Surgery Branch  Delcath Systems, Inc.  
/s/Anna D. Barker  /s/Richard Taney  
Anna D. Barker, Ph.D.  Richard L. Taney, J.D.  
Deputy Director for Advanced Technologies and Strategic Partnerships  Chief Executive Officer  
2/23/07  3/29/07  
Date  Date  
    
    

 

 



 

PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICE

COOPERATIVE  RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

This Cooperative Research and Development Agreement, hereinafter referred to as the “CRADA,” consists of this Cover Page, an attached Agreement, and various Appendices referenced in the Agreement.  This Cover
Page serves to identify the Parties to this CRADA:

(1)  the following Bureau(s), Institute(s), Center(s) or Division(s) of the National Institutes of Health (“NIH”), the Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”), and the Centers for Disease Control and
Prevention (“CDC”): National Cancer Institute, hereinafter singly or collectively referred to as the Public Health Service (“PHS”); and

 (2)               Delcath Systems, Inc., which has offices at
1100 Summer Street, 3rd Floor
Stamford, Connecticut 06905
hereinafter referred to as the “Collaborator.” 

 
 



 
COOPERATIVE  RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT
 

 
Article 1.    Introduction

This Cooperative Research and Development Agreement (CRADA) between PHS and the Collaborator will be effective when signed by all Parties.  The research and development activities which will be undertaken by
each of the Parties in the course of this CRADA are detailed in the Research Plan (RP) which is attached as Appendix A.  The funding and staffing commitments of the Parties are set forth in Appendix B.  Any exceptions
or changes to the CRADA are set forth in Appendix C.  This CRADA is made under the authority of the Federal Technology Transfer Act, 15 U.S.C. § 3710a, and is governed by its terms.
 

 
Article 2.  Definitions

As used in this CRADA, the following terms shall have the indicated meanings:

2.1 “Affiliate” means any corporation or other business entity controlled by, controlling, or under common control with Collaborator.  For this purpose, “control” means direct or indirect beneficial ownership of at
least fifty (50) percent of the voting stock or at least fifty (50) percent interest in the income of such corporation or other business.

2.2 “Cooperative Research and Development Agreement” or “CRADA” means this Agreement, entered into by PHS pursuant to the Federal Technology Transfer Act of 1986, as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 3710a et
seq. and Executive Order 12591 of October 10, 1987.

2.3 “Government” means the Government of the United States as represented through the PHS agency that is a Party to this agreement.

2.4 “IP” means intellectual property.

2.5 “Invention” means any invention or discovery which is or may be patentable or otherwise protected under Title 35, United States Code, or any novel variety or plant which is or may be protectable under the Plant
Variety Protection Act (7 U.S.C. § 2321 et seq.).

2.6 “Principal Investigator(s)” or “PIs” means the persons designated respectively by the Parties to this CRADA who will be responsible for the scientific and technical conduct of the RP.

2.7 “Proprietary/Confidential Information” means confidential scientific, business, or financial information provided that such information does not include:

 2.7.1 information that is publicly known or available from other sources who are not under a confidentiality obligation to the source of the information;
 2.7.2 information which has been made available by its owners to others without a confidentiality obligation;
 2.7.3 information which is already known by or available to the receiving Party without a confidentiality obligation; or
 2.7.4 information which relates to potential hazards or cautionary warnings associated with the production, handling or use of the subject matter of the Research Plan of this CRADA.

2.8 “Research Materials” means all tangible materials other than Subject Data first produced in the performance of this CRADA.

2.9 “Research Plan” or “RP” means the statement in Appendix A of the respective research and development commitments of the Parties to this CRADA.

2.10 “Subject Invention” means any Invention of the Parties, conceived or first actually reduced to practice in the performance of the Research Plan of this CRADA.

2.11 “Subject Data” means all recorded information first produced in the performance of this CRADA by the Parties.
 
Article 3.  Cooperative Research

3.1 Principal Investigators.  PHS research work under this CRADA will be performed by the PHS laboratory identified in the RP, and the PHS Principal Investigator (PI) designated in the RP will be responsible for
the scientific and technical conduct of this project on behalf of PHS.  Also designated in the RP is the Collaborator PI who will be responsible for the scientific and technical conduct of this project on behalf of the
Collaborator.

 
 
 

 



 
3.2 Research Plan Change.  The RP may be modified by mutual written consent of the Principal Investigators.  Substantial changes in the scope of the RP will be treated as amendments under Article 13.6.

Article 4.  Reports

4.1 Interim Reports.  The Parties shall exchange formal written interim progress reports on a schedule agreed to by the PIs, but at least within twelve (12) months after this CRADA becomes effective and at least
within every twelve (12) months thereafter.  Such reports shall set forth the technical progress made, identifying such problems as may have been encountered and establishing goals and objectives requiring further
effort, any modifications to the Research Plan pursuant to Article 3.2, and identify Subject Inventions pursuant to Article 6.1.

4.2 Final Reports.  The Parties shall exchange final reports of their results within four (4) months after completing the projects described in the RP or after the expiration or termination of this CRADA.

Article 5.  Financial and Staffing Obligations

5.1 PHS and Collaborator Contributions. The contributions of the Parties, including payment schedules, if applicable, are set forth in Appendix B.  PHS shall not be obligated to perform any of the research
specified herein or to take any other action required by this CRADA if the funding is not provided as set forth in Appendix B.  PHS shall return excess funds to the Collaborator when it sends its final fiscal report
pursuant to Article 5.2, except for staffing support pursuant to Article 10.3.  Collaborator acknowledges that the U.S. Government will have the authority to retain and expend any excess funds for up to one (1)
year subsequent to the expiration or termination of the CRADA to cover any costs incurred during the term of the CRADA in undertaking the work set forth in the RP.

5.2 Accounting Records.  PHS shall maintain separate and distinct current accounts, records, and other evidence supporting all its obligations under this CRADA, and shall provide the Collaborator a final fiscal
report pursuant to Article 4.2.

5.3 Capital Equipment.  Equipment purchased by PHS with funds provided by the Collaborator shall be the property of PHS.  All capital equipment provided under this CRADA by one party for the use of another
Party remains the property of the providing Party unless other disposition is mutually agreed upon by in writing by the Parties.  If title to this equipment remains with the providing Party, that Party is responsible
for maintenance of the equipment and the costs of its transportation to and from the site where it will be used.

Article 6.  Patent Applications

6.1 Reporting.  The Parties shall promptly report to each other in writing each Subject Invention and any patent applications filed thereon resulting from the research conducted under this CRADA that is reported to
them by their respective employees.  Each Party shall report all Subject Inventions to the other Party in sufficient detail to determine inventorship.  Such reports shall be treated as Proprietary/Confidential
Information in accordance with Article 8.4.

6.2 Filing of Patent Applications. Each party shall be responsible for filing patent or other IP applications in a timely manner and at its own expense and after consultation with the other Party.  The Parties will
consult and mutually determine a filing strategy for jointly owned subject inventions.

6.3 Patent Expenses.  The expenses attendant to the filing of patent or other IP applications generally shall be paid by the Party filing such application.  If an exclusive license to any Subject Invention is granted to the
Collaborator, the Collaborator shall be responsible for all past and future out-of-pocket expenses in connection with the preparation, filing, prosecution and maintenance of any applications claiming such
exclusively licensed inventions and any patents or other IP grants that may issue on such applications.  The Collaborator may waive its exclusive license rights on any application, patent or other IP grant at any
time, and incur no subsequent compensation obligation for that application, patent or IP grant.

6.4 Prosecution of Intellectual Property Applications.  Within one month of receipt or filing, each Party shall provide the other Party with copies of the applications and all documents received from or filed with the
relevant patent or other IP office in connection with the prosecution of such applications.  Each Party shall also provide the other Party with the power to inspect and make copies of all documents retained in the
patent or other IP application files by the applicable patent or other IP office.  Where licensing is contemplated by Collaborator, the Parties agree to consult with each other with respect to the prosecution of
applications for PHS Subject Inventions and joint Subject Inventions.  If the Parties agree that Collaborator shall file and prosecute IP applications on joint Subject Inventions, then Collaborator agrees to grant PHS
an associate power of attorney (or its equivalent) on such IP applications.

 
 

 



 
Article 7.  Licensing

7.1 Option for Commercialization License.  With respect to Government IP rights to any Subject Invention not made solely by the Collaborator's employees for which a patent or other IP application is filed, PHS
hereby grants to the Collaborator an exclusive option to elect an exclusive or nonexclusive commercialization license, which is substantially in the form of the appropriate model PHS license agreement.  This
option does not apply to Subject Inventions conceived prior to the effective date of this CRADA that are reduced to practice under this CRADA, if prior to that reduction to practice, PHS has filed a patent
application on the invention and has licensed it or offered to license it to a third party.  The terms of the license will fairly reflect the nature of the invention, the relative contributions of the Parties to the invention
and the CRADA, the risks incurred by the Collaborator and the costs of subsequent research and development needed to bring the invention to the marketplace.  The field of use of the license will be commensurate
with the scope of the RP.
 

7.2 Exercise of License Option.  The option of Article 7.1 must be exercised by written notice mailed within three (3) months after either (i) Collaborator receives written notice from PHS that the patent or other IP
application has been filed; or (ii) the date Collaborator files such IP application.  Exercise of this option by the Collaborator initiates a negotiation period that expires nine (9) months after the exercise of the
option.  If the last proposal by the Collaborator has not been responded to in writing by PHS within this nine (9) month period, the negotiation period shall be extended to expire one (1) month after PHS so
responds, during which month the Collaborator may accept in writing the final license proposal of PHS.  In the absence of such acceptance, or an extension of the time limits by PHS, PHS will be free to license
such IP rights to others.  In the event that the Collaborator elects the option for an exclusive license, but no such license is executed during the negotiation period, PHS agrees not to make an offer for an exclusive
license on more favorable terms to a third party for a period of six (6) months without first offering Collaborator those more favorable terms. These times may be extended at the sole discretion of PHS upon good
cause shown in writing by the Collaborator.

7.3 License for PHS Employee Inventions and Joint Inventions.  Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 3710a(b)(1)(A), for Subject Inventions made under this CRADA by a PHS employee(s) or jointly by such employee(s) and
employees of the Collaborator and licensed pursuant to the option of Article 7.1, the Collaborator grants to the Government a nonexclusive, nontransferable, irrevocable, paid-up license to practice the invention or
have the invention practiced throughout the world by or on behalf of the Government.  In the exercise of such license, the Government shall not publicly disclose trade secrets or commercial or financial
information that is privileged or confidential within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(4) or which would be considered as such if it had been obtained from a non-Federal party.

7.4 License in Collaborator Inventions.  Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 3710a(b)(2), for inventions made solely by Collaborator employees under this CRADA, the Collaborator grants to the Government a nonexclusive,
nontransferable, irrevocable, paid-up license to practice the invention or have the invention practiced throughout the world by or on behalf of the Government for research or other Government purposes.

7.5 Third Party License.  Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 3710a(b)(1)(B), if PHS grants an exclusive license to a Subject Invention made wholly by PHS employees or jointly with a Collaborator under this CRADA, the
Government shall retain the right to require the Collaborator to grant to a responsible applicant a nonexclusive, partially exclusive, or exclusive sublicense to use the invention in Collaborator’s licensed field of use
on terms that are reasonable under the circumstances; or if the Collaborator fails to grant such a license, to grant the license itself.  The exercise of such rights by the Government shall only be in exceptional
circumstances and only if the Government determines (i) the action is necessary to meet health or safety needs that are not reasonably satisfied by Collaborator, (ii) the action is necessary to meet requirements for
public use specified by Federal regulations, and such requirements are not reasonably satisfied by the Collaborator; or (iii) the Collaborator has failed to comply with an agreement containing provisions described
in 15 U.S.C. § 3710a(c)(4)(B).  The determination made by the Government under this Article is subject to administrative appeal and judicial review under 35 U.S.C. § 203(2).

7.6 Joint Inventions Not Exclusively Licensed.  In the event that the Collaborator does not acquire an exclusive commercialization license to IP rights in all fields in joint Subject Inventions then each Party shall
have the right to use the joint Subject Invention and to license its use to others in all fields not exclusively licensed to Collaborator.  The Parties may agree to a joint licensing approach for such IP rights.

Article 8.  Proprietary Rights and Publication

8.1 Right of Access.  PHS and the Collaborator agree to exchange all Subject Data produced in the course of research under this CRADA.  Research Materials will be shared equally by the Parties to the CRADA
unless other disposition is agreed to by the Parties.  All Parties to this CRADA will be free to utilize
 Subject Data and Research Materials for their own purposes, consistent with their obligations under this CRADA.

8.2 Ownership of Subject Data and Research Materials.  Subject to the sharing requirements of Paragraph 8.1 and the regulatory filing requirements of Paragraph 8.3, the producing Party will retain ownership of
and title to all Subject Inventions, all Subject Data and all Research Materials produced solely by their investigators.  Jointly developed Subject Inventions, Subject Data and Research Materials will be jointly
owned.

8.3 Dissemination of Subject Data and Research Materials.  To the extent permitted by law, the Collaborator and PHS agree to use reasonable efforts to keep Subject Data and Research Materials confidential until
published or until corresponding patent applications are filed.  Any information that would identify human subjects of research or patients will always be maintained confidentially.  To the extent permitted by law,
the Collaborator shall have the exclusive right to use any and all CRADA Subject Data in and for any regulatory filing by or on behalf of Collaborator, except that PHS shall have the exclusive right to use Subject
Data for that purpose, and authorize others to do so, if the CRADA is terminated or if Collaborator abandons its commercialization efforts.  Collaborator acknowledges the basic research mission of the PHS, and
agrees that after publication, PHS may make unpatented research materials arising out of this CRADA available to third parties for further research.

8.4 Proprietary/Confidential Information.  Each Party agrees to limit its disclosure of Proprietary/Confidential Information to the amount necessary to carry out the Research Plan of this CRADA, and shall place a
confidentiality notice on all such information.  Confidential oral communications shall be reduced to writing within 30 days by the disclosing Party.  Each Party receiving Proprietary/Confidential Information
agrees that any information so designated shall be used by it only for the purposes described in the attached Research Plan.  Any Party may object to the designation of information as Proprietary/Confidential
Information by another Party.  Subject Data and Research Materials developed solely by the Collaborator may be designated as Proprietary/Confidential Information when they are wholly separable from the
Subject Data and Research Materials developed jointly with PHS investigators, and advance designation of such data and material categories is set forth in the RP.  The exchange of other confidential information,
e.g., patient-identifying data, should be similarly limited and treated.  Jointly developed Subject Data and Research Material derived from the Research Plan may be disclosed by Collaborator to a third party under
a confidentiality agreement for the purpose of possible sublicensing pursuant to the Licensing Agreement and subject to Article 8.7.

8.5 Protection of Proprietary/Confidential Information.  Proprietary/Confidential Information shall not be disclosed, copied, reproduced or otherwise made available to any other person or entity without the
consent of the owning Party except as required under court order or the Freedom of Information Act (5 U.S.C. § 552).  Each Party agrees to use its best efforts to maintain the confidentiality of
Proprietary/Confidential Information.  Each Party agrees that the other Party is not liable for the disclosure of Proprietary/Confidential Information which, after notice to and consultation with the concerned Party,
the other Party in possession of the Proprietary/Confidential Information determines may not be lawfully withheld, provided the concerned Party has been given an opportunity to seek a court order to enjoin
disclosure.

8.6 Duration of Confidentiality Obligation.  The obligation to maintain the confidentiality of Proprietary/Confidential Information shall expire at the earlier of the date when the information is no longer Proprietary
Information as defined in Article 2.7 or three (3) years after the expiration or termination date of this CRADA.  The Collaborator may request an extension to this term when necessary to protect
Proprietary/Confidential Information relating to products not yet commercialized.

8.7 Publication.  The Parties are encouraged to make publicly available the results of their research.  Before either Party submits a paper or abstract for publication or otherwise intends to publicly disclose information
about a Subject Invention, Subject Data or Research Materials, the other Party shall be provided thirty (30) days to review the proposed publication or disclosure to assure that Proprietary/Confidential Information
is protected.  The publication or other disclosure shall be delayed for up to thirty (30) additional days upon written request by any Party as necessary to preserve U.S. or foreign patent or other IP rights.

Article 9.  Representations and Warranties

9.1 Representations and Warranties of PHS.  PHS hereby represents and warrants to the Collaborator that the official signing this CRADA has authority to do so.

9.2 Representations and Warranties of the Collaborator.

(a)  The Collaborator hereby represents and warrants to PHS that the Collaborator has the requisite power and authority to enter into this CRADA and to perform according to its terms, and that the Collaborator's
official signing this CRADA has authority to do so.  The Collaborator further represents that it is financially able to satisfy any funding commitments made in Appendix B.

(b)  The Collaborator certifies that the statements herein are true, complete, and accurate to the best of its knowledge.  The Collaborator is aware that any false, fictitious, or fraudulent statements or claims
may subject it to criminal, civil, or administrative penalties.

 
 



 
Article 10.  Termination

10.1 Termination By Mutual Consent.  PHS and the Collaborator may terminate this CRADA, or portions thereof, at any time by mutual written consent.  In such event the Parties shall specify the disposition of all
property, inventions, patent or other IP applications and other results of work accomplished or in progress, arising from or performed under this CRADA, all in accordance with the rights granted to the Parties
under the terms of this Agreement.

10.2 Unilateral Termination.  Either PHS or the Collaborator may unilaterally terminate this entire CRADA at any time by giving written notice at least thirty (30) days prior to the desired termination date, and any
rights accrued in property, patents or other IP rights shall be disposed of as provided in paragraph 10.1, except that PHS may, at its option, retain funds transferred to PHS prior to unilateral termination by
Collaborator for use in completing the Research Plan solely or with another partner.

10.3 Staffing.  If this CRADA is mutually or unilaterally terminated prior to its expiration, funds will nevertheless remain available to PHS for continuing any staffing commitment made by the Collaborator pursuant to
Article 5.1 above and Appendix B, if applicable, for a period of six (6) months after such termination.  If there are insufficient funds to cover this expense, the Collaborator agrees to pay the difference.

10.4 New Commitments.  No Party shall make new commitments related to this CRADA after a mutual termination or notice of a unilateral termination and shall, to the extent feasible, cancel all outstanding
commitments and contracts by the termination date.

10.5 Termination Costs.  Concurrently with the exchange of final reports pursuant to Articles 4.2 and 5.2, PHS shall submit to the Collaborator for payment a statement of all costs incurred prior to the date of
termination and for all reasonable termination costs including the cost of returning Collaborator property or removal of abandoned property, for which Collaborator shall be responsible.

Article 11.  Disputes

11.1 Settlement.  Any dispute arising under this CRADA which is not disposed of by agreement of the Principal Investigators shall be submitted jointly to the signatories of this CRADA.  If the signatories are unable to
jointly resolve the dispute within thirty (30) days after notification thereof, the Assistant Secretary for Health (or his/her designee or successor) shall propose a resolution.  Nothing in this Article shall prevent any
Party from pursuing any additional administrative remedies that may be available and, after exhaustion of such administrative remedies, pursuing all available judicial remedies.

 
11.2 Continuation of Work.  Pending the resolution of any dispute or claim pursuant to this Article, the Parties agree that performance of all obligations shall be pursued diligently in accordance with the direction of

the PHS signatory.

Article 12.  Liability

12.1 Property.  The U.S. Government shall not be responsible for damages to any Collaborator property provided to PHS, where Collaborator retains title to the property, or any property acquired by Collaborator for its
own use pursuant to this CRADA.

12.2 NO WARRANTIES.  EXCEPT AS SPECIFICALLY STATED IN ARTICLE 9, THE PARTIES MAKE NO EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTY AS TO ANY MATTER WHATSOEVER, INCLUDING THE
CONDITIONS OF THE RESEARCH OR ANY INVENTION OR PRODUCT, WHETHER TANGIBLE OR INTANGIBLE, MADE, OR DEVELOPED UNDER THIS CRADA, OR THE OWNERSHIP,
MERCHANTABILITY, OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OF THE RESEARCH OR ANY INVENTION OR PRODUCT.

12.3 Indemnification.  The Collaborator agrees to hold the U.S. Government harmless and to indemnify the Government for all liabilities, demands, damages, expenses and losses arising out of the use by the
Collaborator for any purpose of the Subject Data, Research Materials and/or Subject Inventions produced in whole or part by PHS employees under this CRADA, unless due to the negligence or willful misconduct
of PHS, its employees, or agents.  The Collaborator shall be liable for any claims or damages it incurs in connection with this CRADA.  PHS has no authority to indemnify the Collaborator.

12.4 Force Majeure.  Neither Party shall be liable for any unforeseeable event beyond its reasonable control not caused by the fault or negligence of such Party, which causes such Party to be unable to perform its
obligations under this CRADA, and which it has been unable to overcome by the exercise of due diligence.  In the event of the occurrence of such a force majeure event, the Party unable to perform shall promptly
notify the other Party.  It shall further use its best efforts to resume performance as quickly as possible and shall suspend performance only for such period of time as is necessary as a result of the force majeure
event.

Article 13.  Miscellaneous

13.1 Governing Law.  The construction, validity, performance and effect of this CRADA shall be governed by Federal law, as applied by the Federal Courts in the District of Columbia.  Federal law and regulations will
preempt any conflicting or inconsistent provisions in this CRADA.

13.2 Entire Agreement.  This CRADA constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties concerning the subject matter of this CRADA and supersedes any prior understanding or written or oral agreement.

13.3 Headings.  Titles and headings of the articles and subarticles of this CRADA are for convenient reference only, do not form a part of this CRADA, and shall in no way affect its interpretation.  The PHS component
that is the Party for all purposes of this CRADA is the Bureau(s), Institute(s), Center(s) or Division(s) listed on the Cover Page herein.

13.4 Waivers.  None of the provisions of this CRADA shall be considered waived by any Party unless such waiver is given in writing to the other Party.  The failure of a Party to insist upon strict performance of any of
the terms and conditions hereof, or failure or delay to exercise any rights provided herein or by law, shall not be deemed a waiver of any rights of any Party.

13.5 Severability.  The illegality or invalidity of any provisions of this CRADA shall not impair, affect, or invalidate the other provisions of this CRADA.

13.6 Amendments.  If either Party desires a modification to this CRADA, the Parties shall, upon reasonable notice of the proposed modification or extension by the Party desiring the change, confer in good faith to
determine the desirability of such modification or extension.  Such modifica tion shall not be effective until a written amendment is signed by the signatories to this CRADA or by their representatives duly
authorized to execute such amendment.

13.7 Assignment.  Neither this CRADA nor any rights or obligations of any Party hereunder shall be assigned or otherwise transferred by either Party without the prior written consent of the other Party.

13.8 Notices.  All notices pertaining to or required by this CRADA shall be in writing and shall be signed by an authorized representa tive and shall be delivered by hand or sent by certified mail, return receipt requested,
with postage prepaid, to the addresses indicated on the signature page for each Party.  Notices regarding the exercise of license options shall be made pursuant to Article 7.2.  Any Party may change such address by
notice given to the other Party in the manner set forth above.

13.9 Independent Contractors.  The relationship of the Parties to this CRADA is that of independent contractors and not agents of each other or joint venturers or partners.  Each Party shall maintain sole and exclusive
control over its personnel and operations.  Collaborator employees who will be working at PHS facilities may be asked to sign a Guest Researcher or Special Volunteer Agreement appropriately modified in view of
the terms of this CRADA.

 
13.10 Use of Name or Endorsements.  By entering into this CRADA, PHS does not directly or indirectly endorse any product or service provided, or to be provided, whether directly or indirectly related to either this

CRADA or to any patent or other IP license or agreement which implements this CRADA by its successors, assignees, or licensees.  The Collaborator shall not in any way state or imply that this CRADA is an
endorsement of any such product or service by the U.S. Government or any of its organizational units or employees.  Collaborator issued press releases that reference or rely upon the work of PHS under this
CRADA shall be made available to PHS at least 7 days prior to publication for review and comment.

13.11 Exceptions to this CRADA.  Any exceptions or modifications to this CRADA that are agreed to by the Parties prior to their execution of this CRADA are set forth in Appendix C.

13.12 Reasonable Consent.  Whenever a Party's consent or permission is required under this CRADA, such consent or permission shall not be unreasonably withheld.

Article 14.  Duration of Agreement

14.1 Duration.  It is mutually recognized that the duration of this project cannot be rigidly defined in advance, and that the contemplated time periods for various phases of the RP are only good faith guidelines subject
to adjustment by mutual agreement to fit circumstances as the RP proceeds.  In no case will the term of this CRADA extend beyond the term indicated in the RP unless it is revised in accordance with Article 13.6.

14.2 Survivability.  The provisions of Articles 4.2, 5-8, 10.3-10.5, 11.1, 12.2-12.4, 13.1, 13.10 and 14.2 shall survive the termination of this CRADA.
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SIGNATURES

FOR PHS:   
/s/Anna D. Barker    2/27/07
Anna D. Barker, Ph.D.  Date
Deputy Director for Advanced Technologies and Strategic Partnerships, NCI   
   
Mailing Address for Notices:   
NCI Technology Transfer Branch   
6120 Executive Blvd, EPS Suite 450   
Rockville, MD 20852   
(301) 496-0477   
(301) 402-2117 (Facsimile)   
   
FOR THE COLLABORATOR:   
/s/Richard L. Taney    3/29/07
Richard L. Taney  Date
Chief Executive Officer   
   
Delcath Systems, Inc.   
1100 Summer Street, 3rd Floor   
Stamford, Connecticut 06905   
(203) 323-8668   
(203) 961-0120   
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APPENDIX A

RESEARCH  PLAN

Title of CRADA

Cooperative Research and Development Agreement for the Development of the "Delcath System" for the Delivery of Chemotherapeutics in the Treatment of Cancer

NCI Principal Investigator
Steven A. Rosenberg, M.D., Ph.D.

Surgery Branch
Center for Cancer Research, NCI

Collaborator Principal Investigator
Richard L. Taney

Chief Executive Officer
Delcath Systems, Inc.

Term of CRADA Extension
Five (5) years from the expiration of the original CRADA term (12/14/2001 - 12/14/2006; upon amendment to expire 12/14/2011)

Conflict of Interest Information
See attached Conflict of Interest and Fair Access Survey form.

GOALS OF THIS CRADA AMENDMENT No. 3

The principal goal of this CRADA is to continue the development of a novel form of regional cancer therapy by designing clinical protocols utilizing the “Delcath System” to regionally deliver chemotherapeutics to
patients with unresectable malignancies confined to an organ or region of the body.  The “Delcath System” is a proprietary delivery device in which one or more therapeutic agents are infused into the artery of a target organ
and then organ venous blood is collected, filtered to remove the therapeutic agent and eliminate unnecessary systemic exposure and toxicity (hemofiltration), and then returned to the systemic circulation.  The clinical
evaluation of this regional therapy began with a Phase 1 trial to determine the dose limiting toxicity and maximum safe tolerated dose of the therapeutic agent, melphalan.  This trial was successfully completed and has led
to the initiation of a Phase 2 protocol in addition to a Phase 3 random-assignment protocol with metastatic melanoma.  This Phase 3 trial has been granted Fast-Track status by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration
(FDA).

 
The subject of this CRADA is strictly limited to the development of anticancer therapies using the Delcath System to administer commercially available chemotherapeutics.   However, the use and development of other
commercially available chemotherapeutics alone or not in combination with the Delcath System is not the subject of this CRADA.

INTRODUCTION

The NCI Surgery Branch has conducted a number of clinical research activities related to the regional treatment of unresectable cancers confined to the liver, limb, and peritoneal cavity. The Delcath System represents a
novel additional method of regionally treating unresectable hepatic neoplasms, as well as other organ neoplasms, which may provide substantial benefit to patients afflicted with these conditions.  The Surgery Branch has
carried out clinical activities related to this CRADA relating to regional treatments including isolated limb perfusion for in-transit melanoma or unresectable extremity sarcoma, isolated hepatic perfusion for unresectable
malignancies confined to the liver, and continuous hyperthermic peritoneal perfusion for the treatment of cancers confined to this region.  In addition, Dr. Steven A. Rosenberg has extensive experience in conducting
clinical trials for the development of treatments involving a number of primary and metastatic cancers including melanoma, kidney, pancreatic and liver.

 
Delcath Systems, Inc. has actively supported clinical research trials evaluating the proprietary Delcath System which allows regional administration of high dose chemotherapeutics to the liver with hepatic venous
hemofiltration to eliminate or reduce the amount of systemic exposure of the agent. This device had been clinically applied using 5-fluorouracil and doxorubicin (these studies were conducted by the company and are
outside the scope of this CRADA) and the NCI has recently established an extensive experience utilizing this system for the regional administration of melphalan hydrochloride.

BACKGROUND

Primary or metastatic unresectable cancers confined to the liver represent a significant clinical problem.  For example, in the United States approximately 140,000 individuals per year are afflicted with colorectal cancer of
whom 10% - 20% will develop unresectable metastases confined largely or solely to the liver.  Previously, combination systemic chemotherapy has an overall response rate of approximately 39% and a duration of response
of only 7 months (1).  Recent data utilizing Avastin in combination with traditional multidrug regimens have resulted in response rates greater than 50% with an increased duration of response up to 10 months for patients
with metastatic colon cancer (8).  Recurrence, however, is the rule, and second line therapies continue to show response rates approximately 10% (9).  A number of regional therapies are under clinical evaluation and share
the common advantage of delivering intensive therapy to the cancer bearing organ of the body while limiting unnecessary systemic exposure and toxicity from the therapeutic agents (2).  In general, regional therapies have
considerably higher response rates than best available systemic treatments yet none have sufficient efficacy to be considered standard therapy for patients afflicted with this condition. The various types of regional therapies
in clinical development include hepatic artery infusion of chemotherapy, local ablative therapy such as cryotherapy, and isolated hepatic perfusion.  Each of these treatments have particular advantages and disadvantages
and new approaches for the treatment of unresectable hepatic malignancies are clearly warranted.

Hepatic arterial infusion of chemotherapy in combination with hemofiltration of the hepatic venous effluent using percutaneously positioned catheters is a novel strategy that may allow for dose intensive treatment with
chemotherapy to be delivered to a cancer burdened liver while eliminating by hemofiltration the agent before the blood returns to the systemic circulation.  The initial studies using this approach have been conducted using
a proprietary system developed by Delcath with the agents 5-fluorouracil and doxorubicin (3,4).  There is considerable interest in the development of new regional therapies for unresectable cancers of the liver in the
Surgery Branch and previous clinical trials have focused on the development of isolated hepatic perfusion (IHP) with melphalan hydrochloride hyperthermia and tumor necrosis factor (5, 6, 7).  However, treatment using
IHP is complex and patients must undergo a major operative procedure in order to receive therapy. Clearly any technique that could simplify regional delivery of chemotherapeutics to the liver while avoiding the need for a
major operative procedure would have clear advantages.  Phase 1 and early Phase 2 data support the use of this technology in place of IHP for patients with metastatic ocular melanoma and neuroendocrine tumors, along
with selected patients with hepatic metastases from colorectal cancers.

Progress Report for this CRADA

Clinical Trials Conducted by the Surgery Branch Under This CRADA:

1) NCI #01-C-0215 entitled “A Phase I Study of Hepatic Arterial Infusion of Escalating Dose Melphalan with Venous Filtration for Unresectable Cancers of the Liver.”

2) NCI # 04-C-0273 entitled "A Phase II Study of Hepatic Arterial Infusion of Melphalan With Venous Filtration Via Peripheral Hepatic Perfusion (PHP) for Unresectable Primary and Metastatic Cancers of the Liver."

2) NCI # 06-C-0088 entitled "A Random-Assignment Study of Hepatic Arterial Infusion of Melphalan with Venous Filtration via Peripheral Hepatic Perfusion (PHP) (Delcath System) Versus Best Alternative Care for
Ocular and Cutaneous Melanoma Metastatic to the Liver."

 
 



 

Prior to the initiation of NCI #01-C-0215, a Phase 1 trial, Delcath and NCI conducted preclinical testing of [ *** ] and determined [*** ] likely to be achieved in clinical use.  [ *** ] analysis of [ *** ] performed during the
Phase 1 study revealed [ *** ].  As a result of patient referral and protocol accrual patterns within the Surgery Branch, a significant number of patients treated on a Phase1 trial, had melanoma metastatic to the
liver.  Although response rate and overall survival were not designed endpoints of the trial (an overall tumor response rate of 55% was noted in patients with metastatic melanoma and 50% response rate in patients with
metastatic pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors), the large percentage of patients with this diagnosis allowed the Surgery Branch to establish confidence in the Delcath System with melphalan in the treatment of this disease,
and allowed the company to apply for, and be granted, Fast Track status by the FDA.

A Phase 2 study is currently being conducted in patients with primary and metastatic hepatic malignancies, stratified into three cohorts: primary hepatic tumors (hepatocellular carcinoma and cholangiocarcinoma),
metastatic adenocarcinoma of gastrointestinal origin, and metastatic pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors.  At present, the most rapidly accruing arm is that for patients with [*** ].

Pursuant to discussions with the FDA, a Phase 3 random-assignment trial comparing the Delcath system to the best available care for patients with unresectable melanoma metastatic to the liver was initiated at the NCI in
2006.  The accrual goal of this trial is 92 patients and the Surgery Branch is awaiting IRB approval to transition this into a multi-center trial under the direction of the NCI and Delcath Corp.   To date, eight patients have
been enrolled in the intramural trial.

Surgery Branch Publications Under This CRADA:

See Reference no. 10 below.
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WORK SCOPE OF THE PROPOSED CRADA BETWEEN SURGERY BRANCH, NCI AND DELCATH

I.  Complete a Delcath System-based Phase 2 treatment protocol for the regional therapy of hepatic tumors including primary hepatic tumors and metastases from gastrointestinal adenocarcinomas and tumors of
neuroendocrine lineage.

 
 a. The NCI SB is currently conducting a 3-arm Phase 2 trial utilizing the Delcath System to deliver melphalan for regional therapy of organs.  This study is using melphalan hydrochloride administered as a

30 minute infusion into the hepatic artery with hepatic venous hemofiltration using the Delcath System to determine efficacy of melphalan against hepatic metastases from each of these histologies
when  administered in this manner. Pharmacokinetic (pk) analyses will be performed by NCI SB to determine hepatic and total clearance of melphalan hydrochloride from the circuit, the extraction
efficiency, and the general pharmacokinetic advantage of using this system by comparing the pre- and post filtration melphalan hydrochloride concentrations.  These pk analyses will be performed in a
duplicate fashion to those completed for the Phase 1 trial in order to compare the efficacy of the filters.  In addition, ongoing monitoring of the

 [ *** ] will be performed by NCI.

b.  The manufacturing and testing of current GMP Delcath System devices as well as Device Master Files to support Delcath’s IDE application shall be the responsibility of Delcath.  Delcath shall be
responsible for submission of the Device Master File to support IDE applications and all required regulatory approvals for use of the device in humans.  In addition, Delcath shall be responsible for the
filing of the IND for the use of melphalan hydrochloride for the Delcath System device.

II.  Complete a  Delcath System-based Phase 3 treatment protocol as a follow-up to Phase 1 studies for patients with metastatic melanoma, and expand this study to a multi-center trial.

a.  The NCI is currently conducting a Phase 3 clinical trial utilizing the Delcath System for the delivery of melphalan as described above.  The Phase 3 study will involve patients with ocular and cutaneous
melanoma who have unresectable cancers confined to the liver using the maximum safe tolerated dose of melphalan hydrochloride administered using the Delcath System.  Patients will be randomly
assigned to one of two initial treatment arms immediate treatment with melphalan via the Delcath System or treatment with the best alternative available care.  The patients will be treated as specified in an
institutionally approved clinical research protocol with up to six (6) series of infusions based upon toxicity and response to treatment. Patients will be followed for response, patterns of failure, and overall
survival.  The primary endpoint will be hepatic progression-free survival, and cross-over will be permitted once the primary endpoint is met.  Pharmacokinetic (pk) analyses will be performed by NCI SB
and monitoring the  [*** ] will be performed as in I (a) above.   With appropriate NCI Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval and DSMB oversight, this trial will be expanded to a multicenter trial
(NCI IRB approval is currently pending for the multicenter trial).  The NCI will maintain the primary database and the statistical analysis for both the intramural and extramural studies will be conducted
by NCI.

b.  Delcath shall be responsible for the provision of current GMP devices, as well as all support for the regulatory IDE and IND applications for both the intramural and extramural  studies, as described in I
(b) above.

III.  Development of additional protocols utilizing the Delcath System

a.   Additional chemotherapeutics which are commercially available such as [ *** ] may be selected by mutual agreement of the Parties and by amendment in accordance with section 13.6 of the CRADA for
development with the Delcath System by Surgery Branch under a Phase 1 trial.  Prior to these studies, NCI may conduct animal and preclinical studies to examine the utility of the Delcath System in the
regional delivery of these chemotherapeutic using an inter-arterial route to measure the effects on normal hepatocytes.  In addition, NCI may conduct a concurrent analysis that will examine the efficacy of
the filters in filtering the chemotherapeutic from saline and serum.

 
 



 
b.  Delcath shall be responsible for the provision of current GMP devices for these protocols, as well as all regulatory support for the IDE application as set out in I (b) above.  The Parties will decide by

mutual agreement which Party will hold and support the IND applications for these studies.

 
DESCRIPTION OF THE CONTRIBUTIONS AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE PARTIES

Surgery Branch, NCI

_  Continue conducting the Phase 2 clinical study of melphalan hydrochloride in patients with primary and metastatic hepatic malignancies using the Delcath System.

_  Continue conducting the Phase 3 clinical study of melphalan hydrochloride in patients with unresectable melanoma metastatic to the liver using the Delcath System

_  Conduct pharmacokinetic analyses of samples obtained during treatment from patients on the Phase 2 and Phase 3 clinical trials to characterize the pharmacokinetic advantage of melphalan hydrochloride delivered
to the liver using this system.

_  Coordinate the Phase 3 multicenter clinical study of melphalan hydrochloride in patients with unresectable melanoma metastatic to the liver using the Delcath System.  This clinical trial is pending NCI IRB
approval and will be added to this agreement by a written amendment.

_  Provide and perform primary data management and analysis for Phase 1, 2 and 3 melphalan trials and provide Delcath with a complete copy of the NCI-formatted database to support FDA and other regulatory
submissions, subject to Article 8.9.

_   Conduct ongoing hematological biocompatibility testing of filters with melphalan; generate reports and provide reports to Delcath.

_   Conduct filter testing in human plasma and whole blood for melphalan extraction; generate analyses and reports; and provide reports to Delcath.

_   May perform preclinical animal and filter testing to provide the basis for supporting a Phase 1 trial for additional chemotherapeutic, to be added by mutual agreement and writen amendment to this CRADA.

_  Conduct Phase 1 and 2 clinical research trials using additional therapeutics as administered by the Delcath System by mutual agreement and written amendment, evaluating the Delcath System as outlined through
IRB approved protocols, and maintain complete data of the end points.

Delcath Systems, Inc.

_  Provide sufficient numbers of current GMP Delcath System devices for the conduct of Phase 2 and Phase 3 intramural (and extramural studies, upon IRB approval) clinical research and studies.

_  Submit Device Master Files to support their Investigational Device Exemption (IDE) applications.  Delcath shall hold the IND for the development of melphalan hydrochloride under this research plan.  The parties
will decide by mutual agreement which party will hold subsequent INDs for selected studies.  Delcath will provide NCI access to Delcath safety data and review of the Delcath IDE and INDs for FDA submission.

Surgery Branch, NCI and Delcath Systems, Inc.

_  Collaborate in the joint development and evaluation of melphalan hydrochloride as administered by the Delcath System device under the Surgery Branch protocol in Appendix D.

 
_  Exchange information and expertise to evaluate the advisability of developing additional commercial agents for use with the Delcath System for regional cancer therapy of various  organs.

 
 



 
DESCRIPTION OF PREDECESSOR CRADA AND OTHER NCI-DELCATH SYSTEMS, INC. AGREEMENTS AND INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY OF THE PARTIES

CRADAs:
CRADA No. 01303 “Cooperative Research and Development Agreement for the Development of the ‘Delcath System’ for the Delivery of Chemotherapeutics in the Treatment of Cancer” was executed on
December 14, 2001 between the Surgery Branch, NCI and the Delcath Systems, Inc.  The original goal of the CRADA was the same as this Amendment, namely to develop a novel form of regional cancer therapy
by designing clinical protocols utilizing the “Delcath System” to regionally deliver chemotherapeutics to patients with unresectable malignancies confined to an organ or region of the body.   The orignal CRADA,
however, began with a Phase 1 trial measuring the effects of escalating dosages of melphalan in patients with unrespectable cancers of the liver.   The original Principal Investigators were H. Richard Alexander, Jr.,
M.D. of the Surgery Branch, and M.S. Koly of Delcath Systems, Inc.   The original term of the CRADA was five (5) years (12/14/2001 - 12/14/2006).  The CRADA was not renewed prior to the expiration date
due to a change in company management and issues relating to IRB approval of the planned extramural Phase 3 trial.

Amendments to CRADA No. 01303:

1)  The CRADA was amended October 10, 2002 to delete the requirement for Delcath to hire a Nurse Practitioner for clinical activities under the CRADA, and instead to provide an additional $75,000 per
year to support a Data Manager.  This resulted in a total CRADA support level of $195,000 per year.

2)  The CRADA was amended March 28, 2006 to add Steven A. Rosenberg, M.D., Ph.D. as NCI Principal Investigator (PI) and to remove H. Richard Alexander, Jr., M.D. as NCI PI (Dr. Alexander resigned
his position at NCI in January 2006).  In addition, two clinical protocols were added to the CRADA, NCI #04-C-273 and NCI # 06-C-0088 as outlined in “Progress Report” above.

Other NCI CRADAs: None

MTAs: None

CTAs: None

PATENTS/PATENT APPLICATIONS:

Delcath Systems, Inc.

1) U.S. Issued Patent No. 5,069,662 entitled “Cancer Treatment.”  Inventor: William L. Bodden  (Assignee: Delcath Systems, Inc.).

1) U.S. Issued Patent No. 5,411,479 entitled “Cancer Treatment and Catheter for Use in Treatment.”  Inventor: William L. Bodden  (Assignee: Delcath Systems, Inc.).

3) U.S. Issued Patent No. 5,817,046 entitled “Apparatus and Method for Isolated Pelvic Perfusion.”  Inventor: Morton G. Glickman  (Assignee: Delcath Systems, Inc.).

4) U.S. Issued Patent No. 5,893,841 entitled “Balloon Catheter with Occluded Segment Bypass.”  Inventor: Morton Glickman  (Assignee: Delcath Systems, Inc.).
5) U.S. Issued Patent No. 5,897,533 entitled “Catheter Flow and Lateral Movement Controller.”  Inventor:  Morton G. Glickman  (Assignee: Delcath Systems, Inc.).

6) U.S. Issued Patent No. 5,919,163 entitled “Catheter with Slidable Balloon.”
Inventor:  Morton G. Glickman  (Assignee: Delcath Systems, Inc.).

7) U.S. Issued Patent No. 6,186,146 entitled “Cancer Treatment Method.”
Inventor: Morton Glickman  (Assignee: Delcath Systems, Inc.).

 
 



 
8)  U.S. Issued Patent No. 7,022,097 entitled “Method for Treating Glandular Diseases and Malignancies.”
Inventor: Morton G. Glickman  (Assignee: Delcath Systems, Inc.).

NCI

None

Abstract of the Research Plan of the CRADA for Public Release

 
The principal goal of this CRADA is to develop a novel form of regional cancer therapy by designing clinical protocols utilizing the “Delcath System” to deliver chemotherapeutics to organs for patients with unresectable
malignancies.  The “Delcath System” is a delivery device in which a therapeutic agent is infused into the artery of a target organ and then organ venous blood is collected and the compound filtered to eliminate unnecessary
systemic exposure and toxicity.

 
 



 

APPENDIX B
FINANCIAL AND STAFFING CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE PARTIES

For NCI

The Surgery Branch will commit the efforts of 1.0 full-time equivalent staff per year, as well as office support staff.  In addition, Surgery Branch will provide materials to the various clinical projects using CRADA funds as
supplied by the Delcath Systems, Inc. (“Delcath”), and as specified below under this CRADA.

For Delcath Systems, Inc.

Delcath will commit the efforts of 4.0 full-time equivalent personnel per year as necessary to the various research and product development projects.  The level of commitment to the various phases of the CRADA
research plan will be established and agreed to by Delcath and NCI.

Upon mutual consent of NCI and Delcath, additional Delcath employees may also work at the Surgery Branch to conduct CRADA related activities under an appropriate NCI Guest Researcher or Special Volunteer
Agreement as set out in paragraph 13.9 of the CRADA.  Personnel paid with CRADA funds will dedicate the majority of their time to work under the Research Plan; however, both parties acknowledge that
personnel paid with CRADA funds are free to participate in other projects and interactions typically found within the laboratory.

The key personnel who will be participating in this CRADA for Delcath as part of the product development and administrative teams are:

Richard Taney, Chief Executive Officer
Seymour Fein, M.D., Medical Monitor

In addition to the above "in kind" provisions, Delcath will contribute $1,000,000 per year, for a period of five (5) years for clinical support. These funds shall be payable in quarterly amounts of $250,000 with the first
payment due within 30 days of the CRADA Amendment effective date. These funds will be used for material support of the CRADA (including equipment, supplies, travel, and other related CRADA support), as well as
for support of existing or new scientific or clinical staff to be hired by NCI who are to perform work under this CRADA.  No CRADA funds will be used to support the salaries of full-time tenured federal employees.

Checks should be made payable to the “National Cancer Institute” and sent to:

CRADA Funds Coordinator
Technology Development and Commercialization Branch, NCI
6120 Executive Blvd, Suite 450
Rockville, MD 20852

The check must clearly reference the NCI CRADA Number and Title: CRADA No. 1303, “Cooperative Research and Development Agreement for the Development of the "Delcath System" for the Deliver of
Chemotherapeutics in the Treatment of Cancer.”  Subsequent payments shall be due at the beginning of each quarter, allowing for a thirty (30) day grace period for payment.

Delcath will also consider NCI requests for additional support, including travel in excess of one (1) round trip visit to Delcath per year, the latter to be funded from the $1,000,000 CRADA yearly funding, as well as
additional expenses, on a case-by-case basis.  Prior to the start of intramural and extramural clinical trials added by amendment to develop the “Delcath System”, Delcath will negotiate in good faith NCI’s request for
additional funding to support activities required for these clinical trials, including IND filings, the services of additional clinical support staff (including a perfusionist and/or data
manager),  pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic studies, and the training of extramural principal investigators in surgical procedures relating to the use of the Delcath System.   However, any additional funds to this CRADA
will only be provided following an amendment to the CRADA.

 
 



 
NCI will provide no funding to Delcath for collaborative research and development pursuant to this CRADA, inasmuch as financial contributions by the U.S. government to non-Federal parties under a CRADA is
prohibited under the Federal Technology Transfer Act of 1986 (15 U.S.C.§ 3710a(d)(1)).

MATERIALS

Delcath will provide the “Delcath System” for use in intramural clinical trials (and extramural trials, upon IRB approval and amendment to this CRADA)  by the Surgery Branch, NCI (see Appendix A, “Description of the
Contributions and Responsibilities of the Parties, Delcath Systems, Inc.” for a detailed description).

 
Surgery Branch, NCI will provide the study drug melphalan hydrochloride, in addition to material support for conducting clinical trials (see Appendix A, “Description of Contributions and Responsibilities of the Parties,
Surgery Branch, NCI” for a detailed description).

 
 



 

Confidential
APPENDIX C

EXCEPTIONS OR MODIFICATIONS TO THE STANDARD CRADA
AND

STANDARD MODIFICATIONS FOR INTRAMURAL CLINICAL TRIAL CRADAS
(orignal modifications are indicated by single underline and single strike-out; amendment  modifications are indicated by double underline and double strike-out) 

Amend Article 1 to read as follows:

Article 1.    Introduction

This Cooperative Research and Development Agreement (CRADA) between PHS and the Collaborator will be effective when signed by all Parties.  The research and development activities which will be undertaken by
each of the Parties in the course of this CRADA are detailed in the Research Plan (RP) which is attached as Appendix A.  The funding and staffing commitments of the Parties are set forth in Appendix B.  Any exceptions
or changes to the CRADA are set forth in Appendix C. The clinical protocol referenced in Article 2.18 is attached as Appendix D. This CRADA is made under the authority of the Federal Technology Transfer Act, 15
U.S.C. § 3710a and is governed by its terms.

Amend Article 2.11 to read as follows:

2.11 “Subject Data” means all recorded information first produced in the performance of this CRADA by the Parties.  “Subject Data” shall specifically exclude “Identifiable Private Information.”

Add the following new sections to the Article 2. Definitions:

2.12 “Adverse Drug Experience” means an adverse clinical experience as defined under 21 C.F.R.  § 310.305 or § 312.32 as applicable.

2.13 “Annual Report” means the brief report of the progress of an IND associated investigation which the IND sponsor is required to submit to the FDA within 60 days of the anniversary date that the IND went into
effect (pursuant to 21 C.F.R. § 312.33).  “Annual Report” also means the report of the progress of an IDE associated investigation which the IDE sponsor is required to submit to the FDA at least yearly (pursuant
to 21 C.F.R. § 812.150).

2.14 “FDA” means the U.S. Food and Drug Administration.

2.15 “IDE” means an Investigational Device Exemption application submitted to the FDA in order to receive approval for an investigational device to be used in an experimental clinical trial.

2.16 “Identifiable Private Information” means patient-identifying data from medical records or attached to patient specimens, to be obtained prospectively or from stored medical records or specimens, that can be linked
to individual human subjects, either directly or indirectly through codes.

 2.1517  “IND” means an Investigational New Drug Application submitted to the FDA to     receive approval to conduct experimental clinical trials.

 2.1618  “Protocol” means the Protocols, including the Standard Operating Procedure(SOP) numbered:
01-C-0215A, entitled “A Phase I Study of Hepatic Arterial Infusion of Escalating Dose Melphalan with Venous Filtration for Unresectable Cancers of the Liver”;
04-C-0273 entitled "A Phase II Study of Hepatic Arterial Infusion of Melphalan With Venous Filtration Via Peripheral Hepatic Perfusion (PHP) for Unresectable Primary and Metastatic Cancers of the Liver”; and
06-C-0088 entitled "A Random-Assignment Study of Hepatic Arterial Infusion of Melphalan with Venous Filtration via Peripheral Hepatic Perfusion (PHP) (Delcath System) Versus Best Alternative Care for
Ocular and Cutaneous Melanoma Metastatic to the Liver"

 
 



 
 which is attached hereto as Appendix D and is made a part of this Agreement.

2.17 “Steering Committee” means the joint PHS/Collaborator
research and

development team whose composition and responsibilities with regard to the clinical experiments performed under this CRADA are detailed in the
Protocol attached hereto as Appendix D.

2.1819  “Study” means the work performed by the Principal Investigators in connection with the Protocol.

2.20 “Study Device” means the Delcath System, a double balloon catheter device designed to isolate organs, including the liver, from the general circulatory system during liver cancer treatments with chemotherapy
and which returns blood exiting the liver to the general circulatory system only after the chemotherapeutic has been substantially removed by filtration.

 2.1921  “Study Drug” means melphalan hydrochloride in a finished dosage form, for example, tablet, capsule, namely, a solution, etc., that contains melphalan hydrochloride as the active agent generally, but not
necessarily, in association with inactive ingredients.  The term also includes a finished dosage form that does not contain an agent but is intended to be used as a placebo, as stated in the definition of “Drug
product” at 21 C.F.R. 210.3(a)(4). Additional Study Drugs may be added by mutual agreement of the parties and by amendment in accordance with section 13.6 of this CRADA.

 
Add a new Article 3.3 as follows:

3.3 Protocol Modification.  The Study shall be done in strict accordance with the Protocol and no changes in the finalized Protocol will be made unless mutually agreed upon in writing by both Parties.  In the event
that the appropriate Institutional Review Board (IRB) requires changes in the Protocol or the Informed Consent Form, both Parties agree to modify the Protocol and/or Informed Consent Form as
appropriate.  Clinical protocols for each study within the scope of the CRADA Research Plan will be developed by the PHS CRADA PI.  Each clinical protocol will describe in detail the research to be conducted
intramurally or extramurally.  Each clinical protocol developed by PHS CRADA PI will be forwarded to Collabo rator for review and comment approximately four (4) weeks before it is reviewed by the IRB.  Com ‐
ments from Collaborator received by the NCI PI before the IRB meeting will be discussed by the IRB, will be given due consideration, and will be incor porat ed into the protocol, absent good cause.  Comments
from either Collaborator or the NCI PI  that are agreed upon in the IRB meeting will be formatted as a con sensus review before the proto col will be given final approval and submitted to the FDA.  A copy of the
final ap proved protocol will be forwarded to Collaborator at the same time as it is submitted to the FDA.

Add a new Article 3.4 as follows:

3.4 Investigational New Drug Application and Investigational Device Exemption.  The Parties expect that either PHS or Collaborator will submit an IND which may cross-reference an IND, Drug Master File, or
New Drug Application held by the other.  The Parties will decide by mutual agreement which Party shall hold the IND for a selected Study.  In the event PHS elects to file its own IND, the Collaborator agrees to
provide PHS background data and information and agrees to execute such documents as may be reasonably required to effect such cross-reference.  The Collaborator’s employees will be reasonably available to
respond to inquiries from the FDA regarding information or data contained in the Collaborator’s IND, Drug Master File, New Drug Application, or other information and data provided to PHS by the Collaborator
pursuant to this Article 3.4.  Nothing herein shall require the Collaborator to undertake additional studies of any kind or to prepare and submit any additional data to the FDA which are not already included in the
Collaborator’s IND, Drug Master File, or New Drug Applications.  In the event that Collaborator supplies CONFIDENTIAL information directly to PHS in support of a PHS IND, such information will be
protected in accordance with the corresponding Confidentiality provisions of Article 8 of this Agreement.   The Collaborator may sponsor its own clinical trials and hold its own IND for studies performed outside
the scope of this CRADA from which all data is proprietary to the Collaborator for purposes of this CRADA.

 
 



 
Collaborator shall submit the IDE for all studies under this agreement.  The Collaborator’s employees will be reasonably available to respond to inquiries from the FDA regarding information or data contained in
the Collaborator’s IDE, Device Master File, Pre-Market Approval, or other information and data provided to PHS by the Collaborator pursuant to this Article 3.4.  Nothing herein shall require the Collaborator to
undertake additional studies of any kind or to prepare and submit any additional data to the FDA which are not already included in the Collaborator’s IDE, Device Master File, or Pre-Market Approval application.
The Collaborator may sponsor its own clinical trials and hold its own IDE for studies performed outside the scope of this CRADA from which all data is proprietary to the Collaborator for purposes of this
CRADA.

Add a new Article 3.5 as follows:

3.5 Device and Drug Information and Supply.  Collaborator agrees to provide PHS without charge clinical-grade current GMP Study Drug Device in sufficient quantity to complete the preclinical studies and
clinical trial Protocol(s) sponsored by PHS.  Furthermore, Collaborator agrees to provide without charge Study Drug, placebo or unformulated analytical grade Study Drug or metabolites, if available, to PHS for
the development of mutually agreed upon analytical assays or ancillary correlative studies conducted in conjunction with PHS-sponsored protocols.  Collaborator will provide Cer tifi cates of Analysis Study Device
specifications to PHS for each lot of finished product Study Device provided.

The Parties will decide by mutual agreement which Party shall provide the Study Drug for a selected study.  If Study Drug is supplied by Collaborator, the following terms will apply: Collaborator agrees to provide
PHS without charge clinical-grade Study Drug in sufficient quantity to complete the preclinical studies and clinical trial Protocol(s) sponsored by PHS.  Furthermore, Collaborator agrees to provide without charge
Study Drug, placebo or unformulated analytical grade Study Drug or metabolites, if available, to PHS for the development of mutually agreed upon analytical assays or ancillary correlative studies conducted in
conjunction with PHS-sponsored protocols.  Collaborator will provide Cer tifi cates of Analysis to PHS for each lot of finished Study Drug product provided.
For inquiries related to Study Drug and Study Device, the contact person for PHS will be H. Richard Alexander, M.D. Steven A. Rosenberg, M.D., Ph.D. as the NCI PI (Tele phone Number 301-496-2195) and the
Collaborator contact will be James Bartley, Director of Operations Richard L. Taney, Chief Executive Officer (Telephone Number 203-323-8668).

Add a new Article 3.6 as follows:

3.6 Device and Drug Delivery and Usage.  Collaborator shall ship Study Drug Device to PHS in appropriately marked containers in accordance with 21 C.F.R. § 812.5.   If Collaborator supplies Study Drug,
Collaborator shall ship Study Drug to PHS in appropriately marked containers in accordance with 21 C.F.R. § 312.6. The PIs shall take reasonable steps to ensure that appropriate record keeping and appropriate
usage of Study Drug and Study Device is are maintained in accordance with the Protocol and any applicable laws and regulations relating thereto.  Any unused quantity of Study Drug Device (and Study Drug, if
supplied by Collaborator) shall be returned to Collaborator by PHS at the conclusion of the Study, or earlier termination subject to Article 10.6 of this Appendix C.

Add a new Article 3.7 as follows:

3.7 Protection of Human Subjects and Appropriate Care of Laboratory Animals. All human clinical trials performed under this CRADA shall conform to the appropriate federal laws, including, but not limited to
all applicable FDA regulations and DHHS regulations relating to the protection of human subjects (see  45 C.F.R. Part 46).  PHS and Collaborator also agree to comply with all applicable federal statutes and Public
Health Service policies relating to the use and care of laboratory animals (see 7 U.S.C. 2131 et. seq.)  Additional information is available from the NIH Office for Protection from Research Risks Office for Human
Research Protections (OHRP), Telephone: 301-496-7163.

Add a new Article 3.8 as follows:

3.8 Monitoring.  H. Richard Alexander, M.D., Richard L. Taney as Collaborator PI shall be responsible for clinical site monitoring and the quality assurance of all data.  Monitoring shall be done in compliance with
FDA Good Clinical Practices Guidelines.

 
 



 
Add the following to the end of Article 4.1 Interim Reports as follows:

Steering Committee reports or c Copies of Annual Reports updating the progress of the CRADA research shall satisfy the reporting requirements under this Article 4.1.  In addition, copies of the Annual Reports
and other pertinent IND data (including, but not limited to, clinical brochure data, and formula tion and preclinical data, including toxicology findings) and IDE data (including a report of prior investigations
containing clinical, animal and laboratory testing of the device) shall be exchanged by the Parties  as they become available.

Add a new Article 4.3 as follows:

4.3 Adverse Drug Experience and Unanticipated Adverse Device Effect Reporting.    In accordance with FDA requirements, the Party(ies) which hold(s) the IDE and/or IND shall establish and maintain records
and make reports to the FDA as required by 21 C.F.R. 310.305 and 21 C.F.R. § 312.32 for the IND and 21 C.F.R. § 812.140 and § 812.150 for the IDE, as applicable.  In the conduct of research under this CRADA,
the Parties also agree to adhere to specific NIH and NCI guidelines and policies for reporting Adverse Drug Reporting adverse events as specified in “A Phase I Study of Hepatic Arterial Infusion of Escalating
Dose Melphalan with Venous Filtration for Unresectable Cancers of the Liver.” the Protocols. The Party which holds the IND and/or IDE agrees to provide the other Party copies of all Adverse Drug Experience
and Unanticipated Adverse Device Effect reports concurrently with their submission to the FDA, including copies of any warning letters or other information affecting the safety and/or well-being of human
subjects in research conducted under this CRADA.

Add a new Article 4.4 as follows:

4.4 Annual Reports.   The IND and the IDE holder(s) shall provide the other Party a copy of the Annual Report thirty (30) days prior to submission of the Annual Report to the FDA.  The reviewing Party will then
have fourteen (14) days to review the Annual Report and to provide comments to the IND and the IDE holder(s).

Amend Article 6.1 to read as follows:

6.1 Reporting.  The Parties shall promptly report to each other in writing each Subject Invention and any patent applications filed thereon resulting from the research conducted under this CRADA that is reported to
them by their respective employees.  Each Party shall report all Subject Inventions to the other Party in sufficient detail to determine  inventorship.  Such reports on Subject Inventions shall be treated as
Proprietary/Confidential Information in accordance with Article 8.4.

 Amend Article 6.2 to read as follows:

6.2 Filing of Patent Applications. Each party shall be responsible for filing patent or other IP applications on Subject Inventions in a timely manner and at its own expense and after consultation with the other
Party.  The Parties will consult and mutually determine a filing strategy for jointly-owned subject inventions.   For joint inventions, each Subject Invention made jointly by PHS and Collaborator employees shall be
jointly owned by PHS and the Collaborator.  The Collaborator may elect to file the joint patent or other IP application(s) thereon and shall notify PHS promptly upon making this election.  If the Collaborator
decides to file such applications, it shall do so in a timely manner, at its own expense, and in the name of both Parties.  If the Collaborator does not elect to file such application(s), PHS on behalf of the U.S.
Government shall have the right to file the joint application(s) in a timely manner, at its own expense, and in the name of both Parties.  If either Party decides not to retain its IP rights to a jointly owned Subject
Invention, it shall offer to assign such rights to the other Party.  If the other Party declines such assignment, the offering Party may release its IP rights as it may determine.

 Amend Article 6.3 to read as follows:
 

 



 

6.3 Patent Expenses.  The expenses attendant to the filing of patent or other IP applications on Subject Inventions generally shall be paid by the Party filing such application.  If an exclusive license to any Subject
Invention is granted to the Collaborator, the Collaborator shall be responsible for all past and future out-of-pocket expenses in connection with the preparation, filing,  prosecution and maintenance of any
applications claiming such exclusively-licensed inventions and any patents or other IP grants that may issue on such applications.  The Collaborator may waive its exclusive license rights on any Subject
Invention  application, patent or other IP grant at any time, and incur no subsequent compensation obligation for that Subject Invention application, patent or IP grant.

 Amend Article 6.4 to read as follows:

6.4 Prosecution of Intellectual Property Applications.  Within one month of receipt or filing of a patent application on a Subject Invention(s), each Party shall provide the other Party with copies of the applications
and all documents received from or filed with the relevant patent or other IP office in connection with the prosecution of such applications.  Each Party shall also provide the other Party with the power to inspect
and make copies of all documents retained in the patent or other IP application files for Subject Invention(s) by the applicable patent or other IP office.  Where licensing is contemplated by Collaborator, the Parties
agree to consult with each other with respect to the prosecution of applications for PHS Subject Inventions and joint Subject Inventions.  If the Parties agree that Collaborator shall file and prosecute IP applications
on joint Subject Inventions, then Collaborator agrees to grant PHS an associate power of attorney (or its equivalent) on such IP applications.  If the Parties agree that Collaborator shall file and prosecute IP
applications on PHS and joint Subject Inventions, then Collaborator agrees to all Customer Number Practice and/or granting of  power(s) of attorney (or its equivalent) necessary to assure PHS access to its United
States, International, and Foreign intellectual property rights on said applications.

 Amend Article 7.2 to read as follows:

7.2 Exercise of License Option.  The option of Article 7.1 must be exercised by written notice mailed within three (3) six (6) months after either (I) Collaborator receives written notice from PHS that the patent or
other IP application has been filed; or (ii) the date Collaborator files such IP application.  Exercise of this option by the Collaborator initiates a negotiation period that expires nine (9) three (3) months after the
exercise of the option.  If the last proposal by the Collaborator has not been responded to in writing by PHS within this nine (9) three (3) month period, the negotiation period shall be extended to expire one (1)
month after PHS so responds, during which month the Collaborator may accept in writing the final license proposal of PHS.  In the absence of such acceptance, or an extension of the time limits by PHS, PHS will
be free to license such IP rights to others.  In the event that the Collaborator elects the option for an exclusive license, but no such license is executed during the negotiation period, PHS agrees not to make an offer
for an exclusive license on more favorable terms to a third party for a period of six (6) months without first offering Collaborator those more favorable terms. These times may be extended at the sole discretion of
PHS upon good cause shown in writing by the Collaborator.

 Amend Article 7.4 to read as follows:

7.4 License in Collaborator Inventions.  Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 3710a(b)(2), for inventions made solely by Collaborator employees under this CRADA, the Collaborator grants to the Government a nonexclusive,
nontransferable, irrevocable, paid-up license to practice the invention or have the invention practiced throughout the world by or on behalf of the Government for research or other Government purposes.  In
accordance with Article 8.5, in the exercise of such license, the Government shall not publicly disclose trade secrets or commercial or financial information that is privileged or confidential within the meaning of 5
U.S.C 552(b)(4).

 
 



 

 Amend Article 8.3 to read as follows:

8.3 Dissemination of Subject Data and Research Materials.  To the extent permitted by law, the Collaborator and PHS agree to use reasonable efforts to keep Subject Data and Research Materials confidential until
published or until corresponding patent applications are filed.  Any information that would identify human subjects of research or patients will always be maintained confidentially.  To the extent permitted by law,
the Collaborator shall have the exclusive right to use any and all CRADA Subject Data in and for any regulatory filing by or on behalf of Collaborator, except that PHS shall have the exclusive right to use Subject
Data for that purpose, and authorize others to do so, if the CRADA is terminated or and if Collaborator abandons its commercialization efforts.  Collaborator acknowledges the basic research mission of the PHS,
and agrees that after publication, PHS may make unpatented research materials arising out of this CRADA available to third parties for further research.

 
 Amend Article 8.4 to read as follows:

8.4 Proprietary/Confidential Information.  Each Party agrees to limit its disclosure of Proprietary/Confidential Information to the amount necessary to carry out the Research Plan of this CRADA, and shall place a
confidentiality notice on all such information.  Confidential oral communications shall be reduced to writing within 30 days by the disclosing Party.  Each Party receiving Proprietary/Confidential Information
agrees that any information so designated shall be used by it only for the purposes described in the attached Research Plan.  Any Party may object to the designation of information as Proprietary/Confidential
Information by another Party.  Although certain research materials provided under this Agreement are CONFIDENTIAL and will be so stamped, Collaborator recognizes that the NIH PI may need to disclose
certain information concerning CONFIDENTIAL materials to patients (or to physicians or scientists where such disclosure is made in order to directly facilitate the ongoing treatment of a patient, or the
development of a treatment for a patient).  Collaborator hereby authorizes such limited disclosures and the NIH PI agrees to promptly acknowledge to Collaborator the making of any such disclosure.  Subject Data
and Research Materials developed solely by the Collaborator may be designated as Proprietary/Confidential Information when they are wholly separable from the Subject Data and Research Materials developed
jointly with PHS investigators, and advance designation of such data and material categories is set forth in the RP.  The exchange of other confidential information, e.g.,  patient-identifying data, Identifiable Private
Information, should be similarly limited and treated shall be subject to the terms of Article 8.9.  Jointly developed Subject Data and Research Material derived from the Research Plan may be disclosed by
Collaborator to a third party under a confidentiality agreement for the purpose of possible sublicensing pursuant to the Licensing Agreement and subject to Article 8.7.

 
 Amend Article 8.5 to read as follows:

8.5 Protection of Proprietary/Confidential Information.  Subject to the provisions in 8.4, Proprietary/Confidential Information shall not be disclosed, copied, reproduced or otherwise made available to any other
person or entity without the consent of the owning Party except as required under court order or the Freedom of Information Act (5 U.S.C. § 552).  Each Party agrees to use its best efforts to maintain the
confidentiality of Proprietary/Confidential Information.  Each Party agrees that the other Party is not liable for the disclosure of Proprietary/Confidential Information which, after notice to and consultation with the
concerned Party, the other Party in possession of the Proprietary/Confidential Information determines may not be lawfully withheld, provided the concerned Party has been given an opportunity to seek a court
order to enjoin disclosure.

 
 Amend Article 8.6 to read as follows:

8.6 Duration of Confidentiality Obligation.  The obligation to maintain the confidentiality of Proprietary/Confidential Information as described in Section 8.4 and 8.5 shall expire at the earlier of the date when the
information is no longer Proprietary Information as defined in Article 2.7 or three (3) years after the expiration or termination date of this CRADA.  The Collaborator may request an two (2) year extension to this
term in writing when necessary to protect Proprietary/Confidential Information relating to products not yet commercialized.

 
 



 
 Add a new Article 8.8 as follows:

8.8 Multi-Party Data and Intellectual Property Rights.  For clinical protocol(s) where Agent Study Device is used in combination with another investigational compound(s)  which is (are) proprietary to an
entity(ies) not a Party to this CRADA [hereinafter referred to as Second Party], the access and use of data derived from such combination studies, [hereinafter referred to as Multi-Party Data], by the Collaborator
and  Second Party shall be co-exclusive as follows:

 a. In situations where Agent Study Device is to be used in combination with another proprietary investigational compound, PHS will provide all Parties with notice regarding the existence and nature of any
agreements governing their use of Agent Study Device including, the design of the proposed combination protocol(s) and the existence of any obligations that might restrict PHS’s participation in the
proposed combination protocols.

 b. Collaborator agrees to permit use of the Multi-Party Data from these trials by the Second Party to the extent necessary to allow said Second Party to develop, obtain regulatory approval or commercialize
its own proprietary investigational compound.  However, this provision will not apply unless said Second Party also agrees to Collaborator’s reciprocal use of Multi-Party Data.

 c. Collaborator and Second Party must agree in writing prior to the commencement of the combination trials that each will use the Multi-Party Data solely for development, regulatory approval, and
commercialization of its own proprietary investigational compound(s) or Study Device.

 Add a new Article 8.9 as follows:

8.9. Access, Review and Receipt of Identifiable Private Information.  Collaborator access to and review of Identifiable Private Information shall be only for on-site quality auditing. Collaborator will receive Identifiable
Private Information only if necessary for purposes of satisfying FDA or other health authorities’ reporting requirements, and for internal research purposes directly related to obtaining regulatory approval of Agent.
Collaborator is prohibited from access, review, receipt, or use of such information for other purposes.  All IRB approved protocols and informed consent documents related to this research project will clearly
describe this practice.  If the Collaborator will have access to Identifiable Private Information, the protocol and the informed consent must clearly state (i) the existence of the Collaborator; (ii) the Collaborator’s
access to Identifiable Private Information, if any; and (iii) the extent to which confidentiality will be maintained. For clinical protocol(s) involving a third party, the other party’s access, review, receipt, or use of
Identifiable Private Information shall be subject to the same limitations as described in this Article 8.9.

  

 Amend Article 10.2 to read as follows:

10.2 Unilateral Termination.  Either PHS or the Collaborator may unilaterally terminate this entire CRADA at any time by giving written notice at least thirty (30) days prior to the desired termination date, and any
rights accrued in property, patents or other IP rights shall be disposed of as provided in paragraph 10.1, except that PHS may, at its option, retain funds transferred to PHS prior to unilateral termination
by  Collaborator for use in completing the Research Plan solely or with another partner. Any Research Materials within Collaborator’s possession which are a product of the Study must be transferred immediately
to PHS before the desired termination date of the CRADA.

 Amend Article 10.3 to read as follows:

10.3 Staffing.  If this CRADA is mutually or unilaterally terminated prior to its expiration, funds already received will nevertheless remain available to PHS for continuing any staffing commitment made by the
Collaborator pursuant to Article 5.1 above and Appendix B, if applicable, for a period of six months after such termination.  If there are insufficient funds to cover this expense, the Collaborator agrees to pay the
difference sufficient funds to cover this initial six month period following termination.

 Add a new Article 10.6 as follows:

10.6 Research License and Alternative Sources of Supply In the Event Collaborator Terminates Development of Agent Study Device (and Study Drug, if Supplied by Collaborator)

a.  In the event Collaborator elects to terminate its development of Study Drug Device (and Study Drug, if supplied by Collaborator) without the transfer of its development efforts and obligations under this
agreement to another party within ninety (90) days of discontinuation, and PHS wants to continue its development of Study Drug Device by completing the clinical studies which are then approved and/or ongoing,
then Collaborator will for a period of no more than two (2) years:

 
 
 

 



 
(i)  provide PHS with Study Drug Device (and Study Drug, if supplied by Collaborator) and/or matching placebo from Collaborator inventory sufficient to complete the Study in the manner described

in the Protocol.  Or,

 (ii) arrange, at Collaborator’s expense, for an independent contractor to manufacture and/or provide PHS Study Drug Device (and Study Drug, if supplied by Collaborator) and/or matching placebo
sufficient to complete the Study in the manner described in the Protocol.

 b. In the event that Collaborator is unable to meet the obligations imposed by (i) or (ii) above, at the discretion of PHS, Collaborator shall provide PHS all information necessary to allow PHS to contract and
manufacture said Study Drug Device and/ or matching placebo independent of Collaborator for use in preclinical studies and clinical trials.  Such obligation shall last until either a date on which an
alternate source of equivalent materials, acceptable to PHS, can be obtained by PHS, or two years after the date of notification by Collaborator to PHS that Collaborator elects to terminate its development
of Study Drug Device, whichever comes first.

 c. Collaborator hereby grants to PHS a nonexclusive, nontransferable,irrevocable, paid-up license to practice or have practiced for or on behalf of the United States any invention which Collaborator may
have or obtain on Study Drug Device, its manufacture, or on the process for use of Study Drug Device, throughout the world, for medical research purposes, but this license shall become effective only if
and when Collaborator  terminates its development of Study Drug Device without the transfer of its development efforts to another party within ninety (90) days of termination, and PHS elects to continue
the development of Study Drug Device.

 
 Replace the text under Article 12.3 Indemnification with the following:

No indemnification for any loss, claim, damage, or liability is intended or provided by any party under this agreement.  Each party shall be liable for any loss, claim, damage, or liability that said party incurs as a
result of said party’s activities under this agreement, except that PHS, as an agency of the United States, assumes liability only to the extent as provided under the Federal Tort Claims Act (28 U.S.C. Ch. 171).

 Amend Article 13.1 to read as follows:

13.1 Governing Law.  The construction, validity, performance and effect of this CRADA shall be governed by Federal law, as applied by the Federal Courts in the District of Columbia.  Federal law and regulations will
preempt any conflicting or inconsistent provisions in this CRADA.  NCI and Collaborator, if Collaborator is sponsoring trials at the NIH under this CRADA, shall comply with all Department of Health and Human
Services regulations relating to Human Subject use, and all Public Health Service policies relating to the use and care of laboratory animals.

 Amend Article 13.2 to read as follows:

13.2 Entire Agreement.  This CRADA together with the Appendices constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties concerning the subject matter of this CRADA and supersedes any prior understanding or
written or oral agreement.

 
 Amend Article 13.10 to read as follows:

13.10 Use of Name or Endorsements.  By entering into this CRADA, PHS does not directly or indirectly endorse any product or service provided, or to be provided, whether directly or indirectly related to either this
CRADA or to any patent or other IP license or agreement which implements this CRADA by its successors, assignees, or licensees.  The Collaborator shall not in any way state or imply that this CRADA is an
endorsement of any such product or service by the U.S. Government or any of its organizational units or employees.  Collaborator issued p Press releases issued by either Party that reference or rely upon the work
of PHS under this CRADA shall be made available to PHS the other Party at least 7 days prior to publication for review and comment.

 
 



 
 Add a new Article 13.13 as follows:

13.13 FDA Meetings.  All meetings with FDA concerning clinical studies for the development of Agent Study Drug and Study Device within the scope of the CRADA Research Plan will be discussed by Collabo rator
and NIH in advance and will be held on mutually agreed upon dates.  Collabo rator reserves the right to set jointly with NIH the agenda for any such meeting.
 
 

 Add a new Article 13.14 as follows:

13.14 Conflicts.  In the event of a conflict between the Protocol as attached as Appendix D and the Model CRADA as modified by this Appendix C, the terms of the Model CRADA and this Appendix C shall prevail.

 Add a new Article 13.15 as follows:

13.15 Statutory Compliance.  PHS and Collaborator agree to conduct the Study in accordance with the applicable portions of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, 21 U.S.C. § 301 et. seq., and its implementing
regulations and other applicable federal regulations.

 Amend Article 14.1 to read as follows:

14.1 Duration.  It is mutually recognized that the duration of this project cannot be rigidly defined in advance, and that the contemplated time periods for various phases of the RP are only good faith guidelines subject
to adjustment by mutual agreement to fit circumstances as the RP proceeds.  In no case will the term of this CRADA extend beyond the term indicated in the RP unless it is revised in accordance with Article
13.6.  The term of this CRADA is made retroactive to expiration date of the original CRADA of December 14, 2006.

 Add the following to Article 14.2 Survivability as follows:

Articles 3.5, 4.3, 8.9, 10.6, and the last sentence of Article 10.2 as provisions that will survive termination of this CRADA.

 



 



EXHIBIT 10.34
 
 
 

EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION GRANT LETTER
 

DELCATH SYSTEMS, INC.
 

2009 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN
 
October 20, 2009
 
Krishna Kandarpa, MD, Ph.D.
34 Sears Road
Southborough, MA 01772
 
Dear Dr. Kandarpa:
 
This Grant Letter sets forth the terms and conditions of the stock option granted to you by Delcath Systems, Inc. (the “Company”) on October 20, 2009 (the “Grant Date”), in accordance with the provisions of its 2009
Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”).  You have been granted an option (the “Option”) to purchase 100,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock (“Common Stock”).  The Option is not intended to be an incentive stock
option within the meaning of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”).  You are a party to an employment agreement entered into with the Company on September 30, 2009 (as the same
may be amended or restated from time to time, the “Employment Agreement”).
 
The Option is subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Plan, any rules and regulations adopted by the Committee (as defined in the Plan) from time to time, and this Grant Letter.  Any terms used in this Grant
Letter and not defined herein have the meanings set forth in the Plan.
 
1. Option Price
 
The price at which you may purchase the shares of Common Stock covered by the Option is $6.09 per share, which is the Fair Market Value of a share on the date of grant of your Option.
 
2. Term of Option
 
Your Option expires on October 20, 2019.  However, your Option may terminate prior to such expiration date as provided in paragraph 6 of this Grant Letter or pursuant to the Plan.  Regardless of the provisions of
paragraph 6 and the Plan, in no event can your Option be exercised after the expiration date set forth in this paragraph 2.
 
3. Exercisability of Option
 
 (a) Unless it becomes exercisable on an earlier date as provided in paragraph 6 or pursuant to the Plan, your Option will become exercisable in installments as follows, provided that you remain in continuous

service as an employee of the Company or its Subsidiaries on such date:
 

PERIOD NUMBER OF SHARES COMMON STOCK AS TO WHICH THE OPTION BECOMES EXERCISABLE

October 20, 2009 4,000
Each of the first 23 monthly anniversaries of the Grant Date, beginning November 20, 2009 4,000

 
 (b) If earlier than provided in Section 3(a) (and without duplication, reduced by any shares that have previously become exercisable pursuant to Section 3(a)), provided you remain in continuous service as an

employee of the Company of its Subsidaries on such date; (i) 25% of the shares subject to the Option shall become exercisable upon receipt by the Company of financing from third party investors of $15
million or more (gross proceeds), (ii) 25% of the shares subject to the Option shall become exercisable on submission to the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”), with the consent of the Board, of
a Premarket Approval or New Drug Approval (as such terms are used by the FDA) for the Company’s percutaneous hepatic perfusion treatment system, and (iii) 50% of the shares subject to the Option
shall become exercisable upon the FDA’s formal written notice of such approval including FDA-approved labeling language for the percutaneous hepatic perfusion treatment.

 
 (c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, all shares subject to the Option shall immediately become exercisable upon (i) your Involuntary Termination (as defined in the Employment Agreement) after the first

anniversary of the Effective Date as provided in the Employment Agreement or (ii) a Change of Control (as such term is defined in subsections (a)-(d) of the definition of “Change of Control” contained in
the Plan).  Upon your Involuntary Termination between the Effective Date and the first anniversary of your Effective Date, an additional number of shares subject to the Option shall become exercisable
such that the Option shall be exercisable as to a total of 50% of the shares.

 
 (d) To the extent your Option has become exercisable, you may exercise the Option to purchase all or any part of such shares at any time on or before the date the Option expires or terminates.
 
4. Exercise of Option.
 
You may exercise your Option by giving written notice to the Company of the number of shares of Common Stock you desire to purchase and paying the option price for such shares. The notice must be in the form
provided by the Company from time to time (the “Option Exercise Form”), which may be obtained from the Company’s Controller.  The notice must be hand delivered or mailed to the Company at the address of its
executive offices, 600 Fifth Avenue, 23rd Floor, New York, NY 10020; Attention: Controller, or may be provided electronically to the extent and in the manner provided under procedures adopted by the Company.  Payment
of the option price may be made in any manner permitted under paragraph 5.  The cash, Common Stock, or documentation described in the applicable provision of paragraph 5 must accompany the Option Exercise
Form.  Subject to Section 5, your Option will be deemed exercised on the date the Option Exercise Form (and payment of the option price) is hand delivered, received by electronic transmission (if permitted) received by
overnight courier, or, if mailed, postmarked.
 
5. Satisfaction of Option Price.
 
Your Option may be exercised by payment of the option price in cash (including check, bank draft, money order, or wire transfer to the order of the Company).  Unless prohibited by the Committee in its discretion (at any
time prior to completion of the desired Option exercise), your Option may also be exercised using any of the following methods or a combination thereof:
 
 (a) Payment of Common Stock.  You may satisfy the option price by tendering shares of Common Stock that you own.  For this purpose, the shares of Common Stock so tendered shall be valued at the

closing sales price of the Common Stock on The Nasdaq Capital Market (or the exchange or market determined by the Committee to be the primary market for the Common Stock) for the day before the
date of exercise or, if no such sale of Common Stock occurs on such date, the closing sales price on the nearest trading date before such date.  The certificate(s) evidencing shares tendered in payment of
the option price must be duly endorsed or accompanied by appropriate stock powers.  Only stock certificates issued solely in your name may be tendered to exercise your Option.  Fractional shares may
not be tendered in satisfaction of the option price; any portion of the option price that is in excess of the aggregate value (as determined under this paragraph 5(a)) of the number of whole shares tendered
must be paid in cash.  If a certificate tendered in exercise of the Option evidences more shares than are required pursuant to the immediately preceding sentence for satisfaction of the portion of the option
price being paid in Common Stock, an appropriate replacement certificate will be issued to you for the number of excess shares.

 
 

 



 
 (b) Broker-Assisted Cashless Exercise.  You may satisfy the option price by delivering to the Company a copy of irrevocable instructions to a broker acceptable to the Company to sell shares of Common

Stock (or a sufficient portion of such shares) acquired upon exercise of the Option and remit to the Company a sufficient portion of the sale proceeds to pay the total option price and withholding tax
obligation resulting from such exercise.  The broker must agree to deposit the entire sale proceeds into a Company-owned account pending delivery to the Company of the option price and tax withholding
amount.  Shares issued under this method of exercise will be issued to the designated brokerage firm for your account.  The ability to use this method of exercise is subject to the Company’s approval of
the broker and of the specific mechanics of exercise.

 
 (c) Net Share Exercise.  You may satisfy the option price by delivering to the Company an Option Exercise Form that directs the Company to withhold a sufficient number of the shares acquired upon

exercise to satisfy the aggregate option price and tax withholding obligation with respect to the shares as to which the Option is being exercised.  For purposes of this provision, the shares of Common
Stock applied to satisfy the option price and withholding obligation shall be valued in the same manner as provided under paragraph 5(a).

 
6. Termination of Employment
 

(a)         General.  The following special rules apply to your Option in the event of your death, disability, retirement, or other termination of employment.  Following your employment termination, your Option
will be exercisable only with respect to the number of shares you were entitled to purchase on the date of the termination of your employment and only for the period of time specified below.  The Option shall
terminate upon the date of the termination of your employment with respect to any shares that were not exercisable as of your employment termination date.

 
 (i) Termination of Employment for Cause.  If the Company or a Subsidiary terminates your employment for Cause, your Option will terminate on the date of such termination of employment.  For

this purpose, “Cause” shall have the meaning set forth in your Employment Agreement.
 
 (ii) Resignation.  If you resign from the Company or a Subsidiary other than upon Retirement (as defined below), your Option will terminate 90 days after such termination of employment.
 
 (iii) Termination Without Cause.  If the Company or a Subsidiary terminates your employment without Cause or if the Subsidiary or division in which you are employed is sold by the Company,

your Option will terminate 90 days after such termination of employment.
 
 (iv) Death or Disability.  If your employment terminates by reason of death or Disability, your Option will terminate one year after such termination of employment.  For purposes of this provision,

“Disability” shall have the meaning set forth in the Employment Agreement.
 
 (v) Retirement.  Upon your Retirement from the Company, except as provided in the next sentence, you may exercise your Option for a period of one year following your Retirement, but not beyond

the term of the Option.  If you serve as a director of the Company immediately following your Retirement, your Option will terminate one year after the termination of your service as a director,
but not beyond the term of the Option.  For purposes of this provision, “Retirement” means termination of your employment with the Company and its Subsidiaries after you have attained age 60
and ten years of continuous employment with the Company and/or its Subsidiaries.

 
 

 



 
 (vi) Acceleration and Adjustments of Exercise Period.  The Committee may, in its discretion, declare all or any portion of your Option immediately exercisable and/or permit all or any part of your

Option to remain exercisable for such period designated by it after the time when the Option would have otherwise terminated as provided in the applicable portion of this paragraph 6(a), but not
beyond the expiration date of your Option as set forth in paragraph 2 above.

 
 (b) Committee Determinations.  The Committee shall have absolute discretion to make all determinations reserved to it under the Plan or this Grant Letter, including without limitation the date and

circumstances of termination of your employment, and its determinations shall be final, conclusive and binding upon you and your beneficiaries.
 
7. Tax Withholding.
 
You must make arrangements satisfactory to the Company to satisfy any applicable federal, state, local or other withholding tax liability.  If you exercise your Option by payment of cash or Common Stock, you can satisfy
your withholding obligation by making a cash payment to the Company of the required amount.  In addition, unless the Committee in its discretion prohibits such method, you may satisfy your withholding obligation by
having the Company retain from the Common Stock otherwise deliverable to you upon exercise of your Option shares of Common Stock having a value equal to the minimum amount of any required tax withholding with
respect to the exercise.  If you exercise your Option using the broker-assisted cashless option exercise method, the Committee may require that any required tax withholding be retained by the Company from the proceeds
of the sale of your shares.  If you fail to satisfy your withholding obligation in a time and manner satisfactory to the Company, the Company or a Subsidiary shall have the right to withhold the required amount from your
salary or other amounts payable to you.
 
Any election to have shares withheld must be made on or before the date you exercise your Option.  A copy of the withholding election form may be obtained from the Company’s Controller.  The election form does not
apply to exercises under the cashless option exercise method or the net share exercise method.  Share withholding is mandatory if you are using the net share method of exercise.
 
The amount of withholding tax retained by the Company or paid by you to the Company will be paid to the appropriate tax authorities in satisfaction of the withholding obligations under the tax laws.  The total amount of
income you recognize by reason of exercise of the Option will be reported to the tax authorities in the year in which you recognize income with respect to the exercise.  Whether you owe additional tax will depend on your
overall taxable income for the applicable year and the total tax remitted for that year through withholding or by estimated payments.
 
8. Administration of the Plan.
 
The Plan is administered by the Committee.  The Committee has authority to interpret the Plan, to adopt rules for administering the Plan, to decide all questions of fact arising under the Plan, and generally to make all other
determinations necessary or advisable for administration of the Plan.  All decisions and acts of the Committee are final and binding on all affected Plan participants.
 
9. Non-transferability of Option.
 
The Option granted to you by this Grant Letter may be exercised only by you, and may not be assigned, pledged, or otherwise transferred by you, with the exception that in the event of your  death the Option may be
exercised (at any time prior to its expiration or termination as provided in paragraphs 2 and 6) by the executor or administrator of your estate or by a person who acquired the right to exercise your Option by bequest or
inheritance or  by reason of your death.
 
10. Amendment and Adjustments to your Option.
 
The Plan authorizes the Board or the Committee to make amendments and adjustments to outstanding awards, including the Option granted by this Grant Letter, in specified circumstances, as provided in the Plan.
 
 
 

 



 
11. Effect on Other Benefits.
 
Income recognized by you as a result of exercise of the Option will not be included in the formula for calculating benefits under the Company’s other benefit plans.
 
12. Regulatory Compliance.
 
Under the Plan, the Company is not required to deliver Common Stock upon exercise of your Option if such delivery would violate any applicable law or regulation or stock exchange requirement.  If required by law or
regulation, the Company may impose restrictions on your ability to transfer shares received under the Plan.
 
13. Data Privacy.
 



By accepting this Option you expressly consent to the collection, use and transfer, in electronic or other form, of your personal data by and among the Company, its Subsidiaries and any broker or third party assisting the
Company in administering the Plan or providing recordkeeping services for the Plan, for the purpose of implementing, administering and managing your participation in the Plan.  By accepting this Option you waive any
data privacy rights you may have with respect to such information.  You may revoke the consent and waiver described in this paragraph by written notice to the Company’s Controller; however any such revocation may
adversely affect your ability to participate in the Plan and to exercise any stock options previously granted under the Plan.
 
14. Consent to Jurisdiction.
 
Your Option and the Plan are governed by the laws of the State of Delaware without regard to any conflict of law rules.  Any dispute arising out of this Option or the Plan may be resolved only in a state or federal court
located within New York County, New York State, U.S.A.  This Option is issued on the condition that you accept such venue and submit to the personal jurisdiction of any such court.
 
15.           Entire Agreement.
 
This Grant Letter embodies the entire agreement of the parties hereto respecting the matters within its scope.  This Grant Letter supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements of the parties hereto that directly or
indirectly bear upon the subject matter hereof, including, without limitation, the Employment Agreement.  Any prior negotiations, correspondence, agreements, proposals or understandings relating to the subject matter
hereof shall be deemed to have been merger into this Grant Letter, and to the extent inconsistent herewith, such negotiations, correspondence, agreements, proposals, or understandings shall be deemed to be of no force or
effect.  There are no representations, warranties, or agreements, whether express or implied, or oral or written, with respect to the subject matter hereof, except as expressly set forth herein.
 
 
*     *     *     *     *
 
If you have any questions regarding your Option or would like to obtain additional information about the Plan or its administration, please contact the Company’s Controller, Delcath Systems, Inc., 600 Fifth Avenue, 23rd

Floor, New York, NY 10020 (telephone (212) 489-2100).
 
This Grant Letter contains the formal terms and conditions of your award and accordingly should be retained in your files for future reference.
 

 Very truly yours,
 /s/ Eamonn P. Hobbs
 Eamonn P. Hobbs
 President and Chief Executive Officer
  
 Acknowledged and Agreed:
 /s/ Krishna Kandarpa
 Krishna Kandarpa, MD, Ph.D.

 



EXHIBIT 10.35
RESTRICTED STOCK AGREEMENT

This Restricted Stock Agreement (“Agreement”) is made as of October 20, 2009 (the “Grant Date”) between Delcath Systems, Inc. (the “Company”) and Krishna Kandarpa, MD, Ph.D. (the “Executive”).

WHEREAS, the Company maintains the Delcath Systems, Inc. 2009 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (the “Plan”), which is administered by a committee designated by the Company’s Board of Directors (the
“Committee”), and

WHEREAS, in consideration of the Executive’s continued employment with the Company, the Committee has determined that the Executive shall be granted an award of Restricted Stock under the Plan, and

WHEREAS, to comply with the terms of the Plan and to further the interests of the Company and the Executive, the parties hereto have set forth the terms of such award in writing in this Agreement;

NOW, THEREFORE, the Company and the Executive agree as follows:

1.           Award.

 (a) Grant. The Executive is hereby granted 200,000 shares (the “Restricted Stock”) of the Company’s common stock, par value $.01 per share (“Stock”), which shall be issued in the Executive’s name subject
to the restrictions contained in this Agreement.  The Restricted Stock award pursuant to this Agreement is separate from and not in tandem with any other award(s) granted to the Executive under the Plan
or otherwise.

 (b) Plan Incorporated. The Executive acknowledges receipt of a copy of the Plan and agrees that this award of Restricted Stock shall be subject to all of the terms and conditions set forth in the Plan, including
future amendments thereto, if any, pursuant to the terms thereof, which Plan is incorporated herein by reference as a part of this Agreement. Any terms used in this Agreement and not defined herein have
the meanings set forth in the Plan.

2. Restrictions.  The shares of Restricted Stock are subject to the following restrictions (collectively, the “Restrictions”):

 (a) Forfeiture Restrictions.  If the Executive’s employment with the Company shall terminate for any reason other than those provided in Section 3 below, the Executive shall forfeit the right to receive any
shares of Restricted Stock with respect to which the Restrictions have not lapsed as provided in Section 3 below as of the effective date of termination of Executive’s employment.

 
 (b) Restrictions on Transfer. The Executive may not sell, assign, pledge, exchange, hypothecate or otherwise transfer, encumber or dispose of any shares of Restricted Stock with respect to which the

Restrictions have not lapsed as provided in Section 3 below. Upon any violation of this restriction, the shares of Restricted Stock with respect to which the Restrictions have not lapsed as provided in
Section 3 below shall be forfeited.

3.           Lapse of Restrictions.

 (a) Unless otherwise accelerated pursuant to this Section 3 or otherwise by the Committee pursuant to its authority under the Plan, the Restrictions will lapse with respect to the shares of Restricted Stock in
accordance with the following schedule:

 
NUMBER DATE

100,000 shares October 20, 2010
100,000 shares October 20, 2011

 
 



 
 (b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if earlier than provided in the immediately preceding section (and, without duplication, reduced by any shares that previously vested pursuant to the immediately preceding

sentence), the restrictions with respect to (i) 50,000 shares of Restricted Stock shall lapse upon receipt by the Company of financing from third party investors of $15 million or more (gross proceeds), (ii)
50,000 shares of Restricted Stock shall lapse on submission to the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (the “FDA”), with the consent of the Board, of a Premarket Approval or New Drug Approval (as
such terms are used by the FDA) for the Company’s percutaneous hepatic perfusion treatment system, and (iii) 100,000 shares of Restricted Stock shall lapset upon the FDA’s formal written notice of such
approval including FDA-approved labeling language for the percutaneous hepatic perfusion treatment.

 (c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, all shares subject to the Option and Restricted Stock shall immediately vest upon (i) the Executive’s Involuntary Termination (as defined in Section 5.5) after the first
anniversary of the Effective Date or (ii) a Change of Control (as such term is defined in subsections (a)-(d) of the definition of “Change of Control” contained in the Company’s 2009 Stock Incentive
Plan).  Upon the Executive’s Involuntary Termination between the Effective Date and its first anniversary, an additional number of shares such that a total of 50% of all shares under the Minimum Annual
Stock Option Bonus, 50% of all shares subject to the Option and 50% of the Restricted Stock shall be vested as of the Severance Date (as defined in Section 5.3).

 (d) Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event the Executive’s employment is terminated by reason of the Executive’s death or Disability, the Restrictions with respect to all shares of Restricted Stock will
lapse immediately and automatically as of the date of the Executive’s death or as of the effective date of the Executive’s termination of employment by reason of his Disability.  For purposes of this
Agreement, the term “Disability” shall have the meaning set forth in the Employment Agreement dated September 30, 2009 between the Company and the Executive.

The shares of Restricted Stock with respect to which the Restrictions have lapsed shall cease to be subject to any Restrictions except as otherwise provided in the Plan.

4.           Custody of Restricted Stock.

 (a) Custody.  One or more stock certificates evidencing the shares of Restricted Stock granted hereunder shall be registered in the Executive’s name, however, such stock certificate(s) shall be delivered to and
held by the Secretary of the Company until forfeiture occurs or the Restrictions lapse with respect to such shares of Restricted Stock pursuant to the terms of the Plan and this Agreement.

 (b) Additional Securities as Restricted Stock. Any securities received as the result of ownership of shares of Restricted Stock, including without limitation, securities received as a stock dividend or stock split,
or as a result of a recapitalization or reorganization (all such securities to be considered “Restricted Stock” for all purposes under this Agreement), shall be held in custody in the same manner and subject
to the same conditions as the shares of Restricted Stock with respect to which they were issued.

 (c) Delivery to the Executive.  With respect to shares of Restricted Stock for which the Restrictions have lapsed (without forfeiture), the stock certificate(s) representing such unrestricted shares of Stock shall
be released to the Executive.  Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, the issuance or delivery of any shares of Stock (whether subject to restrictions or unrestricted) may be postponed for
such period as may be required to comply with applicable requirements of any national securities exchange or any requirements of any regulation applicable to the issuance or delivery of such Stock.  The
Company shall not be obligated to issue or deliver any shares of Stock if the issuance or delivery thereof shall constitute a violation of any provision of any law or of any regulation of any governmental
authority or any securities exchange.  The Company shall not be required to transfer on its books any shares of Stock (whether subject to restrictions or unrestricted) which shall have been sold or
transferred in violation of any of the provisions set forth in this Agreement.

 
 

 



 
5. Status of Stock.  Notwithstanding the Restrictions contained herein, and unless and until the shares of Restricted Stock are forfeited pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement, the Executive shall have all rights

of a stockholder with respect to the shares of Restricted Stock, including the right to vote such shares and to receive dividends thereon.

 
6.           Relationship to Company.

 (a) No Effect on Company’s Rights or Powers. The existence of this Restricted Stock Agreement shall not affect in any way the right or power of the Company or its stockholders to make or authorize any or
all adjustments, recapitalizations, reorganization, or other changes in the Company’s capital structure or its business, or any merger or consolidation of Company or any issue of bonds, debentures,
preferred or prior preference stock ahead of or affecting the shares of Restricted Stock or the rights thereof, or the dissolution or liquidation of the Company, or any sale or transfer of all or any part of its
assets or business, or any other corporate act or proceeding, whether of a similar character or otherwise.

 (b) No Guarantee of Service. Neither this Restricted Stock Agreement nor the shares of Restricted Stock awarded hereby shall confer upon the Executive any right with respect to continuance of employment
by the Company or any of the Company’s affiliates, nor shall this Restricted Stock Agreement or the shares of Restricted Stock awarded hereby interfere in any way with any right the Company, or its
directors or stockholders, would otherwise have to terminate the Executive’s employment at any time.

7. Agreement with Respect to Taxes.  The Executive shall be liable for any and all taxes, including withholding taxes, arising out of this Restricted Stock award or the lapse of the Restrictions hereunder.  The
Executive agrees that if he does not pay, or make arrangements for the payment of, such amounts, the Company, to the fullest extent permitted by law, rule or regulation shall have the right to deduct such amounts
from any payments of any kind otherwise due to the Executive (including from the Executive’s compensation) and that the Company shall have the right to withhold shares of Restricted Stock for which the
Restrictions have lapsed such number of unrestricted shares of Stock having an aggregate market value at the time equal to the amount the Executive owes.

8. Committee’s Powers.  No provision contained in this Agreement shall in any way terminate, modify or alter, or be construed or interpreted as terminating, modifying or altering any of the powers, rights or
authority vested in the Committee pursuant to the terms of the Plan, including, without limitation, the Committee’s rights to make certain determinations and elections with respect to the shares of Restricted Stock
granted hereby.

9. Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of any successors and assigns of the Company and all persons lawfully claiming under the Executive.

10. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts each of which shall be deemed an original but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Delivery of a party’s
signature hereto by facsimile or PDF shall bind the parties hereto.

11. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Delaware, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of law provision or rule (whether
of the State of Delaware or any other jurisdiction) that would cause the laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of Delaware to be applied.

12. Severability.  The provisions of this Agreement are severable and if any one or more provisions are determined to be illegal or otherwise unenforceable, in whole or in part, the remaining provisions shall
nevertheless be binding and enforceable.

 
 



 
13. Acceptance of Terms and Conditions.  This Restricted Stock award will not be effective until the Executive has acknowledged and agreed to the terms and conditions set forth herein by executing this Agreement in

the space provided below and returning the same to the Company.

Awarded subject to the terms and conditions stated above:

DELCATH SYSTEMS, INC.  Accepted under the terms and conditions stated above:
By:/s/Eamonn P. Hobbs  By:/s/Krishna Kandarpa
Eamonn P. Hobbs, President  Krishna Kandarpa, MD, Ph.D.
And Chief Executive Officer   



Exhibit 23
 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (Nos. 333-114600, 333-121681, 333-127629, 333-130872, 333-143280, 333-159857, 333-159913) and the Registration
Statements on Form S-8 (No. 333-119898 and 333-160790) of Delcath Systems, Inc. of our report dated February 24, 2010, relating to the financial statements and the financial statement schedule which appear in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
 
/s/ CCR LLP
Glastonbury, Connecticut
 
 

 



 



    EXHIBIT 31.1
Certification

of Principal Executive Officer
Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act

I, Eamonn P. Hobbs, certify that:
 
 1) I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Delcath Systems, Inc;
 
 2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under

which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
 3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows

of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
 4) The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and

internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 
 (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the

registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 
 (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 
 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of

the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
 (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in

the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
 
 5) The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the

registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to

record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
 
DATE  /s/ Eamonn P. Hobbs
February 26, 2010  Eamonn P. Hobbs
  President and Chief Executive Officer
  (Principal Executive Officer)

 
 

 



 



EXHIBIT 31.2

Certification
of Principal Financial Officer

Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Exchange Act

I, David A. McDonald, certify that: 
 1) I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Delcath Systems, Inc;
 
 2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under

which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
 3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows

of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
 4) The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and

internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 
 (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the

registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 
 (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 
 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of

the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
 (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in

the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
 
 5) The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the

registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to

record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
 
DATE /s/ David A. McDonald
February 26, 2010 David A. McDonald
 Chief Financial Officer
 (Principal Financial Officer)

 
 



 



EXHIBIT 32.1

Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes –Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of DELCATH SYSTEMS, INC. (the “Company”) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof
(the “Report”), I, Eamonn P. Hobbs, the Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my
knowledge:
 

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
DATE /s/ Eamonn P. Hobbs
February 26, 2010 Eamonn P. Hobbs
 President and Chief Executive Officer
 (Principal Executive Officer)

 
 
 



 



EXHIBIT 32.2

Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes –Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of DELCATH SYSTEMS, INC. (the “Company”) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof
(the “Report”), I, David A. McDonald, the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:
 

(1) The “Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
DATE /s/ David A. McDonald
February 26, 2010 David A. McDonald
 Chief Financial Officer
 (Principal Financial Officer)

 


